Design and Therapeutic Application of Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors

Mark Whittaker,* Christopher D. Floyd, Peter Brown, and Andrew J. H. Gearing

Departments of Medicinal Chemistry, Biology, and Clinical Research, British Biotech Pharmaceuticals Limited, Oxford, U.K.

Contents

Ι.	Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs)	2735
II.	MMP Substrate Selectivity	2738
III.	MMP Structural Studies	2740
IV.	Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors	2742
	A. Succinyl Hydroxamates	2752
	1. Succinyl Hydroxamates with a P2' Amino Acid Residue	2752
	B. Non-Peptidic Succinyl Hydroxamates	2756
	C. Sulfonamide Hydroxamates and Related Structures	2756
	D. Non-Hydroxamates	2757
	1. Carboxylic Acids and <i>N</i> -Carboxyalkyl ZBGs	2757
	2. Thiol ZBGs	2759
	3. Phosphorus-Based ZBG	2761
	4. Novel Zinc Binding Groups	2761
	E. Miscellaneous Natural Products	2762
V.	Combinatorial Synthesis of MMP Inhibitors	2763
VI.	Pharmacological Effects in Disease Models	2766
	A. Cancer	2766
	B. Inflammation	2767
	1. Arthritis	2767
	2. Restenosis	2767
	3. Aortic Aneurysm	2767
	4. Glomerulonephritis	2767
	5. Multiple Sclerosis	2768
	6. Guillain Barré Syndrome	2768
	7. Stroke	2768
	8. Bacterial Meningitis	2768
	9. Uveoretinitis	2768
	10. Graft-Versus-Host Disease	2768
	11. Noninsulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus	2768
VII.	Clinical Development of MMP Inhibitors	2768
VIII.	Conclusion	2770
IX.	Acknowledgments	2770
Х.	References	2771

I. Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs)

۱

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), also called matrixins, are a family of structurally related zinccontaining enzymes that mediate the breakdown of connective tissue and are therefore targets for therapeutic inhibitors in many inflammatory, malignant, and degenerative diseases.^{1–3} Long before the individual enzymes were isolated and characterized, researchers had been interested in the activity of Received April 26, 1999 (Revised Manuscript Received June 22, 1999)

tissue remodeling, both in physiological and disease processes. One of the earliest descriptions of MMPs in 1949 was as depolymerizing enzymes which, it was proposed, could facilitate tumor growth by making connective tissue stroma, including that of small blood vessels, more fluid.⁴ Some 13 years later, the first vertebrate MMP, collagenase, was isolated and characterized as the enzyme responsible for the resorption of tadpole tails.⁵ During the next 20 years, several mammalian enzymes were partially purified, but it was not until 1985 that the field really developed when structural homologies became apparent, allowing many new members to be identified through the techniques of molecular biology.

The mammalian MMP family is now known to include at least 20 enzymes (Table 1). Three collagenases have been identified, interstitial collagenase (MMP-1), neutrophil collagenase (MMP-8), and collagenase-3 (MMP-13). These enzymes can degrade the fibrillar collagens, which are generally resistant to proteolysis, making a characteristic 3/4 length break in the α -chain.^{6,7} There are two type IV collagenases,^{8,9} now termed gelatinase A (MMP-2) and gelatinase B (MMP-9), which, as described by Liotta and colleagues,¹⁰ can degrade type IV collagen of basal laminae as well as other nonhelical collagen domains and proteins such as fibronectin and laminin. The gelatinases have also been shown to degrade native insoluble elastin.¹¹ Three enzymes have been classified as stromelysins, although only stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) and stromelysin-2 (MMP-10) are closely related functionally, degrading various proteoglycan components of the extracellular matrix as well as fibronectin and laminin.^{12,13} Stromelvsin-3 (MMP-11) was identified in the tissue surrounding invasive breast carcinoma.¹⁴ Its preferred substrate remains a matter of debate, but it has continued to be of interest due to its apparent induction in malignant tissue.^{15,16} It does not appear to be particularly active in degrading known extracellular matrix proteins, but it is effective in degrading the serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) α -1 antitrypsin and in doing so may potentiate the action of serine proteinases such as urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA).¹⁷ This serpinase activity is also displayed by other MMPs and supports the hypothesis that the metallo- and serine proteinase families can function in overlapping cascades of inhibition and activation.

Two enzymes have been identified which, on the basis of sequence homology, do not belong in the



Mark Whittaker was born in Cambridge (U.K.) in 1958. He received his DPhil in chemistry from the University of York in 1982, where he worked in the laboratory of Barry Thomas and John Lindsay Smith. He undertook postdoctoral studies first in 1982 in the laboratory of Clifford Leznoff at York University (Toronto, Canada) and second in 1985 in the laboratory of Steve Davies at the Dyson Perrins Laboratory (Oxford, U.K.). In 1987 he joined British Biotech, initially working on a platelet-activating factor antagonist medicinal chemistry program. He is currently Director of Medicinal Chemistry, and his research focus is on the medicinal and combinatorial chemistry of metalloenzyme inhibition.



Chris Floyd was born in Shropshire in 1952 and grew up in various locations around the globe while his father was serving in the Royal Air Force. After graduating from Cambridge University, he remained there to complete his Ph.D. in 1977 on aspects of organosilicon chemistry under the supervision of Dr. Ian Fleming. After postdoctoral work with Professor Robert Haszeldine at UMIST, he joined the medicinal chemistry group at G. D. Searle and Company in High Wycombe. He joined British Biotech on its founding in 1986 and after establishing combinatorial methods within the company is currently Consultant Scientist to the Medicinal Chemistry Department.

three subgroups described above. These are matrilysin (MMP-7, formerly known as PUMP)¹⁸ and macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12).¹⁹ Matrilysin is a truncated proteinase which can degrade nonfibrillar collagen, fibronectin, and laminin. Metalloelastase is a relatively nonspecific enzyme capable of degrading many substrates including elastin.²⁰ Recently, the MMP family has grown by the addition of a new subgroup, the membrane-type or MT-MMPs. Currently four members have been identified (MMP-14 to MMP-17).^{21–24} These proteinases have a C-terminal transmembrane domain that allows them to be anchored in the cell membrane. The substrates for most of these enzymes have yet to be established; however, MT1-MMP and MT3-MMP (MMP-14, MMP-16) appear to be specific activators of latent gelatinase Å^{23,25} and MT1-MMP has been shown to degrade



Peter Brown was born in Dorking (U.K.) in 1959. He received his DPhil in Biochemistry from Oxford in 1984. Before joining British Biotech in 1991, he was a research fellow in the Laboratory of Pathology at the National Cancer Institute in the United States. It was during this time that he developed an interest in the role of matrix metalloproteinases in cancer and the possible therapeutic application of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. At British Biotech, he has been involved in both the research and clinical development of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors.



Andrew Gearing was born in Derbyshire (U.K.) in 1957. He received his PhD in Immunobiology from the University of Aston in 1983. He spent 6 years at the National Institute of Biological Standards and Control studying inflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines, joining British Biotech in 1989 to run the Immunology group. He has been particularly involved in investigating the role of MMPs in inflammatory disease and their interactions with the cytokine network. He is currently Head of Research Strategy.

a variety of matrix molecules including collagen.²⁶ More recently, MMP-19 (also known as RASI-1), an enzyme with some homology to the stromelysins,^{27,28} enamelysin (MMP-20),²⁹ two genomic sequences on chromosome 1 (MMP-21 and MMP-22),³⁰ and a short MMP cloned from an ovary cDNA library (MMP-23)³¹ have been added to the family, and it is likely that other members will be discovered in the next few years.

Another recent development is the finding that some MMP inhibitors can inhibit the cleavage of the membrane-bound precursor form of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) as well as the shedding of various other cytokines, growth factors, and receptors.^{32–34} Several members of the MMP family show some activity in this form of cytokine processing, and a novel metalloproteinase disintegrin (TNF convertase or TACE; ADAM-17), distinct from the MMP family, that processes precursor TNF- α has recently been cloned.^{35,36} The physiological and pathological rel-

Table 1. Matrix Metalloproteinase Enzymes and Their Substrates

MMP No.	enzyme	principle substrate(s) ^a
MMP-1	Fibroblast collagenase	fibrillar and nonfibrillar collagens (types I, II, III, VI, X), gelatins
MMP-2	72 kDa gelatinase (gelatinase A)	basement membrane and nonfibrillar collagens (types IV, V, VII, X), fibronectin, elastin
MMP-3	Stromelysin-1	proteoglycan, laminin, fibronectin, collagen (types III, IV, V, IX), gelatins, pro-MMP-1
MMP-7	Matrilysin (PUMP)	fibronectin, gelatins, proteoglycan, pro-MMP-1
MMP-8	Neutrophil collagenase	fibrillar collagens (types I, II, III)
MMP-9	92 kDa gelatinase (gelatinase B)	basement membrane collagens (types IV, V), gelatins
MMP-10	Stromelysin-2	fibronectin, collagen (types III, IV), gelatins, pro-MMP-1
MMP-11	Stromelysin-3	serpin
MMP-12	Metalloelastase	elastin
MMP-13	Collagenase-3	fibrillar collagens (types I, II, III), gelatins
MMP-14	Membrane-type 1 (MT1-MMP)	pro-72 kDa gelatinase
MMP-15	Membrane-type 2 (MT2-MMP)	to be determined
MMP-16	Membrane-type 3 (MT3-MMP)	pro-72 kDa gelatinase
MMP-17	Membrane-type 4 (MT4-MMP)	to be determined
MMP-18	Collagenase-4 (xenopus MMP)	to be determined
MMP-19	Novel MMP (RASI 1)	gelatin
MMP-20	Enamelysin	amelogenin (dentine), gelatin
MMP-21	MMP identified on chromosome 1	to be determined
MMP-22	MMP identified on chromosome 1	to be determined
MMP-23	From human ovary cDNA	to be determined

^{*a*} The principal substrates listed are only helpful as a guide; in practice the substrate specificity shown in vitro is broad with considerable overlap between MMPs.



* The catalytic domain of MMP-2 and MMP-9 incorporates three repeats of a fibronectin type-II-like domain which is also referred to as the gelatin binding domain.

Figure 1. Schematic representation of the general domain topology of selected MMPs.

evance of this activity remains to be determined. MMP inhibitors have also been shown to inhibit soluble CD23 production³⁷⁻⁴⁰ and transforming growth factor α (TGF- α) production.⁴¹ CD23 is a low-affinity IgE receptor that is expressed on the surface of mature cells. Production of soluble CD23 is associated with autoimmune disease and allergy. Both the membrane-bound protein and the soluble fragments have been implicated in the regulation of IgE production; the former through negative feedback inhibition of B-cells and the latter through cytokine-like activities. TGF- α has been implicated as a causative factor in angiogenic and fibrotic disease states. The relative contributions of MMPs and disintegrin metalloproteinases to the shedding of cell surface molecules is not clear and is the subject of intense study.

The domain structures of the MMP family members are illustrated schematically in Figure 1. The catalytic domain of the MMPs contains two zinc atoms. One of these atoms plays a catalytic role and the other a structural role. The catalytic zinc atom coordinates with three histidine residues contained within the conserved -VAAHEXGHXXGXXH- sequence of the catalytic domain. A second conserved sequence -PRCGXPD- is found in the propeptide amino-terminal domain. The thiol group of the cysteine residue within the propeptide coordinates to the catalytic zinc atom and thereby confers latency. This interaction must be broken by proteolytic cleavage of the amino-terminal domain, or conformational modification, before the metalloproteinase can degrade matrix proteins. The activation step can be initiated by several possible mechanisms involving either an enzymatic activation cascade (e.g., by the action of plasmin) and/or cell surface regulation (e.g., by the action of MMP-14 (MT1-MMP)). In the case of MMP-11 (stromelysin-3) and MMP-14, the presence of a furin-processing motif (Arg–Xaa–Lys–Arg) suggests that these enzymes can be activated intracellularly in the Golgi vesicles.^{15,21} With the exception of MMP-7 and MMP-23, all of the human MMPs contain a conserved carboxy-terminal domain which shows homology to hemopexin (Figure 1).³ This domain appears to be important in substrate binding and in interactions with the natural tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs).⁴² In addition, the two gelatinases contain a gelatin-binding domain, with three fibronectin type II-like repeats, which also appears to play a role in substrate binding.⁴³

Once activated, MMPs are subject to inhibition by endogenous proteinase inhibitors such as α2-macroglobulin and more importantly the family of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases, TIMPs 1-4.44-47 These negative regulatory controls are clearly important for a family of enzymes with such destructive potential. Finely regulated MMP activity is associated with processes of ovulation,⁴⁸ trophoblast invasion,⁴⁹ skeletal⁵⁰ and appendageal development,⁵¹ and mammary gland involution.⁵² However, it appears that these controls do not always operate as they should, and there is now a substantial body of observational and experimental data which indicates that inappropriate expression of MMP activity constitutes part of the pathogenic mechanism in several diseases. These include the destruction of cartilage and bone in rheumatoid and osteoarthritis,^{1,53} tissue breakdown and remodeling during invasive tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis,⁵⁴ degradation of myelin-basic protein in neuroinflammatory diseases, 55,56 opening of the blood-brain barrier following brain injury,⁵⁷ increased matrix turnover in restenotic lesions,⁵⁸ loss of aortic wall strength in aneuryms,⁵⁹ tissue degradation in gastric ulceration,⁶⁰ and breakdown of connective tissue in peridontal disease.⁶¹ As the role of MMPs in disease has become better understood, interest in the control of their activity has increased. This has led to considerable effort, largely on the part of the pharmaceutical industry, in the development of MMP inhibitors. This review describes progress in the design of MMP inhibitors and outlines the results of early clinical trials.

II. MMP Substrate Selectivity

The amino acid sequence around the collagenase cleavage site (glycine~isoleucine or glycine~leucine) in collagen has been taken as the initial guide for the substrate-based design approach for synthetic MMP inhibitors. As discussed above, the various MMPs exhibit different selectivities for the various matrix proteins. There has been considerable interest in understanding such substrate selectivity not only to identify optimized peptide substrates for assay development but also as an aid to the design of selective MMP inhibitors. Initial studies focused on determining the sequence about the cleavage site in protein substrates for individual enzymes.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ More detailed information on the relative substrate selectivity has come from cleavage studies of short

peptides.^{65–74} In studies by Van Wart and co-workers, the comparative cleavage rates for a series of fluorescent octapeptide substrates were determined for a variety of MMPs (MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-7, MMP-8, and MMP-9).^{65,66} The data from this work is summarized in Figure 2 for changes in the amino acids at the P3–P3' positions. Stein and co-workers conducted a separate, less extensive, study examining substrate cleavage rates for MMP-3.68 This group provided a comparison of their results with those of Van Wart, and these have also been included in Figure 2. A possible limitation is that the effect of changing an amino acid at a particular position was studied while the remainder were kept constant, since it does not allow for synergistic effects between substitutions at different positions. Navre and coworkers used a different technique of bacteriophage peptide display libraries in which the amino acids at all positions were varied simultaneously.⁶⁹ It is also worth noting that the selection of peptides in the earlier independent sites studies were based on knowledge of the known MMP substrates whereas there was no such bias in this combinatorial study. However, the Navre group studied the selectivity for cleavage by only two MMP enzymes (MMP-3 and MMP-7) and then prepared a series of optimized synthetic peptide substrates based on the phage clones.⁶⁹ A few general conclusions may be made on the basis of these three studies concerning substrate selectivity. In most cases, variation of substitution provides a gradation of selectivity and there are very few substitutions that provide significant differential selectivity between the enzymes. In all studies the preferred amino acid at P3 is proline for all of the enzymes examined. From the substrate specificity studies, Arg is preferred at P2 for MMP-2 selectivity and Met appears to be good for MMP-7. The cleavage of peptide substrates prepared on the basis of phage display results indicate that Phe is preferred over Leu and Met at P2 for MMP-3 whereas Leu and Met are preferred for MMP-7.69 For all enzymes, P1 Val results in negligible cleavage. At the P1 position, Glu provides significant cleavage by MMP-7 and MMP-8 and negligible by MMP-1, MMP-2, and MMP-9. At P1', the presence of a Tyr residue results in highly selective cleavage by MMP-8. From the same studies Leu and Met appear to be preferred for broadspectrum cleavage; however, in contrast, the phage display results suggest that Met at P1' gives minimal cleavage with MMP-7. Furthermore, the substrate specificity studies suggest that P1' Phe is preferred for cleavage by MMP-3 over the other enzymes whereas the phage display results indicate that P1' Phe provides negligible cleavage. At P2', all studies suggest that there is little to be gained in selectivity terms by the various substitutions at this position and that generally Trp is preferred for efficient cleavage. The same is true for amino acid changes at P3' although there appears to be conflicting data from the substrate and phage studies; the former suggests a strong preference for P3' Met for selective cleavage by MMP-7,66 whereas the latter indicates that Met at P3' results in poor cleavage by MMP-7.69







P2'

MMP-2

400 300. 200







P3'

Figure 2. Comparative substrate specificities for amino acid substitutions at P3–P3' Note: *Z*-axes are % activity (k_c/K_m relative to k_c/K_m for the reference peptide), *X*-axes are amino acid identities, and *Y*-axes are MMP identities. Data for MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-7, MMP-8, and MMP-9 is from refs 65 and 66, and data for MMP-3 is from ref 68. The data set for MMP-3 is less extensive. No data is available at P3 for MMP-2 (Leu), MMP-7 (Ala and Leu), MMP-8 (Leu), MMP-9 (Leu), at P2 for MMP-3 (Arg, Asp, Hyp, Met, Tyr, Val), at P1 for MMP-3 (Glu, Pro, Met, Tyr, Val), MMP-7 (His), at P1' for MMP-3 (Arg, Gln, Ile, Ser, Trp, Tyr), at P2' for MMP-3 (Ala, Arg, Glu, Hyp, Phe), and at P3' for MMP-3 (Arg, Met, Ser, Val).

Combinatorial peptide synthesis has been employed in studies of synthetic MMP substrates that feature unnatural amino acids.^{70–74} McGeehan and co-workers identified Dnp–Pro–Cha–Abu~Smc–His–Ala–D-Arg–NH₂ (where Dnp is 2,4-dinitrophenyl, Cha is cyclohexylalanine, Abu is α -aminobutyric acid, and Smc is *S*-methylcysteine) as an optimal substrate for MMP-1.^{70,71} Singh and co-workers studied the cleavage by MMP-1 and MMP-3 of controlled-

pore glass-bound combinatorial peptide libraries.^{72,73} Using a genetic algorithm-directed optimization procedure, COP–Ala–Gly–Pro–Ser–Thr~Ser(Bn)– Thr–(Acp)₅– β Ala–AMP–CPG (where COP is 7-hydroxycoumarin-4-propanoyl, Ser(Bn) is *O*-benzylserine, Acp is 6-aminocaproyl, AMP is 3-aminopropyl, and CPG is controlled-pore glass) was identified as a particularly good substrate for MMP-3.⁷³ In addition to Ser(Bn), a range of other extended P1' substituents resulted in substrates that were effectively processed by MMP-3.⁷³ In a separate study, Dive and coworkers have shown that MMP-11 and MMP-14 cleave substrates containing in their P1' position unusual amino acids with extremely long side chains more efficiently than the corresponding substrates with natural phenylalanine or leucine amino acids.⁷⁴

Selective replacement of the catalytic zinc of MMP-3 catalytic domain with other transition metals (e.g., Co²⁺, Mn²⁺, Cd²⁺, and Ni²⁺) results in retention of protease activity.⁷⁵ However, it was found that substitution of the catalytic metal influences the substrate specificity of the enzyme.⁷⁵ Presumably, the differences in coordination properties of the different metal ions alter active-site geometry and hence affect substrate binding.

III. MMP Structural Studies

Considerable insight into MMP ligand interactions has been obtained from studies of enzyme substrate specificity. However, the advent of high-resolution X-ray and NMR structures has provided new paradigms for the design of MMP inhibitors in general and selective MMP inhibitors in particular.⁷⁶ The first report of the structure of a matrix metalloproteinase (the catalytic domain of MMP-1) inhibitor complex by Lovejoy and co-workers77 has been followed by further structures for truncated MMP-178-80 and structures for inhibitor complexes of the catalytic domains of MMP-8,81-84 MMP-3,85-89 MMP-7,90 and MMP-13.⁹¹ A recent report describes the structure of the full-length proform of MMP-2 in which the catalytic glutamic acid (Glu-404; MMP-2 numbering) was mutated to alanine to ensure stability against autoproteolysis during crystallization.⁹² The catalytic domain in these structures all possess a similar overall spherical topology characterized by a twisted fivestranded β -sheet, containing four parallel strands and one antiparallel strand and three long α -helices. Notably, the catalytic domain of proMMP-2 is unaffected by the insertion of the fibronectin domains.⁹² The conserved active-site sequence motif HEXX-HXXGXXH coordinates the catalytic zinc(II) ion and contains the glutamic acid residue which facilitates catalysis. The substrate binding groove which is relatively open at S3-S1 and S3' narrows at S1' and S2' with the S1' site being a well-defined pocket that penetrates the surface of the enzyme. The studies also indicate the presence of a second "structural" zinc(II) ion and two or three calcium(II) ions. Clearly difficulties have been experienced in obtaining recombinant full-length enzymes suitable for structural determination. An exception is MMP-7, one of the smallest members of the MMP family which does not possess a C-terminal domain, whose inhibitor-complexes possess broadly similar structures to that of the catalytic domains of MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8.⁹⁰ There may be subtle structural differences between the truncated forms of the MMPs and the mature full-length enzymes in relation to the role of the second "structural" zinc(II) ion. To overcome problems of autoproteolysis when attempting to crystallize full-length active HFC (domains II and III),

mutation of two amino acids which chelate the "structural" zinc(II) ion was found to result in a loss of catalytic activity.⁹³ However, while analysis of the zinc contents of truncated forms of prostromelysin-1 and progelatinase-A indicates the presence of two zinc-(II) ions, only one zinc(II) ion is detected in the corresponding full-length enzymes, and it has been suggested that the C-terminal domain performs the role proposed for the "structural" zinc(II) ion in maintaining the structure of the enzyme catalytic domain.⁹⁴ However, a recent structure of full-length porcine synovial collagenase (MMP-1), which includes the haemopexin-like domain III, reveals the presence of both "catalytic" and "structural" zinc(II) ions in the crystalline form.⁹⁵ Both zinc(II) ions are observed in the structure of proMMP-2.92 A recent analysis of the binding motifs within MMPs for the structural zinc and calcium ions reveals that there are at least four different motifs for structural zinc binding but that the calcium binding motif is more strictly conserved.⁹⁶ These motifs are absent in other members of the metzincin family of enzymes and may be involved in macromolecular substrate recognition.97 The haemopexin C-terminal domain which is present in all the MMPs except for MMP-7 and MMP-23 appears to regulate enzyme activity. For MMP-1, it is suggested that the haemopexin domain plays a role in unravelling the scissile strand from the triple helix of collagen since truncated forms of MMP-1 lacking the haemopexin domain, although still capable of degrading gelatin and casein, are unable to cleave triple-helical collagen.⁹⁸ The porcine synovial MMP-1 haemopexin domain possesses a calcium-linked four-bladed β -propellor structure⁹⁵ in common with the haemopexinlike C-terminal domain of MMP-292,99,100 and MMP-13.101 The activation of the MMPs involves the removal of a propeptide portion which features an unpaired cysteine residue that chelates the catalytic zinc(II) ion.^{87,92} X-ray crystal structures of the complex between MMP-3 catalytic domain and TIMP-142 and MMP-14 catalytic domain and TIMP-2¹⁰² also reveals ligation of the catalytic zinc(II) ion by the thiol of a cysteine residue. The proMMP-2 structure reveals interactions between the propeptide and the third fibronectin domain.⁹² These interactions may mimic the binding of gelatin to the fibronectin domains and could possibly be exploited in the design of specific inhibitors.92

The reaction mechanism for proteolysis by MMPs¹⁰³ has been rationalized on the basis of structural information (Figure 3).79 It is proposed that the scissile amide carbonyl coordinates to the active-site zinc(II) ion. This carbonyl is attacked by a water molecule that is both hydrogen bonded to a conserved glutamic acid (Glu-198 in MMP-8) and coordinated to the zinc(II) ion. The water donates a proton to the Glu residue which transfers it to the nitrogen of the scissile amide. This is followed by the Glu residue shuttling the remaining proton from the water molecule to the nitrogen of the scissile amide with resultant peptide bond cleavage. During this process the positively charged zinc(II) ion helps to stabilize negative charge at the carbon of the scissile amide and a conserved alanine (Ala-161 in MMP-8) residue



Figure 3. Reaction mechanism for proteolysis by MMPs after Lovejoy et al.⁷⁹



Figure 4. Schematic representation of MMP active-site after Grams et al.⁸³ Numbering follows that for MMP-8.

residue no. ^a	MMP-1	MMP-2	MMP-3	MMP-7	MMP-8	MMP-9	MMP-10	MMP-11	MMP-12	MMP-13	MMP-14
151	Ser	Tyr	Tyr	Tyr	Ser	Tyr	Tyr	Leu	His	Tyr	Thr
157	Gly	Asp	Ğly	Ğly	Asn	Asp	Ğly	Gly	Gly	Ser	Gly
158	Gly	Glŷ	Asn	Asn	Gly	Glŷ	His	Gly	Gly	Gly	Gľy
159	Asn	Leu	Val	Thr	lle	Leu	Ser	lle	lle	Leu	Phe
165	Gln	Ala	Ala	Ala	Gln	Pro	Pro	Phe	Gly	Pro	Phe
188	Glu	Gly	Gly	Gly	Asn	Gly	Gly	Gly	Gly	Gly	Gly
189	Tyr	Tyr	Thr	Ile	Tyr	Tyr	Thr	Thr	Thr	Tyr	Asn
193	Årg	Leu	Leu	Tyr	Leu	Leu	Leu	Gln	Leu	Leu	Leu
194	Vaľ	Val	Val	Aľa	Val	Val	Val	Val	Thr	Val	Val
218	Ser	lle	Leu	Thr	Asn	Met	Leu	Phe	Thr	lle	Phe
220	Thr	Thr	His	Gly	Ala	Arg	Asn	Thr	Lys	Thr	Gln
222	Ser	The	Leu	Gly	Arg	Thr	Phe	Arg	Val	Thr	Met
^a Numbering follows that for MMP-8.											

Table 2. Selected Variable Residues in the Active Site of MMPs

helps to stabilize positive charge at the nitrogen of the scissile amide. 79

Comparison of the structures of the various MMP inhibitor complexes reveals valuable information on the differences in the active sites of the MMPs studied and on the binding modes of inhibitors.⁷⁶ A schematic representation of a hexapeptide substrate bound into an MMP active site is given in Figure 4, and the variable residues in the active-site region are given in Table 2 for selected MMPs. The S3–S1 subsites form a shallow region bordered on one side by the β -strand IV and which features a hydrophobic proline binding cleft at S3. Proline is a preferred P3 group in MMP substrates, and the structure of the left-hand side inhibitor Pro–Leu–Gly–NHOH li-

gated to the catalytic domain of MMP-8^{81,83} illustrates the tight complementarity in proline binding at S3. This inhibitor binds antiparallel to the β -strand IV by two backbone hydrogen bond interactions (via NH of P3–P2 amide and carbonyl of P2–P1 amide) with the P2 leucine residing in a shallow cleft and the carbonyl of the P3–P2 amide and NH of the P2–P1 amide exposed to solvent.^{81,83} Differences between the various MMPs in the S3–S1 region are relatively subtle. However, substantial differences in enzyme selectivity have been reported for thiadiazolyl MMP inhibitors, which have been observed from structural studies to bind to the unprimed enzyme subsites.^{104,105} A significant interaction between the MMPs and their substrates or inhibitors occurs between the S1'

subsite and the P1' residue. There is variation between the MMPs in the amino acid residues that form the S1' pocket (Table 2). It is apparent that inhibitors can be obtained which exhibit degrees of enzyme selectivity for the known MMPs, and there has been considerable debate concerning the possible therapeutic advantages of selective inhibition (vide infra). From X-ray crystallographic analysis and homology modeling the MMPs may be classified as falling into two broad structural classes dependent on the depth of the S1' pocket. This "selectivity pocket" is relatively deep for the majority of the enzymes (e.g., MMP-2, MMP-9, MMP-3, MMP-8, MMP-13, etc.), but for certain enzymes (e.g., MMP-1, MMP-7, and MMP-11) it is partially or completely occluded due to an increase in the size of the side chain of the amino acid at position 193 (MMP-8 numbering) from leucine to arginine (MMP-1), tyrosine (MMP-7), glutamine (MMP-11), or one of the amino acid residues that forms the pocket. The Van Wart group has shown that mutation of the S1' subsite tyrosine of MMP-7 to leucine changes the substrate specificity to be more like that of the deep pocket enzyme MMP-3.¹⁰⁶ The main type of selectivity that has been obtained is for inhibition of the deep pocket enzymes over the short pocket enzymes, and this is achieved by the incorporation of an extended P1' group (e.g., biphenyl), whereas, generally speaking, the presence of smaller P1' groups lead to broadspectrum inhibition. However, there are exceptions to this rule. While finer degrees of enzyme selectivity have been reported (e.g., inhibition of MMP-2 over MMP- 3^{107}), the origin of such selectivity is not so readily explained. A recent report of homology models for MMP-2 and MMP-9 based on the structure of MMP-3 suggests that there may be differences in the shape of the bottom of the S1' subsite for the deep pocket enzymes.¹⁰⁸ In the case of MMP-2, the S1' pocket may be a channel with no bottom, whereas that for MMP-9 is said to be a pocket-like subsite. Unfortunately, no comment is made on the S1' pocket shape in the report on the structure of proMMP-2.92 The S2' subsite is a solvent-exposed cleft with a general preference for hydrophobic P2' residues in both substrates and inhibitors. The S3' subsite is a relatively ill-defined solvent exposed region. While there are some variations in residues for this subsite for the various MMPs, the introduction of different P3' substituents in general tends to have only a modest effect on inhibitor selectivity. This is in contrast to the effects of P3' substituents on the inhibition of the TNF- α converting enzyme (TACE). Recently, an X-ray crystal structure has been reported for TACE.¹⁰⁹ This reveals that the active site of TACE shares properties with the MMPs but exhibits differences, particularly in the S3' subsite which is a deep pocket that merges with the S1' specificity pocket within the core for the protein.

Pseudopeptide inhibitors that bind to the primed subsites (e.g., batimastat BB-94 (1)⁸⁴) tend to do so in an extended manner forming hydrogen bonds with the protein backbone. The hydrogen bond between the carbonyl oxygen of Pro-217 (MMP-8 numbering) and the P2' N-H is seen to lengthen to >3.3 Å in

certain structures, suggesting that it may be a weaker interaction.⁷⁶ An NMR structural study of MMP-1 catalytic domain suggests that substantial structural changes occur in the active-site cleft on the binding of an inhibitor.¹¹⁰ Conformational changes have also been observed in the active site between X-ray structures of MMP-3 catalytic domain with different inhibitors bound.¹¹¹ Thus, caution needs to be employed when using structural information in a predictive manner in the design of MMP inhibitors. Detailed aspects of MMP enzyme—inhibitor interactions have been previously reviewed in this journal,⁷⁶ and in the present article only selected aspects of MMP structural information are discussed that illustrate aspects of inhibitor design and SAR.

IV. Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors

Both small molecules (synthetic and natural products) and macromolecular endogenous inhibitors such as TIMP-1⁴⁴ and TIMP-2⁴⁵ have been considered as potential therapies for diseases in which excess MMP activity has been implicated. Various research groups including those at Celltech, Rhone-Poulenc, and Molecular Oncology have attempted large-scale production of TIMPs with a view to therapeutic trials. However, technical difficulties with the production and use of these proteins have so far prevented their development, and the work described in this review focuses solely on the design and testing of small molecule inhibitors.

The principal approach taken for the identification of synthetic MMP inhibitors is the substrate-based design of peptide derivatives derived from information of the sequence about the cleavage site. The screening of natural products has generally not resulted in the discovery of potent compounds, and the most active natural products are structurally similar to certain of the peptide derivatives obtained by the substrate-based design. Recently, non-peptidebased inhibitors have been identified. This has, in part, been aided by the advent of detailed structural information of MMP-inhibitor complexes which is enabling rational inhibitor design. Medicinal chemists working in the MMP field have had to face two difficult questions: (i) should they make selective or broad-spectrum inhibitors? and (ii) how can they make these compounds orally active? This section reviews recent advances in the medicinal chemistry of MMP inhibitors dealing in turn with the various approaches to inhibitor design and the issues that chemists working in this field are facing.

The distinction between compounds designed by the substrate-based approach and those designed by the structure-based approach is often rather artificial. This is because for the most part the few examples of MMP inhibitors that have been reported to date as being discovered by the process of structurebased design are analogues of compounds obtained by the substrate-based approach. However, there are now a number of non-peptidyl compounds which, although not necessarily designed de novo, have been optimized on the basis of direct or indirect MMP structural information.



HO

HO

HO

NHMe

4 nM





18





R-94138 (27) IC50 MMP-2 38 nM











IC₅₀ MMP-1 > 10 000 nM sCD23 production 130 nM

34



K_i stromelysin-1 1.5 nM



33 IC₅₀ MMP-1 100 nM MMP-2 0.07 nM MMP-3 3 nM MMP-7 700 nM MMP-8 4 nM MMP-9 1 nM



35 IC₅₀ MMP-1 150 nM



36 IC₅₀ MMP-1 5 nM MMP-2 1 nM

MMP-3 15 nM MMP-9 1 nM Cellular TACE 1000 nM



GM6001 (39)

Ki	MMP-1	0.4 nM
	MMP-2	0.39 nM
	MMP-3	26 nM
	MMP-8	0.18 nM
	MMP-9	0.57 nM



KB-R7785 (42)

IC	MMP-1	3 nM
• • 50	MMP-2	7.5 nM
	MMP-3	1.9 nM
	MMP-9	3.9 nM
	MMP-14	56 nM

Ki MMP-1 1.3 nM MMP-2 1.1 nM MMP-3 187 nM



Ro 31-9790 (40)

MMP-1	10 nM
 MMP-2	8 nM
MMP-3	700 nM
MMP-14	1.9 nM



38

K_i MMP-1 770 nM MMP-2 620 nM MMP-3 4100 nM MMP-9 620 nM



CT1746 (41)

K	MMP-1	122 nM
•	MMP-2	0.04nM
	MMP-3	10.9 nM
	MMP-7	136 nM
	MMP-9	0.17 nM

CI



MMP-3 148 nM MMP-8 1.9 nM

MMP-1

MMP-2 MMP-3

MMP-9

K

33 nM

20 nM 43 nM 8 nM





X = H Y = O H IC₅₀

105

MMP-1

MMP-3 9 nM MMP-9 0.14 nM

5 nM



IC₅₀ MMP-1 15 nM MMP-3 16 nM MMP-9 0.3 nM





The requirement for a molecule to be an effective inhibitor of the MMP class of enzymes is a functional group (e.g., carboxylic acid, hydroxamic acid, and sulfhydryl, etc.) capable of chelating the active-site zinc(II) ion (this will be referred to as zinc binding group or ZBG), at least one functional group which provides a hydrogen bond interaction with the enzyme backbone, and one or more side chains which undergo effective van der Waals interactions with the enzyme subsites. It is now apparent that this requirement can be satisfied by a variety of different structural classes of MMP inhibitors which have been discovered by a number of methods including structure-based design⁷⁶ and combinatorial chemistry.^{112,113} The discovery of MMP inhibitors such as batimastat (1; Scheme 1) predated these methods and followed a substrate-based approach to inhibitor design which had been pioneered by early workers in the field.¹¹⁴ The earliest MMP inhibitors were designed from a knowledge of the amino acid sequence of human triple helical collagen at the site of cleavage by

MMP-1 (Figure 5) and subsequently using information derived from substrate specificity studies (vide supra). In the substrate-based design, a ZBG is attached to peptide derivatives which mimic part of the cleaved sequence. Three classes of compounds have been developed, those in which the ZBG is flanked on both sides by amino acid residues and those in which the amino acid residues are present on only the left-hand side or only the right-hand side of the ZBG. The variety of different MMP inhibitors that have been identified following this approach incorporate a range of different ZBG functionality and have been summarized in a number of early reviews.^{114–118} It was generally found that compounds which mimic the sequence to the right-hand side of the active-site (P1' and P2') and incorporate a hydroxamic acid ZBG exhibited particularly potent inhibition. In contrast, the corresponding left-hand side inhibitors were reported to possess only modest inhibitory potency. Compounds of this class were first described in 1986^{119,120} but have not received as much



Figure 5. Design of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors based on the sequence of the collagen substrate cleavage site.

attention¹²¹⁻¹²³ as right-hand side MMP inhibitors. The early investigations resulted in the identification of left-hand side hydroxamates with only micromolar inhibitory activity such as Z-Pro-Leu-Ala-NHOH (**2**).^{119,120}

A key question that medicinal chemists working in the area have tried to answer is "which ZBG is best"? This issue has been addressed by comparing different ZBGs while keeping the rest of the inhibitor structure constant. Using this approach, Castelhano and co-workers arrived at the following preference in terms of inhibition of MMP-1: hydroxamate (e.g., **3**) >> formylhydroxylamine > sulfhydryl > phosphinate > aminocarboxylate > carboxylate.¹²⁴ Comparison of X-ray crystal structures of 3 and its corresponding carboxylate and sulfodiimine analogues bound to MMP-7 emphasizes the dominant role the ZBG plays in determining the inhibitory potency. The geometries of various ZBGs have been reviewed previously.⁷⁶ The hydroxamate acts as a bidentate ligand with each oxygen an optimal distance (1.9-2.3 Å) from the active-site zinc(II) ion, and the position of the hydroxamate nitrogen suggests that it is protonated and forms a hydrogen bond with a carbonyl oxygen of the enzyme backbone. As will become apparent from the discussion below, optimization of the inhibitor structure for many of the above ZBGs can lead to nanomolar inhibition of selected MMPs.

We consider that there are four broad classes of MMP inhibitors as follows: (a) Succinyl hydroxamates, (b) Sulfonamide hydroxamates and related structures, (c) Non-hydroxamates, and (d) Natural products and their derivatives.

While this classification is somewhat arbitrary, it does, we feel, reflect the structural classes of MMP inhibitors that have been investigated. Each of these classes are discussed in turn below with particular emphasis on more recent results.

A. Succinyl Hydroxamates

Early studies conducted by Johnson and co-workers demonstrated that succinyl hydroxamic acid derivatives (e.g., **4**) are more potent inhibitors of MMP-1 than either the corresponding malonyl (e.g., **5**) or glutaryl derivatives (e.g., **6**).¹¹⁴ The insertion of a single methylene spacer between the ZBG and the carbon bearing the P1' substituent also showed an improvement in activity for other ZBGs (thiol, formyl-hydroxylamine, and phosphonate) investigated.¹¹⁴

Interestingly, while X-ray analyses of enzyme/ succinyl hydroxamate inhibitor complexes have revealed substrate-like binding modes, X-ray analysis of a malonyl hydroxamate bound to MMP-8 reveals a nonsubstrate-like binding mode.⁸³ It was discovered that the peptidic tail of the weak inhibitor (2S)-HONH–Mal(i-Bu)–Ala–Gly–NH₂ (7) bound into the deep S1' pocket of MMP-8.⁸³ This insight has led to the discovery of more potent nonpeptidic malonyl hydroxamates (e.g., **8**),^{125–127} but the inhibitory activity of these compounds is not as great as that generally obtained with succinyl hydroxamates. The succinyl hydroxamates may be subdivided into peptidic derivatives that possess a P2' amino acid residue and non-peptidyl compounds in which this group is not an amino acid.

1. Succinyl Hydroxamates with a P2' Amino Acid Residue

Independently of Johnson and co-workers,¹¹⁴ the group of Dickens also disclosed that succinyl hydroxamates, such as SC-44463 (**9**), possess potent MMP inhibitory activity.¹²⁸ The structure–activity relationships (SAR) for succinyl hydroxamates possessing a P2' amino acid residue have been extensively explored. An overview of the SAR is given in Figure 6 and discussed in more detail below.

a. P1 Modifications. We and others have found that generally the introduction of a P1 substituent (substituent α to hydroxamic acid) confers the property of broad-spectrum activity against a variety of MMP enzymes.¹²⁹ A beneficial effect is conferred by both lipophilic substituents and those capable of undergoing hydrogen bonding. A P1 alkylcyclic imido substituent increases the potency of not only succinyl hydroxamate MMP inhibitors but also MMP inhibitors with amino carboxylate, phosphinate, and phosphonic acid ZBGs. The role of the cyclic imido group is not entirely clear. In MMP-1, analysis of an X-ray crystal structure has shown that the S1 asparagine (Asn-180; MMP-1 numbering) residue hydrogen bonds to the carbamate carbonyl group of an amino carboxylate inhibitor that possesses a P1 benzyloxycarbonylaminoalkyl substituent.⁷⁷ A similar interaction is observed between the carbonyl of a P1 phthalimido methyl substituent and Asn-180 in the X-ray structure of Ro 32-0554 (10) complexed to MMP-1 catalytic domain.¹³⁰ However, a beneficial effect of a P1' substituent is often observed for the inhibition of MMP-3 even though the corresponding residue to the asparagine is valine which cannot partake in such a hydrogen bonding interaction.

In our own research program, investigation of P1 substituents led to the discovery of batimastat (BB-94) (1),^{131,132} BB-1101 (11),¹³³ and later marimastat (BB-2516) (12).^{129,134} Batimastat possesses a thienylthiomethylene α -substituent and BB-1101 features a smaller allyl α -substituent, while the α -substituent for marimastat is a hydroxyl group. All three compounds are broad-spectrum inhibitors which have



Figure 6. Summary of structure-activity relationships for right-hand side MMP inhibitors.

displayed efficacy in animal models of human disease (vide infra). Unlike marimastat, batimastat and BB-1101 are not orally available. We have attributed the oral availability of marimastat in part to the increase in aqueous solubility achieved by the introduction of the α-hydroxyl group. An X-ray crystal structure of BB-1909 (13), an analogue of marimastat, complexed to the catalytic domain of human neutrophil collagenase reveals that the hydroxyl is directed away from the protein surface and is hydrogen-bonded to a solvent molecule.¹³⁵ We later found that the presence of certain α -substituents such as allyl (as in BB-1101) and thienylsulfonylmethylene (as in BB-3103 (14)) had a beneficial effect on the inhibition of TACE. This dual activity may be of benefit in diseases which involve both inflammation and matrix remodeling and has been implicated in the pharmacological activity of succinyl hydroxamate compounds, such as BB-1101 (11) in animal models of arthritis¹³⁶ and multiple sclerosis.137

Recently, analogues of marimastat have been reported in which the α -position is disubstituted, e.g., **15**.¹³⁸ These compounds feature an α -hydroxy group and an α -methyl group and there is a strong stereochemical preference at the α -position, which is opposite to that of marimastat with respect to the orientation of the hydroxyl.¹³⁸ Furthermore, phenylpropyl is reported to be the optimal substituent at P1' and, rather surprisingly, provides potent inhibition of both the short pocket enzyme MMP-1 and the deep pocket enzymes MMP-3 and MMP-9. An X-ray crystal structure of 15 complexed to the catalytic domain of MMP-3 reveals a hydrogen bond between the α -hydroxy group and the backbone of Ala-165 (MMP-3 numbering), as predicted by modeling, and also a van der Waals (VDW) interaction between the P1' aryl group and His-201. The preparation of the succinate portion of these compounds has been published by the Evans group and involves the catalytic asymmetric aldol reaction between methyl pyruvate and the appropriate enolsilane.¹³⁹ Gemdisubstitution at the α -position has also been reported for analogues of BB-1101 (11).¹⁴⁰ The combination of α -methyl and α -allyl with S stereochemistry (e.g., 16) is well tolerated, whereas activity is reduced when the stereochemistry at the α -position is *R* and by gem-diallyl substition.¹⁴⁰ The pharmacokinetics

were investigated for compound **16**, but it was found that the quarternary α -carbon did not confer any benefit compared to BB-1101. We have replaced the α -hydroxy group of marimastat, respectively, with an α -alkoxy, e.g., **17**,¹⁴¹ and an α -cycloalkyl group, e.g., **18**.¹⁴² Compound **18** is orally available in the rat and the marmoset and inhibits TNF- α production following oral administration in a rat lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge model.¹⁴² The 2,3-disubstituted succinate of compound **18** was prepared by a stereoselective Ireland–Claisen rearrangement.^{142,143} The synthesis by solid-phase methods of marimastat analogues in which the α -hydroxy group is replaced by a substituted α -amino group has been recently reported.¹⁴⁴

From analysis of the X-ray crystal structure of batimastat complexed to the active site of recombinant MMP-8 catalytic domain, it is apparent that the α -thienylthiomethylene substituent points away from the enzyme as does the P2' phenylalanine side chain.⁸⁴ Similarly, it has been observed in the X-ray structure of BB-16 (19) complexed to MMP-3 catalytic domain that the P1 and P2' substituents are directed away from the active site into solvent.145 These observations suggest the possibility of joining the P1 and P2' side chains together to form a cyclic inhibitor. Similar cyclization strategies have been followed by Xue and co-workers¹⁴⁵ and by Steinman and coworkers.146 Both groups identified the same compound, SE205 (20), as possessing similar potency to uncyclized analogues. Interestingly, this cyclization strategy resulted in a substantial increase in aqueous solubility (SE205 13 mg/mL vs BB-16 0.3 mg.ml).145 Increasing the ring size by insertion of one or two methylenes in the alkyl chain from the α -position was well tolerated.¹⁴⁶ Similar inhibitory activity was obtained for the 13-member amide-linked derivative SC903 (21).¹⁴⁵ Alternative P1 to P2' macrocyclization strategies have been reported that involve amine formation.^{147,148} Depending on the nature of the macrocyclic amine, a degree of selectivity can be obtained for MMP-9 and MMP-8 over MMP-1 and MMP-3¹⁴⁷ or activity enhanced against TACE.¹⁴⁸ The introduction of conformational restraint by the construction of a three-membered ring between the α and P1' positions (e.g., 22) has been reported by Martin and co-workers to result in a reduction in the inhibition of MMP-9.¹⁴⁹ Ghose and co-workers investigated a variety of approaches for the introduction of conformational restraint into the succinyl group in order to determine the pharmacophoric geometry for MMP-1 inhibition.¹⁵⁰ A cyclopropyl derivative (**23**) that possesses improved in vitro potency in comparison to **22** was identified in this study.¹⁵⁰ The introduction of a six-membered ring between the α and P1' positions (e.g., **24**) resulted in ineffective compounds.¹⁵¹

b. P1' Modifications. As discussed earlier, the S1' pocket is considered to be the selectivity pocket for the MMP inhibitors. This is confirmed by SAR data which shows that certain MMPs tolerate large hydrophobic P1' side chains: a P1' 3-phenylpropyl group provides selective inhibition of MMP-2 over MMP-1 and MMP-3 for succinyl hydroxamates (e.g., 25)152 and carboxylates and for phosphonate ZBG MMP inhibitors.¹⁵³ This seminal discovery by Porter, Morphy, and co-workers was made before structural data on the MMPs revealed that the S1' subsite is a deep pocket for the majority of the enzymes (e.g., MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-8, etc.) but is occluded for a few of the MMPs (e.g., MMP-1 and MMP-7) (vide supra). It is intriguing that compound 25, one of the first deep pocket selective MMP inhibitors, should show greater potency for the inhibition of MMP-2 over MMP-3. This tendency for lower IC_{50} values against MMP-2 (and the other gelatinase MMP-9) than MMP-3 is exhibited by the majority of MMP inhibitors with extended P1' groups. The discovery that the incorporation of extended P1' groups can provide potent deep pocket selective MMP inhibitors has been embraced and enhanced by medicinal chemists working in this field. An extended alkyl group at P1' provides deep pocket selectivity. Broadhurst and co-workers showed that a C₉ alkyl chain at P1', as in compound **26**, gives reduced in vitro inhibition of MMP-1 while maintaining potent inhibitory activity against MMP-2, MMP-3, and MMP-9.¹⁵⁴ For a series of matlystatin derivatives, a C₉ alkyl chain at P1', as in R-94138 (27), provides at least 10fold greater potency than C_8 or C_{10} for the inhibition of MMP-9.155 In analogous succinyl hydroxamates featuring a *n*-nonyl P1' substituent, the C_9 chain length provides at least a 500-fold selectivity for MMP-2 inhibition over inhibition of MMP-1^{107,154} yet extending the P1' substituent to C_{10} , as in compound **28**, results in potent inhibition of MMP-1.¹⁰⁷ Increasing the length of the P1' side chain further to C_{16} , as in compound 29, results in a loss of activity against MMP-1.¹⁰⁷ A similar switch in the inhibition of MMP-1 has been observed within a series of succinyl hydroxamate MMP inhibitors with extended P1' substituents containing heteroatom-based modifications.^{156–158} The benzyl ether **30** is a weak MMP-1 inhibitor, whereas the corresponding phenyl ether 31 is a potent MMP-1 inhibitor.¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸ These results indicate that selected extended P1' substituents can be accommodated in the S1' pocket of MMP-1. In the case of compound 31 it has been proposed that the S1' blocking residue of MMP-1, Arg-214 (MMP-1 numbering), might be displaced by a $\pi - \pi$ interaction between the electron-rich phenolic group and the

electron-poor guanidinium group.¹⁵⁸ Thus, the occlusion of the S1' pocket for MMP-1 (and presumably that for MMP-7 and MMP-11) is not absolute since the pocket can undergo conformational changes to accommodate certain extended P1' substituents.^{76,91} Interestingly, disubstitution at the α -position has been observed to increase MMP-1 potency for a P1' 3-phenylpropyl compound (15)¹³⁸ in comparison to a des-α analogue (e.g., 25).¹⁵² Biphenylalkyl P1' substituents have been incorporated into MMP inhibitors with amino carboxyl and carboxylic acid ZBGs.^{76,159,160} This modification has also been successfully applied to succinyl hydroxamate compounds (e.g., 32). Similar deep pocket selectivity is observed for MMP inhibitors that feature the related rigid arylalkynylmethylene P1' substituents as in compound **33**.¹⁶¹

In a series of α -unsubstituted succinyl hydroxamic acid derivatives, phenyl, benzyl, or 2-naphthylmethyl are P1' substituents of choice for the inhibition of soluble CD23 formation.¹⁶² Selectivity for the inhibition of soluble CD23 formation over inhibition of MMP-1 has been achieved by the combination of P1' benzyl with an oxime group at P1 as in compound 34.¹⁶³ P1' phenyl substitution has also been reported for succinyl hydroxamic acid MMP inhibitors by Robinson and co-workers.¹⁶⁴ They also investigated P1' C- α gem-disubstitution and found that this modification led to a loss of potency relative to the corresponding P1' isobutyl compounds with the least detrimental effect being observed for a P1' gemcyclohexyl compound 35.164 However, a P1' quaternary carbon is tolerated when one of the substituents is hydroxyl as in compound **36**¹⁶⁵ or when one of the substituents is cyclized onto the nitrogen of the P1'-P2' amide as in compound 37.166

Replacement of the P1'-P2' amide bond of succinyl hydroxamic acid MMP inhibitors by a sulfonamide bond, as in compound **38**, results in a substantial loss of MMP inhibitory activity.¹⁶⁷ This has been explained in terms of the hydrogen bond from the N-H of the conserved leucine (Leu-160 for MMP-8) to the sulfonyl oxygen being less energetically accessible due to the pyramidal nature of the sulfonamide.¹⁶⁷ The P1'-P2' amide has also been replaced by a urea functionality, but these analogues were found to be unstable and prone to acid-catalyzed hydantoin formation.¹⁶⁷

c. P2' Modifications. X-ray crystallographic analysis of MMP-inhibitor complexes reveals that the P2' group of peptidyl succinyl hydroxamic acid based MMP inhibitors points out of the enzyme, making few contacts with the S2' cleft.⁷⁶ Indeed, analysis of SAR indicates that modification of the P2' group has, in general, a modest effect on in vitro activity. Tryptophan at P2', as in GM6001 (39),168,169 yields more potent inhibitors than other amino acid side chains.¹⁷⁰ The group at P2' can, however, have an effect on the pharmacokinetic properties of the inhibitors. We have previously suggested that the oral activity of marimastat results from the beneficial combination of a sterically bulky *tert*-butyl group and an α -hydroxy group which increases aqueous solubility.¹²⁹ We argued that the bulky P2' group shields the adjacent amide bonds reducing hydration¹⁷¹ and, hence, the desolvation energy barrier of the peptide backbone associated with absorption from an aqueous environment to the lipid environment of cell membranes.¹⁷² A P2' *tert*-butyl group is also a feature of the orally available compounds Ro 31-9790 (40)¹⁷³ and CT1746 (41).^{174,175} The phamacokinetics of Ro 31–9790 has been studied in man, and it has been found that the main metabolite is the amide which arises from dehydroxylation of the hydroxamic acid moiety.¹⁷⁶ The deep pocket selective compound CT1746 has been shown to be effective in animal models of cancer following oral administration.^{174,175} Babine and Bender suggest that the P2' tert-butyl group is probably inferior with respect to VDW interactions compared to other, more extended side chains but that this is offset by more facile desolvation of the adjacent peptide linkages and a conformational effect that preorganizes the compound for binding.⁷⁶ Ikeda and co-workers describe compounds that feature a P2' phenyl substituent, e.g., KB-R7785 (42).¹⁷⁷ KB-R7785 is orally active as determined both by an ex vivo MMP-1 inhibition assay in mice and demonstration of efficacy in a rat adjuvant arthritis assay. The beneficial effect of the P2' phenyl group on absorption is attributed to it being an amide shielding moiety.¹⁷⁷ The same researchers have also investigated the SAR for the inhibition of an MMP-14 mutant lacking the transmembrane domain.¹⁷⁸ It was found that the phenylglycine derivative 42 was a weaker inhibitor of MMP-14 than the corresponding cyclohexylglycine derivative 43, BB-94 (1), BB-2516 (12), or Ro 31-9790 (40). A homology model of MMP-14 suggests that the S1 and S2' subsites are narrower than those of other MMPs.¹⁷⁸ This results in the phenylglycine compound **42** binding in a conformer which is not at an energy minimum whereas the cyclohexylglycine compound **43** and the *tert*-butylglycine compounds **12** and 14 can bind to MMP-14 in a low-energy comformation.178

The P2' and P3' substituents may be cyclized to form a lactam, and it is found that there is a correlation between the inhibitory potency and ring size for compounds with both hydroxamic acid and phosphonic acid ZBGs.^{114,179} This has been attributed to trans amide geometry for the P2'-P3' being the required geometry for effective hydrogen bonding interactions between enzyme and inhibitor. The inhibitory potency was found to increase as the lactam ring size was increased from 7 to 9 and then to 13 atoms.¹¹⁴ Trans geometry is observed in the complex between MMP-8 catalytic domain and BB-1909 (13), which features a 13-membered lactam ring between P2' and P3'.135 Indolactam cyclization between P2' and P3' (e.g., 3) also confers trans amide geometry and increases activity by at least 10-fold relative to the acyclic analogues.¹²⁴

d. P3' Modifications. The S3' region of the MMP enzymes is a relatively open area and a wide range of groups may be introduced at P3'. Heteroaryl and aryl groups appear to enhance MMP-3 and TACE inhibitory activity. We found that the introduction of a benzhydryl group at P3', e.g., **44**, leads to compounds that are selective for MMP-7 and MMP-3 relative to MMP-1 and MMP-2.^{180,181} Disubstitution

of the P2'-P3' amide tends to reduce inhibitory activity,^{114,179} except for P2'-P3' caprolactam derivatives.¹⁸² It has been found that the weak inhibitory activity of P2'-P3' caprolactam derivatives unsubstituted at P3'¹¹⁴ may be increased substantially by the introduction of a P3' methyl acetate substituent as in compound **45**.¹⁸² Interestingly, this compound is a selective inhibitor of MMP-1 over MMP-3 despite possessing an extended C₈ alkyl substituent at P1'. Removal of the P3' ester carbonyl to provide the corresponding methyl ethyl ether results in a reversal of selectivity for inhibition of MMP-3 over that of MMP-1.¹⁸² A P2' dihydrocarbostyril derivative, OPB-3206 (**46**), exhibits weak MMP inhibitory activity but is orally available in the rat.¹⁸³

The P2'-P3' amide is not strictly required for inhibitory activity since it may be replaced by a variety of alternative functionalities. For example, the P2' amino acid may by replaced by a β -amino alcohol, as in compound **32**, but this generally results in a 10–50-fold loss of activity.⁷⁶ From the X-ray crystallographic analysis of **32** complexed to the catalytic domain of MMP-3, it is apparent that the C-terminal hydroxy group accepts a hydrogen bond from the N–H of Tyr-240 (MMP-3 numbering).⁷⁶

The replacement of the C-terminal amide group with a nitrogen heterocycle has been a successful modification. An X-ray crystal structure of a Cterminal imidazole 47 complexed to MMP-7 has been reported.^{76,184} The use of imidazole to replace the C-terminal N-methyl amide is said to result in a 5-fold reduction in potency against all MMPs tested for this analogue of GM6001.76 Examination of the crystal structure shows that the imidazole makes hydrogen bonds to the carbonyl of Asn-179 and to the N-H of Tyr-240 (MMP-7 numbering) without any apparent perturbation of the inhibitor backbone in comparison to a related structure in which the C-terminal N-methyl amide is retained.^{76,184} The introduction of a phenyl substituent at the 5-position of the imidazole ring provided selective inhibition of MMP-7 over MMP-1 and MMP-3, whereas a P3' benzimidazole group provided broad-spectrum inhibition of the three MMPs tested.¹⁸⁴

The replacement of the P2'-P3' amide by an aryl ketone or heteroaryl ketone group, as in the P3' indole ketone 48 and the P1-P2' cyclized P3' phenyl ketone 49, is tolerated.¹⁸⁵ Compound 48 is an analogue of BB-1101 (11) which possesses negligible oral availability. In contrast, the indole ketone 48 is 12% bioavailable in the monkey following dosing at 10 mg/ kg p.o. and has a half-life of 20 h.185 Two earlier studies of P2'-P3' amide derivatives showed that the nature of the P3' substituent can have an effect on the oral availability of succinyl hydroxamates.^{186,187} In one study, the effect of P3' substituents on biliary excretion in the rat was examined for a series of GM6001 analogues.¹⁸⁶ It was found that the presence of a tertiary amine at P3' reduced biliary excretion and increased plasma half-life.¹⁸⁶ The tertiary amine 50 was found to be 8.5% orally bioavailable in the rat.¹⁸⁶ In the other study, it was found that oral availability as measured in a mouse pleural cavity assay was significantly enhanced by the introduction of an alkyl morpholino P3' substituent.¹⁸⁷ The beneficial effect of the morpholino group was attributed to its basicity.¹⁸⁷ Epimerisation-free amide coupling conditions have been developed by Fray and Ellis to facilitate the introduction of a wide range of P3' substituents into a *N*-succinyl-*tert*-leucine intermediate for the preparation of succinyl hydroxamates.¹⁸⁸

B. Non-Peptidic Succinyl Hydroxamates

Truncation of the P2'-P3' group of pseudo-peptide succinyl hydroxamic acid derivatives leads to MMP inhibitors which tend to be selective for the collagenases. Broadhurst and co-workers discovered that potent inhibition of the collagenases could be achieved when a cyclic imide group is introduced at P1, as in the phthalimido derivative 51.189 Subsequent optimization of this series led to the discovery of Ro 32-3555 (52), which was selected for development for the treatment of arthritis.^{190,191} Presumably, for compound 51 and Ro 32-3555 (52), a favorable balance between active-site interactions and solvation is maintained despite the removal of three hydrogen bonding groups in comparison to succinyl hydroxamates with P2' groups. The presence of the cyclic imide group at P1, a feature of earlier MMP inhibitors identified by the same workers and by other groups (vide supra), appears to also be important for activity and may compensate for the loss of the hydrogen bonds as observed in the X-ray structure of Ro 32-0554 (10) complexed to the active site of MMP-1.¹³⁰ The cyclopentylmethyl P1' group of Ro 32-3555 was chosen on the basis of X-ray crystal structure data for MMP-1.¹⁹⁰ The introduction of cyclopentylmethyl provides a modest increase in potency over an analogue of Ro 32-3555 with an isobutyl group at P1' suggesting improved complementarity with the S1' pocket.¹⁹⁰ Ro 32-3555 exhibits an oral bioavailability of 26% in the rat and inhibits articular cartilage degradation in a rat monoarthritis model.¹⁹² Ro 32-3555 (Trocade) has been referred to as a cartilage protective agent (CPA).¹⁹³ An improved synthesis of the chiral 2,3-disubstituted succinate of Ro 32–3555 has been reported¹⁹⁴ based on the earlier succinate alkylation protocol of Crimmin and coworkers.¹⁹⁵ We found that incorporation of a sulfonamide moiety at P1 in combination with P2'-P3' truncation, as in compound 53, can provide selective inhibition of MMP-1 over other the MMPs that we evaluated.¹⁹⁶ Analogues of 53 possess different selectivity profiles depending on the nature of the sulfonyl substituent.

Alpegiani and co-workers found that an α amino group in conjunction with a P2' piperazinyl moiety, as in compound **54**, provided compounds with good oral availability.¹⁹⁷ Compound **54** exhibits 58% oral bioavailability in the rat and 34% in the cynomolgus monkey.¹⁹⁷ Broadhurst and co-workers have found that the P2'–P3' amino acid residue may be replaced by a hydrazide moiety as in Ro 32–7315 (**55**).^{198,199} This potent TACE selective inhibitor has been selected for clinical development.¹⁹⁹ Cyclic hydrazide compounds such as the piperazic acid derivative matlystatin B (**56**) and its analogues have been previously identified as natural product MMP inhibitors.^{155,200–202} Matlystatin analogues have been prepared in which the ZBG has been altered,²⁰³ the P3' group modified,^{155,204} and the P1' substituent changed.¹⁵⁵ As described above, the P1' nonyl derivative **27** is a potent inhibitor of the gelatinases, in contrast to the modest activity exhibited by the parent molecule matlystatin B (**56**).¹⁵⁵

The P2' amino acid residue of succinvl hydroxamic acid MMP inhibitors may be replaced with a benzhydryl group, as in compound **57**.¹¹¹ A combinatorial chemistry approach was employed in this study that first involved the exploration of P2' modifications for a series of N-carboxyalkyl amino acid based inhibitors (vide infra). Modeling of the optimal P2' group that had been identified by this approach led to the identification of benzhydryl as a preferred substituent, which was then introduced into the corresponding succinyl hydroxamic acid derivative **57**. An X-ray crystal structure of this compound bound to the catalytic domain of MMP-3 revealed an unexpected conformational shift in the 222-231 loop region (MMP-3 numbering).¹¹¹ This illustrates that subtle changes in binding can occur with variation of inhibitor structure and that these are very difficult to predict on the basis of modeling alone. Inhibition of MMP-3 was further increased by replacing one of the phenyl groups of compound 57 with 3-pyridyl.¹¹¹

C. Sulfonamide Hydroxamates and Related Structures

N-Sulfonyl amino acid hydroxamates were independently identified as inhibitors of MMPs by two research groups.^{205,206} The first such compound to enter development is the orally available broadspectrum inhibitor CGS 27023A (58).205 Key structural features of CGS 27023A are said to be the isopropyl substituent which slows down metabolism of the adjacent hydroxamic acid group and the basic 3-pyridyl substituent which may aid partitioning into the hydrated negatively charged environment of cartilage.²⁰⁵ SAR for the inhibition of macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12) by CGS 27023A and analogues has been reported.²⁰⁷ This reveals that CGS 27023A is a potent inhibitor of MMP-12, an enzyme that has been implicated in the development of emphysema that results from chronic inhalation of cigarette smoke.²⁰⁸ The binding mode of CGS 27023A and analogues to MMP-3 has been investigated by NMR spectroscopy.^{209–211} The *p*-methoxyphenyl substituent of CGS 27023A occupies, but does not fill, the S1' specificity pocket, while the pyridylmethyl and isobutyl substituents occupy the S2' and S1' subsites, respectively.²¹¹ An X-ray crystallographic analysis of a related compound CGS 25966 (59), a close analogue of CGS 27032A, complexed to the catalytic domain of MMP-1 has been reported by Babine and Bender.⁷⁶ The observed binding mode is broadly in agreement with the NMR studies in that the 4-methoxyphenyl group resides in the S1' pocket and the isopropyl group is located in the S1 subsite. The X-ray structure indicates that the isopropyl group is relatively close to the *N*-benzyl substituent.⁷⁶ By introducing a six-membered ring to provide beneficial ligand preorganization⁷⁶ and extending the P1' substituent, the potent MMP inhibitor AG3340 (60) was derived.^{212,213} This compound was selected for development based on its superior efficacy in a murine model of cancer growth and metastasis in comparison to a number of analogues and because it showed a favorable pharmacokinetic profile with 18% oral bioavailability in rats.²¹³ There has been considerable interest from other researchers in analogues of CGS 27023A and AG3340.¹⁴¹ For example, it has been recently reported by Hanessian and co-workers that modification of the substituent α to the hydroxamic acid in CGS 27023A leads to increases in the inhibition of the deep pocket MMPs, e.g., thioether derivative **61**.²¹⁴ Other analogues of particular interest are sulfone derivatives, $^{215-218}$ bis-sulfonamides, 219,220 and phosphinamides.²²¹ Groneberg, Burns, and co-workers have identified sulfone hydroxamic acids (e.g., 62) which are inhibitors of both MMPs and the enzyme phosphodiesterase type 4 (PDE4).²¹⁶ Inhibition of PDE4 results in increased intracellular concentration of cyclic AMP and consequently in antiinflammatory activity.²²² Analogues of compound 62 have been identified, by both combinatorial methods (vide infra)²¹⁵ and traditional analogue synthesis,²¹⁶ that provide selective inhibition of PDE4 over MMP inhibition by the introduction of a 3,4-dimethoxyphenylsulfonyl group. The reverse selectivity for MMP inhibition over that of PDE4 is achieved by the incorporation of a cyclic quaternary center α to the sulfonyl moiety.²¹⁵ This is a structural feature of the compound RS-113,456 (63) identified by Campbell and co-workers.^{217,218} Oral availability and half-life were improved in this series by shifting the cyclic group to be α to the hydroxamic acid as in the development compound RS-130,830 (64).²¹⁷ Separate X-ray crystallographic analyses of both RS-113,456 and RS-130,830 bound to the catalytic domain of MMP-13 reveal that the two compounds adopt virtually identical conformations.⁹¹ An X-ray crystal structure has also been determined for RS-104,966, an analogue of 63 lacking the chloro substituent, bound to the catalytic domain of MMP-1. This shows that induced fit of MMP inhibitors with large P1' substituents can occur by Arg-214 (MMP-1 numbering) adopting a new position, creating a larger open S1' pocket.⁹¹ RS-113,-456 (63) dosed orally diminishes flow-mediated arterial enlargement in a rat arteriovenous fistula model,²¹⁷ and RS-130,830 (64) is being investigated in the clinic as a therapeutic agent for the treatment of osteoarthritis.²¹⁸ In contrast to the majority of MMP inhibitors, both RS-113,456 and RS-130,830 lack any stereocenters yet retain potent inhibitory activity for the deep pocket MMPs. In an alternative approach based on symmetrical bis-sulfonamides, Pikul and co-workers identified another series of nonchiral MMP inhibitors (e.g., 65).²¹⁹ The 1,3-piperazinyl derivative PGE-4410186 (65) exhibits broadspectrum inhibitory activity against the enzymes tested.²¹⁹ An X-ray crystal structure of PGE-4410186 complexed to the catalytic domain of MMP-3 reveals similar interactions previously observed in the crystal structure of CGS 25966 complexed to the catalytic domain of MMP-1⁷⁶ in terms of one of the 4-methoxyphenylsulfonyl groups residing in the S1' pocket.²¹⁹

The second 4-methoxyphenylsufonyl binds to the S1/ S2 pocket with the two sulfonyl oxygen atoms of this group interacting with the imidazole ring of His-166 (MMP-3 numbering) via a hydrogen-bonded bridging water molecule.²¹⁹ PGE-4410186 and analogues have been evaluated in an in vitro cartilage permeation model.²²⁰ It was found that permeability across articular cartilage was increased for analogues of PGE-4410186 with increasing hydrophilicity.²²⁰ Pikul and co-workers have also investigated analogues of CGS 27023A in which the sulfonamide moiety is replaced by a phosphinamide group as in compound **66**.²²¹ This compound is a potent inhibitor of MMP-3, the collagenases (MMP-1, MMP-8, MMP-13), and the gelatinases (MMP-2, MMP-9) but is less effective at inhibiting MMP-7. An X-ray crystal structure of phosphinamide 66 bound to MMP-3 catalytic domain reveals that the phosphinamide phenyl group is accommodated into the S1' pocket and that the phosphinamide oxygen is within hydrogen bonding distance to the N-H of Leu-164 and Ala-165 (MMP-3 numbering).²²¹ This provides an explanation for the observation that optimum enzyme inhibitory activity is achieved when the configuration at the phosporus chiral center is R^{221} However, hydrolysis of the phosphinamide bond which occurs at low pH may limit the potential of these compounds to be developed into orally available drugs.

A new drug discovery technique involving multidimensional NMR spectroscopy, known as "SAR by NMR", was first used to identify potent analogues of the immunosuppressant FK506.²²³ Application of this technique has been extended to the field of MMP inhibition, where it has been used to identify a series of MMP-3 inhibitors.^{224,225} In this study, two ligands that bind weakly to proximal sites on MMP-3 were identified. Acetohydroxamic acid binds to the activesite zinc(II) ion and 3-cyanomethyl-4'-hydroxybiphenyl binds to the S1' pocket.²²⁴ On the basis of the NMR-derived structural information, the two molecules were linked together to give the potent MMP-3 inhibitor **67**.²²⁴

D. Non-Hydroxamates

Due to the intense competition in the area of hydroxamic acid MMP inhibitors there has been considerable interest in compounds with alternative zinc binding groups. For the purpose of this review these are subdivided as follows: (1) Carboxylic acid and N-carboxyalkyl ZBGs, (2) Thiol ZBGs, (3) Phosphorus-based ZBGs, (4) Novel zinc binding groups.

1. Carboxylic Acids and N-Carboxyalkyl ZBGs

With the exception of a few families of hydroxamic acids derived directly by solid-phase procedures, all the other examples of MMP inhibitors described in the preceding sections will have been prepared by converting a carboxylic precursor into the corresponding hydroxamic acid. Consequently, a vast volume of test data has been built up on the value of carboxylic acid containing structures as potential MMP inhibitors. A typical example is the carboxylic acid precursor of compound **29**; this is selective for MMP-2 over MMP-1, -3, and -7 (IC₅₀ of 30 nM vs

>100 mM).¹⁰⁷ Although the carboxylate group is a less effective binding group toward zinc—Babine and Bender suggest a 3.5 kcal/mol advantage in hydroxamate binding⁷⁶—many carboxylates have been shown to be effective MMP inhibitors and some appear to have promise as clinical candidates.

Hagmann and colleagues at Merck were among the earliest to disclose MMP inhibitors with an Ncarboxyalkyl zinc binding group,226 but to date no compounds of this class have reached the clinic. The most likely reasons are weak in vitro potency, relative to hydroxamic acids, and poor oral bioavailability. This series of compounds, exemplified by 68, was targeted against MMP-3 but inhibit both MMP-1 and MMP-3 (IC₅₀s of 60 and 300 nM, respectively, for **68**). Replacement of the phenethyl group at P1' with linear alkyl chains removed the MMP-1 inhibitory activity without affecting the activity against MMP-2 and MMP-3.227 A similar effect was achieved by parasubstitution of the phenyl ring of the phenethyl group with small linear alkyl changes as in 69.228 A similar series of P3' esters has been identified by a combinatorial approach.¹⁵⁹ Extending the P1 methyl to groups such as a phthalamidobutyl, as in 70, increased the activity against MMP-3 and further increased the selectivity compared to MMP-1 (K_i of 8 vs 720 nM).²²⁹ A comparable observation had been made previously with the carboxylic acid 71.230 Replacing the nitrogen atom of the amino-carboxylate with a carbon provided a series of glutaric acid derivatives with similar in vitro potency but much improved oral bioavailability and in vivo pharmacological properties.²³¹ In this series, compound 72 which incorporates the two features that promoted activity against MMP-3-a phthalimidobutyl group (or the monodeoxy equivalent) at P1 and a 4-propylphenethyl group at P1'-was among the most potent compounds as measured by in vitro activity (K_i 0.36 nM vs MMP-3). Compounds containing this P1 group showed poor in vivo activity in a mouse pleural cavity assay. However, compound 73, containing only a methyl group as the P1 substituent, was active when administered orally. Further refinement of this series of compound has given the lead compound L-758,-354, **74**^{.160} L-758,354 incorporates a *tert*-butyl group at P2' and a methyl group at P3' and has an ED₅₀ of 11 mg/kg p.o. for the inhibition of MMP-3 in the mouse pleural cavity assay. L-758,354 was active in an acute model of arthritis (MMP-3 injection into rabbit joints; $ED_{50} = 6 \text{ mg/kg i.v.}$) but not in chronic models (rat adjuvant induced arthritis and mouse collagen induced arthritis).

While the above carboxylate inhibitors were directed particularly against MMP-3, Robinson has elaborated a similar backbone to produce inhibitors of MMP-1. The P1' gem-cyclohexyl compound **75**, developed from compound **71**, exhibited an IC₅₀ of 90 nM against MMP-1, a 4-fold loss of activity compared to the equivalent P1' isobutyl compound. This is a relatively small reduction compared to the **80**-fold reduction noted in the succinate hydroxamate **35**.¹⁶⁴ Because the naphthalimide is susceptible to hydrolysis by a mechanism involving the P1' NH, the glutaric acid derivative **76** was also prepared and was only

slightly less potent than **75**.²³² More radical changes to the P1 substituent have been examined. A tosyl-aminoethyl group at P1 and a phenethyl at P1' gave the potent MMP-3 inhibitor **77**.²³³

Cherney and Decicco have combined the N-carboxyalkyl and carboxyalkyl modifications, described above, with the P2' piperazic acid group in the matlystatins to provide another series of MMP-3 inhibitors, e.g., 78.204 As with some of the non-peptide hydroxamates described earlier and the carboxylates described above, the interaction of the P1' biphenyl substituent with the S1' pocket is the dominant factor contributing to the inhibitor binding. As part of this study, an X-ray structure of the acyclic analogue 79 with MMP-3 revealed an important interaction between the terminal phenyl of the biphenyl group and the side chain of His-224 (MMP-3 numbering). Related structures in which the P1 substituent is linked directly to P3' to form macrocycles have been prepared. The ring size of the resultant macrocycle can, not surprisingly, have an effect on the activity and selectivity against a range of MMPs.²³⁴ From a series of differing sized macrocycles containing a biphenylethyl group as a constant at P1', 80 was identified as a selective inhibitor of MMP-8.

As indicated above, the *N*-sulfonyl amino acid hydroxamates have been a fruitful area of investigation in the search for new MMP inhibitors. The equivalent carboxylic acids are also proving to show activity in their own right. In almost all cases, when the two classes are compared, the hydroxamic acids prove to be more potent in vitro. However, there is a possibility that any advantages that the hydroxamic acid may possess in terms of intrinsic activity may be counterbalanced by a poorer pharmacokinetic profile. Whether this is true is still a matter for debate, and it may be that some of the current interest in carboxylic acids, especially in recent patent applications, simply represents the intensity of interest in hydroxamic acids.

Tamura and colleagues at Shionogi have prepared a series of biphenylsulfonyl derivatives of D-amino acids. The hydroxamic acid 81 was a potent inhibitor of MMP-2 and MMP-9, whereas the equivalent carboxylic showed a 40-fold loss of potency. However, they found compound 81 to be unstable in vivo undergoing metabolism to produce hydroxylamine. The hydroxamic acids were also poorly absorbed in a mouse model, in contrast to the carboxylic acids. In light of these observations, further investigations concentrated on the carboxylic acids. The tetrazole derivative 82 suppressed colonization of Lewis lung carcinoma cells in mice. Compound 82 also prolonged survival of Ma44-bearing mice (26% increased life span) following daily oral dosing.235 In contrast to this declared preference toward the carboxylic acid series, a recent report from the same group has described the effect of the hydroxamic acid 81 in mouse cancer models. Following daily oral dosing, compound 81, which has in vitro activity against MMP-2, -9, and -14 but not MMP-1, -3, or-7, inhibits tumor-induced angiogenesis, primary tumor growth (48% inhibition in B16-BL6 melanoma model), and liver metastasis. Compound 81 also inhibited liver metastasis of C-1H human colon carcinoma cells.²³⁶ This family of carboxylic acids has been used as probes for evaluating a recent homology model of the S1' subsites of the gelatinases developed by the Shionogi group.¹⁰⁸ They concluded that whereas MMP-9 has a pocket-like S1' subsite, in MMP-2 it is more channel-like and consequently more tolerant of increased length of the sulfonamide substituent. Thus, although extending the terminal methyl substituent of compound **83** to a *n*-butyl group has little effect on the activity against MMP-2, there is a 300-fold loss of activity against MMP-9 (IC₅₀ 9.6 vs 2700 nM).¹⁰⁸

The carboxylic acid **84** derived from D-valine exhibits selective inhibition of MMP-2 and -3.²³⁷ 4-Substitution of the biphenyl ring helped to increase potency over the unsubstituted compound and also helped to improve the pharmacokinetic profile. Carboxylate **84** could achieve high plasma concentrations with a long half-life (38–48 h) and was able to inhibit left ventricular dilation in a rat model of congestive heart failure.²³⁷

The antiinflammatory drug Fenbufen has provided the starting point for a series of carboxylic acid MMP inhibitors under investigation by Hibner and coworkers at Bayer in a program originally aimed at investigating new approaches to the treatment of osteoarthritis. Although the initial target enzyme was MMP-3, compounds such as 85 were potent inhibitors of MMP-2 and -9. Replacement of biphenyl by phenyl reduced activity. 4'-Substitution of the biphenyl with chloro and small linear alkoxy substituents improves activity.²³⁸ This strongly suggests that the biphenyl group occupies the S1' pocket. Support for this hypothesis is provided by the lack of activity against MMP-1. BAY 12–9566 (86) is currently in phase II clinical trials for osteoarthritis and cancer. Like many of the compounds prepared within this series, the compound exhibits modest in vitro activity against most MMPs, notably having no activity against MMP-1 and good activity against MMP-2. Bay 12-9566 (86) inhibited the invasion of human HT1080 fibrosarcoma cells in vitro (40-65% at 10⁻⁶ M concentration) and is not cytotoxic. Oral treatment of mice (50 mg/kg for 7 days) inhibited angiogenesis induced by Matrigel and bFGF in a subcutaneous pellet assay (40% decrease in haemorrhage, 66% reduction of haemoglobin in the pellet).²³⁹

Possible concerns about the metabolic stability and bioavailability of peptide hydroxamates have led to Bender and colleagues at Agouron to focus on a series of succinyl carboxylates.²⁴⁰ An early lead AG3067 (87) provided a starting point for further investigation. The P1' biphenylpropyl group naturally provided selectivity for the deep pocket enzymes. Adding a 4'cyano group to the biphenyl group slightly improved MMP-2 activity and prevents potential enzymatic oxidation. Incorporation of a tert-leucine N-methylamide group at P2'/P3' improved activity and solubility. By replacing the propyl group at P1' with fivemembered heterocycles dramatic improvements in activity were obtained. AG3365 (88) is a potent selective inhibitor. Replacing the P2'/P3' fragment with aminopantolactone to reduce the peptidic character together with reorientation of the P1' pyrrole

ring led to the orally bioavailable compound AG3433 (**89**).²⁴¹ This compound is currently under preclinical investigation.

2. Thiol ZBGs

Thiols are an attractive ZBG for incorporation in MMP inhibitors. Babine and Bender have suggested that although the intrinsic affinity of a monodentate thiol ZBG is less than that of the bidentate groups such as carboxylate or hydroxamate, lower dissolution costs and easier ionization tend to make such inhibitors only slightly less potent than the hydroxamate class of MMP inhibitors.⁷⁶ The structure determination of the inhibitor **90** with MMP-1 has indicated that it is a RHS inhibitor whose side-chain binding geometry is similar to that obtained with substrate-like hydroxamates.⁸³ Consequently much of the SAR determined for the hydroxamate structures has been applied in the design of thiolate inhibitors.

Among the earliest examples of modern substratebased thiol MMP-1 inhibitors are the dipeptide analogues, such as 91 introduced by Searle.²⁴² Incorporation of a substituent α to the thiol (**91**, R = Me) led to an improvement in activity. Explorations about thiol dipeptide framework fragment has shown a preference for the S-stereochemistry at the P1' position, which relates to the L-stereochemistry of the natural substrate when this substituent is present α to the thiol. 243 In its absence, compounds possessing the R-stereochemistry were more active than the S-analogues, though these compounds tended to show lower activities than similar compounds containing an α -substituent.²⁴⁴ Derivatives incorporating a linked P1-P1' substituent, as in compound **92**, show a total loss of activity,²⁴⁵ although a similar strategy had been successful in the design of ACE inhibitors. However, the incorporation of a carboxyalkyl methyl group in the P1 position led to a significant increase in activity. The *S*,*S*-stereochemistry at P1,P1', as in compound 93, was optimal, and some members of the series were reported to show inhibition of collagenolysis in vivo. Although the increased activity of this series of compounds could be a consequence of a highly beneficial S1 interaction, it is also possible that the ester carbonyl and the thiol group may participate in bidentate coordination to the activesite zinc.²⁴⁵

Hughes and colleagues have also prepared thiophenol derivatives such at 94.²⁴⁶ Having noted that the phenyl α -substituted thiol (91, R = Ph) showed comparable activity to the corresponding methyl derivative (91, R = Me), it was concluded that a phenyl group could be included at the P1 position. They also showed it was possible to transpose the thiol about the aryl group. Modeling studies with lowenergy conformations of thiophenol 94 indicated that the thiol group can indeed approach the active-site zinc. In contrast, the 2-pyridyl analogue (94, X = N) is inactive, possibly as a consequence of it existing predominantly as the thione tautomer.²⁴⁶

Several groups have followed up on these concepts of involving the thiol in a bidendate binding group and moving it from the position it occupies in compound **93**. Montana and co-workers have identified a series of inhibitors incorporating a mercaptoacyl ZBG.²⁴⁷ The initial lead **95** resembles **93** with the carbonyl oxygen and the thiol groups transposed. Compound **95** is a moderate inhibitor against a range of deep pocket enzymes and is orally active in a rat adjuvant arthritis model.²⁴⁷ Alkylation of the sulfur significantly reduced activity as did increasing the spacing between the mercapto and acyl group by incorporating an extra methylene (IC₅₀ > 100 μ M vs MMP-3). Interestingly, Hagmann and Kopka had shown previously that incorporating a phenethyl group α to the carbonyl in the truncated β -mercaptoethylacyl compound **96** allowed some of the inhibitory activity to be recovered.²⁴⁸

A modeling investigation on compound 95 docked into MMP-8, based on the known conformation of an enzyme-bound hydroxamate inhibitor,82 confirmed that the thiol and acyl carbonyl could cooperate in binding to the active zinc site.²⁴⁹ The amino acid side chains could be accommodated into the S1' and S2' pockets in a similar manner as those of succinyl hydroxamic acids. The model indicated that S-substitution α to the thiol and acyl group would lead to preferential occupation of the S1 pocket. In compound **97**, the *S*-stereochemistry at the α -carbon provides 6-10 times the potency of the *R*-isomer. The model also highlights the possibility of an interaction between the imide carbonyl and the Ser-172 (MMP-8 numbering) of the enzyme. Montana et al. at Darwin-Chiroscience have followed up on this work by filing new patent applications on several series of compounds. In these applications the mercaptoacyl group is retained as the ZBG, though it is often present in its acylated form which presumably can act as a prodrug for the parent thiol, and the phthalamidoalkyl group is a common P1 substituent. Among other areas the applications cover modifications to the P2' amino acid group including deletion of the C-terminal amide, replacement by imidazole, and replacement of the P2' amino acid by a heterocycle.¹⁴¹ Most of these strategies are similar to those previously utilized by others in modifications of the succinyl hydroxamates. Unfortunately, no biological data was included with these applications so it is not yet possible to comment on the relative merits of these MMP inhibitors. Two compounds from the Darwin-Chiroscience series, D2163 (98) and D1927, have entered clinical development. D2163 contains a trimethylhydantoinylethyl group at the P1 position and a leucinyl-tert-butylglycinyl backbone. The structural relationship to BB-2516 (12) and Ro 32-3555 (52) is noteworthy. D2163 is reported to have an oral activity of 30 mg/kg in a rat model of cancer and in human phase I trials showed dose-related plasma levels in excess of the IC₅₀ 12 h after administration.^{250,251} The structure of D1927 has not been released by the company. Warshawsky and co-workers at Hoechst have produced a variant of the Montana series in which the P2' amide nitrogen is linked to the P1' group.²⁵² Compound (**99**, n = 0) shows good activity against MMP-2, -3, and -12. Extending the P1' side chain (99, n = 1) tends to reduce the activity against MMP-3.

Campbell and Levin have also prepared a novel series of inhibitors developed from initial observations on the amino acid α -mercaptoamides similar to **95**.²⁵³ As they found these mercaptoamides to be unstable in solution, probably owing to proteolysis of the acetamide bond, a series of mercapto alcohols and mercaptoketones were prepared. The mercapto alcohols **100** exhibited modest activity against MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-9, while the equivalent mercaptoketones could be optimized to active broadspectrum inhibitors such as 101. A related series of succinyl mercaptoalcohols and mercaptoketones were also prepared by the same group.²⁵⁴ Compounds such as 102 and 103 were broad-spectrum inhibitors, while dipeptide derivatives such as **104** were totally devoid of MMP-1 inhibitory activity. Although there is no direct evidence for the binding mode of these compounds, the results seem consistent with the mercaptoalcohols and mercaptoketones acting as bidendate zinc ligands. This partly explains the different activities exhibited by the syn alcohol 102 and the anti alcohol 103. No evidence was presented that any of these compounds showed in vivo activity.

The β -mercaptoacylamide **106** was prepared as one of a series of α -cyclohexyl derivatives.²⁵⁵ This compound was most active against MMP-9 in vitro and exhibited some oral activity in rats, the plasma levels of 106 exceeding the IC₅₀ values for MMP-3 at 4 h after administration. The 4-alkoxysubstituent on the cyclohexane group improved activity against all the enzymes investigated over the corresponding compound containing an unsubstituted cyclohexane group. Replacing the 4-ethoxy substituent with 4-propyloxy led to a significant reduction in MMP-1 activity and improvement in selectivity for MMP-3 over MMP-9. The equivalent cyclopentyl compounds were inactive, suggesting little penetration of the S1' enzyme subsite. The mercaptoamides, exemplified by 107, described in a Monsanto patent application, appear to be an interesting attempt to incorporate a bidendate thiolate ZBG into the sulfonamidocarboxylate framework, ²⁵⁶ though the simple γ -sulfone thiols, e.g., **108** described by Freskos, which lack this bidendate zincbinding element also exhibit potent activity against MMP-13 and-8.²⁵⁷ Constrained analogues of **108** with comparable activity and selectivity for MMP-13 over MMP-1 have recently been described.²⁵⁸

N-Acetylcysteine has been reported to affect the process of tumor cell invasion and metastasis by the inhibition of MMP-2 and MMP-9.259 L-Cysteine-2phenylethylamide is a more effective inhibitor, with analysis by modeling indicating that the phenethyl group fills the S1' pocket of MMP-8.²⁶⁰ Other cysteine derivatives have been explored by several groups. Foley and colleagues have used solid-phase chemistry to prepare several libraries of cysteine-containing dipeptide derivatives of the form RCO-Cys-AA-NH₂. Variation of the acyl and second amino acid led to activities against differing MMPs. Modeling studies indicate that the group R interacts at the S1' subsite (vide infra).²⁶¹ Navre and co-workers have used solid-phase synthesis to prepare diketopiperazines bearing a pendant methylenethiol. These compounds are described as having activity against MMP-1 and -8 (vide infra).^{262,263}

3. Phosphorus-Based ZBG

Inhibitors based on phosphorus ZBGs have long been a favored area for investigation.²⁶⁴ A variety of functionalities have been exploited to produce potent inhibitors against a range of MMPs, though so far none seem effective enough to have reached the clinic. Phosphonamidates as a ZBG can bind to the enzyme to form complexes in which either one of both of the oxygen atoms can coordinate to active site zinc. Z-Phe^p–Leu–Ala inhibits thermolysin effectively (K_i 68 pm) with one of the phosphonamidate oxygens binding strongly to the zinc ion and the other being more weakly coordinated with a longer Zn-O bonding distance (2.2-2.6 Å).265 In the MMP inhibitor area, a typical example of an early phosphonamidate inhibitor is phthaloyl-CH₂-PO₂-Ile-Trp-NHBzl which inhibits a crude MMP-1 extract ($K_i = 34$ nM).²⁶⁶ The related compound 109 has increased bulk in both the P1 and P2' positions and is a slow binding inhibitor of MMP-3.²⁶⁷ The Hagmann group also prepared phosphonate and phosphinic acid variants of compound 109.268 Whereas the phosphonates were inactive, the phosphinic acids were more potent than the corresponding phosphonamidates, a ranking of activity which differs from that found for thermolysin. Compounds such as **110** in which the group at P1' was phenethyl were inhibitors of MMP-2 and MMP-3 but inactive against MMP-1.268 The contribution that the phthalamidobutyl groups makes to binding to the S1-S3 sites is highlighted by the 1000fold loss in MMP-3 activity when it is replaced by a methyl group. The crystal structure of the phosphinate 111 with MMP-7 has been determined. One of the phosphorus atoms is coordinated to the zinc atom (Zn–O bonding distance 1.96 Å), whereas the other oxygen points away from the zinc (Zn-O distance of 3.32 Å) and H-bonds to Glu-219 carboxyl (MMP-7 numbering).76

Effective phosphinic acid inhibitors have been developed by exploiting extra binding to the LHS binding sites S1–S3. Amino acid substituents have been used to improve MMP-3 selectivity in 112.269 This study indicated the need to involve all three unprimed sites in inhibitor binding to obtain optimal activities; shorter amino acid sequences led to >10fold loss of activity. The S1-S3 subsites can also be explored by the use of substituted aromatic groups.²⁷⁰ Reiter and co-workers have prepared compounds such as 113 where the 4-benzyl substituent was included so as to fill the S2 pocket.²⁷⁰ Loss of activity was noted when the benzyl group was omitted or replaced by small aliphatic or cyclohexyl methyl groups, the latter being presumably too large for the S2 pocket. The binding mode of compound 113 was confirmed by its crystal structure with MMP-1, which showed the benzyl group at S2 and the isobutyl filling the S1' pocket in a manner similar to other substratelike inhibitors. The binding of the phosphinate group to the zinc was similar to that found with 111 and MMP-7. Selectivity for deep pocket enzymes was achieved by varying the P_1' position in a manner

analogous to that described for hydroxamic acid derivatives. Thus, compound **114** which has a 4-phenoxybutyl group as the P_1 ' substituent is a selective deep pocket inhibitor. Of interest is compound **115** which is selective for MMP-13 over both MMP-1 and another deep pocket enzyme MMP-3. The authors suggest that this selectivity is determined by the interaction with the S2 binding sites.²⁷⁰ Cyclic $P_2'-P_3'$ phosphonate variants have been constructed analogous to similar hydroxamate structures.^{179,271}

Castlehano has introduced the novel arylthiomethylene phosphinic acid ZBG.¹²⁴ Compounds such as the P2'-P3' linked species **116** showed useful activities. However, they were less active against all MMPs than the corresponding hydroxamic acids (e.g., **3**).

N-Phosphonoalkyl dipeptides related to these phosphinates have been prepared by Hunter et al.,²⁷² who identified such compounds as potent inhibitors of MMP-1 (e.g., **117**). Conformationally restricted versions of compound **117** in which the P_1 and P_1' substituents are incorporated within a piperidine-2-carboxylic template (e.g., **118**) have been prepared.²⁷³ As in the hydroxamic acid series, this cyclization strategy abolishes activity as an MMP inhibitor.

Morphy and co-workers have examined the effect of a number of ZBGs in a pseudodipeptide template. While the hydroxamic acid ZBG produced the most potent MMP-2 inhibitor, both the carboxylic acid and phosphonic acid derivatives were potent and selective inhibitors (MMP-2 over MMP-1).¹⁵³ Clearly any slight differences in the geometries which the various ZBGs assume on coordination to the zinc atom must be transmitted to the side-chain orientations in any general template. Consequently, while some idea of the relative binding efficiency of different ZBGs may be inferred from such studies, a true measure of their effect can only be really deduced by some side chain optimization in each particular case.

A similar study on an azalactam P2'/P3' scaffold identified the aminophosphonic acid **119**, which was \sim 10-fold less active against MMP-1 than the corresponding hydroxamic acid. Variation of the lactam ring size and the incorporation of a basic residue with the intent of increasing aqueous solubility reduced the activity of the aminophosphonates.²⁷⁴

4. Novel Zinc Binding Groups

One of the recurring themes of all investigations into new MMP inhibitors is the evaluation of potential new ZBGs: although most of this interest may be driven by the search for a proprietary intellectual position, new ZBGs may also offer a scaffold on which to better design true enzyme selective inhibitors and to overcome real or perceived liabilities with the currently used functionalities.

As described earlier, 5-substituted-1,3,4-thiadiazole-2-thiones have been identified from screening compound collections for inhibition of MMP-3.^{104,105} Previously the known metal binding properties of this group have led to it being incorporated into antioxidants useful for paints. Stockman and Finzel have optimized early screening leads into two distinct series of MMP-3 inhibitors, the amides as in PNU-141803 (**120**) and the ureas as with PNU-142372

(121). An NMR¹⁰⁵ and crystal¹⁰⁴ determination of the urea 121 bound to MMP-3 has shown it to act as a LHS inhibitor with the aromatic ring extending into the hydrophobic S3 pocket, the thiadiazole sulfur forming a binding interaction with the catalytic Zn. The Zn-S-C angle is approximately 90° and the Zn–S bond length 2.3 Å. Both the nitrogen atoms of the heterocycle form H-bonding interactions with the enzyme; the N⁴ accepts a hydrogen bond from the Ala-167 (MMP-3 numbering) backbone amide, while the N³-H forms a bifurcated H bond to the carboxylate of Glu-202. Because of the coplanarity of the ring and the functional groups, the amide NH of 120 and the urea NHs of **121** are both able to form H bonds to the carbonyl oxygen of Ala-167. Alkylation of any of these inhibitor nitrogens or substitution by a carbon is reported to remove the inhibitory activity; this lends support to the conclusions of the physical studies. An SAR study on the amino acid side chain of derivatives of the urea 121 has demonstrated the requirement for a phenethyl group over smaller substituents.²⁷⁵ The phenyl group can participate in a $\pi - \pi$ stacking interaction with the Tyr-155 (MMP-3 numbering). Enhanced stacking interaction along with hydrogen bonding via a water molecule to the His-166 both contribute to the unique potency of the pentafluoro derivative 121. The replacement of the S3 tyrosine by a serine in MMP-1 (Table 2; residue 151) may explain the lack of activity against collagenase. While differential inhibition between MMP-1 and the S1' deep pocket enzymes can be achieved by selective binding to that pocket as described earlier, this approach on its own may not be able to provide effective selectivity between the deep pocket enzymes, whatever the ZBG. The observations with these LHS inhibitors show that the unprimed sites may offer better selectivity between these enzymes, although the binding pockets do intrinsically provide less effective binding. This suggests that the unprimed subsites would be better used to modulate the binding primarily occasioned by the complexation of the ZBG and interaction with the S1' pocket.

Pyrimidin-2,3,4-trione is a novel ZBG recently described in patent applications from Grams et al. at Boehringer Mannheim.^{276,277} The binding mode is unclear, but both 122 and 123 show good activity against MMP-8 and MMP-9. A tetrapeptide sequence designed to mimic the HEXXH sequence that binds to the zinc active site has been investigated by Ferry.²⁷⁸ The pseudo peptide H–His– ϵ Ahx– β -Ala– His-OH was identified from a combinatorial library (vide infra) as a weak MMP-2 inhibitor.²⁷⁹ It is probable that these compounds do not act as true substrate inhibitors but instead chelate the activesite zinc, so converting the enzyme to an inactive form lacking the zinc ion. Potential ZBGs such as hydroxyamidines, amidopyridines, and amidomidazoles were examined as part of a comparison of the effect of different groups on a standard dipeptide framework that had given good MMP-2 inhibitory activity when attached to a hydroxamic acid group.¹⁵³ Activity was lost with the above groups which even with the caveats noted early probably is a true reflection of their potential.

Although the *N*-formylhydroxylamine ZBG was utilized in certain early MMP inhibitors,¹¹⁴ it has not received a great deal of attention. This may have been due to apparent weaker activity than the corresponding hydroxamic acid compounds.^{114,124} There may have also been concern about the possible metabolic liability of the N-formylhydroxylamine ZBG since 5-lipoxygenase inhibitors that feature the related N-acetylhydroxylamine group exhibit short half-lives in vivo.²⁸⁰ Recently, Moss and co-workers have identified a dual MMP and TACE inhibitor, GW-3333 (124), which features the N-formylhydroxylamine ZBG.²⁸¹ This compound is orally available in the rats (bioavailability 25-50%; $t_{1/2}$ 2–4 h) and was orally active in a TNF-dependent peptidoglycanpolysaccharide (PGPS) reactivation arthritis model in the rat.²⁸¹

E. Miscellaneous Natural Products

Screening has led to the discovery of both synthetic and natural product MMP inhibitors. The latter include tetracyclines such as aranciamycin and minocycline, for which it has been found that chemical modification can separate MMP activity from antibiotic activity,^{282,283} i.e., CMT-1 (**125**) (ĬC₅₀s 30 μM vs MMP-8; 1 μ M vs MMP-13). Tetracyclines which inhibit MMP-13 in vitro are also highly inhibitory of glycosaminoglycan release from IL-1-stimulated cartilage explants in culture.²⁸⁴ This may reflect the ability of some tetracyclines to inhibit bond destruction in rat models. Other natural products include catechin derivatives, 285 pycnidione, 286 and a series of futoenone derivatives (e.g., 126).287 It is not immediately apparent as to how these diverse compounds interact with MMP enzymes. It is possible that a ring hydroxyl and/or carbonyl chelates the active-site zinc(II) ion. Indeed, it has been found for the futoenone derivatives that replacement of an oxygen substituent by a sulfhydryl, as in 126, enhances inhibition of stromelysin presumably as a result of stronger zinc(II) ion chelation.²⁸⁷

Three groups of pseudopeptides Actinonin,²⁸⁸ BE-166278 [289] (Banyu), and matlystatin B (56)¹⁵⁵ have been identified as potent MMP inhibitors. All of these compounds are hydroxamic acids that bear close structural similarity to similar structures obtained by substrate-based design. Although modifications to the antibiotic actinonin have not led to significant improvement in the MMP inhibitory activity, the more potent matlystatins have been a more fruitful starting point for the development of new inhibitor series.²⁰¹⁻²⁰³ The piperazic acid derivative **127** is a modest inhibitor of MMP-3; the terminal amide establishes H-bonds between the carbonyl and amide NH of Tyr-223 (MMP-3 numbering) and the amide NH and the enzyme's Asp-162 carbonyl oxygen. Presumably the NH of the piperazic acid also provides a H-bonding interaction to the enzyme which compensates for the loss of the interaction provided by the amide NH group present between the P1' and P2' groups in classical succinate structure. As described above, the related compound R-94138 (27) is a potent inhibitor of MMP-2 and MMP-9.155 Few of the other leads identified from natural products have been as amenable to optimization. Among the more interesting are nicotianamine,²⁹⁰ betulinic acid,²⁹¹ glycyrrhetinic acid,²⁹² and rifampicin.²⁹³ All of these compounds exhibit weak inhibitory activity, and in the absence of any information about their interaction with the enzymes active site, it is unclear how to best optimize their activities.

V. Combinatorial Synthesis of MMP Inhibitors

The application of combinatorial methods in the identification and optimization of bioactive compounds is now an integral part of the drug discovery process. The methodology and philosophy of combinatorial approaches have developed considerably over the past decade and have been the subject of intense interest.²⁹⁴ At one level, combinatorial libraries can be large, random, diverse prospecting libraries which are used mainly to seek out new lead structures. Such libraries may be arrays of single compounds which may be assayed directly or defined mixtures of compounds from which active leads may be identified by an iterative deconvolution process. Another class of library is a targeted or focused library in which some concept of functionality, derived from substrate specificity and/or structural information, is incorporated into the individual library members.²¹⁶

Recently, there have been a number of reports on the application of combinatorial methods to the inhibition of therapeutically relevant enzymes including MMPs. Several reviews of the topic have appeared.^{112,113,295} For the most part, the approach taken has been to prepare targeted libraries, though some examples of the prospecting library approach have appeared. The majority of libraries feature a particular ZBG, and the effect of the attached substituents on potency and selectivity has then been investigated. The traditional substrate-based approach to inhibitor design is to attach a ZBG to a fragment of a preferred peptide substrate. This results in peptidic-based inhibitors which are highly amenable to preparation by combinatorial methods. As described above, this is a highly effective approach for the investigation of enzyme selectivity. However, a disadvantage of such an approach is that it is very difficult to obtain oral activity since the N–H group of amides is a known factor in limiting oral absorption. Furthermore, compounds based on natural amino acids may be prone to rapid proteolytic metabolism in vivo and, hence, have an unacceptably short half-life.¹⁷² Thus, there is increasing interest in the preparation of nonpeptidic MMP inhibitor libraries.

A 20 000 member library of *N*-carboxylalkyl tripeptides has been prepared by solid-phase synthesis following a combination of split/pool and indexed techniques (SpAM).^{159,296} The library was screened against MMPs-1, -2, and -3 as 100 mixtures each of 200 compounds. Due to the indexed library approach for R_4 and R_3 introduction, SAR information was obtained directly for the P1–P1' modifications and this was consistent with literature data. Deconvolution resulted in the identification of active inhibitors (e.g., **128**) (Table 3). In a similar manner, a group at

Servier identified the compound H–His– ϵ Ahx– β Ala– His-OH (129) as a weak inhibitor of MMP-2 and MMP-9 from an initial 13 824 member library (Table 3).^{278,279} In contrast to the two previous libraries, Decicco and DeGrado used solid-phase chemistry to prepare a focused 100 member library incorporating the N-carboxyalkyl ZBG. This library was targeted to identify variations of the C-terminal amide substituent of the N-carboxyalkyl library. Weak inhibition of stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) was observed for a benzhydryl P2' derivative (e.g., 130; Table 3). In subsequent noncombinatorial studies, introduction of this modification into succinyl hydroxamic acid derivatives gave more potent compounds.¹¹¹ The synergy of the application of structure-based ligand design to the combinatorial approach was highlighted by the authors.

Foley and colleagues at Glaxo-Wellcome have identified cysteine-containing dipeptide amides (RCO-Cys-AA-NH₂) as MMP inhibitors.²⁶¹ They prepared several hundred compounds using parallel solidphase synthesis on a Rink resin support. Broadspectrum activity (e.g., 131; Table 3) and selectivity against different enzymes was achieved by systematic variation of the general structure. A trifluoromethyl analogue ($R_1 = CF_3$; $R_2 = CH_2Ph$) is selective for MMP-1 over MMP-9 (IC₅₀ 40 nM; >1000 nM) possibly because the CF₃ group can hydrogen bond to the Arg-214 of the collagenase P_1' pocket via a water molecule. In contrast, a phenylpropyl analogue $(R_1 = Ph(CH_2)_3; R_2 = CH_2Ph)$ is selective for MMP-9 over MMP-1 (38 nM vs 3.5 μ M), the phenylpropyl being much more suitable for filling the deep P_1 pocket of the gelatinases.

A different series of thiol ZBG libraries derived from cysteine has been described by Campbell and colleagues at Affymax. A pharmacophore model constructed from the crystal structures of succinyl hydroxamates bound to MMPs led to the identification of 2,5-diketopeperazines DKP as a scaffold with the potential of delivering the appropriate substituents to the binding sites of the enzymes. Fortunately, DKPs have been investigated extensively in earlier combinatorial studies and the synthesis on solidphase is well developed.²⁹⁷ From 684 compounds in pools of 19, compounds such as 132 with useful activity and moderate selectivity have been identified.²⁶² The incorporation of an Ugi-reaction step in the synthesis allowed extra functionality to be introduced onto the DKP scaffold.²⁶³ Nine microtiter plates of discreet compounds were prepared, and the $IC_{50}s$ against MMP-1 were determined by a protocol that normalized measured values against product concentration. Although the majority of the compounds were inactive, several compounds derived from 4-nitrophenylalanine showed good activity. Compound 133 was a potent inhibitor of MMP-1 and 60-fold less active against MMP-8 (IC₅₀s 21 nM vs MMP-1; 1300 nM vs MMP-9). The authors suggest that the selectivity for MMP-1 may be a consequence of an interaction between the aromatic nitro group and the Arg-214 (MMP-1 numbering) of the MMP-1 S1' pocket.²⁶³

The Affymax group explored libraries of MMP inhibitors focused around ZBGs other than thiols,

	Inhibitory Activity	MMP-3 IC ₃₀ 0.4 μM	MMP-2 IC ₅₀ 400 μM MMP-9 IC ₅₀ 300 μM	MMP-3 33% inhibition at 100 μM 72% inhibition at 200 μM	MMP-1 IC ₅₀ 8 nM MMP-2 IC ₅₀ 24 nM	MMP-1 IC ₅₀ 300 nM MMP-3 IC ₅₀ 2300 nM MMP-7 IC ₅₀ 590 nM MMP-9 IC ₅₀ 113 nM	MMP-1 IC ₅₀ 21 nM MMP-2 IC ₅₀ 1300 nM	Thermolysin K _i 49 nM
		128	129	130	131	132	133	134
	Active Compound Identified	**** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *		HO H	Land the second se		Meo Meo Meo Meo Meo Meo Meo Meo Meo Meo	Z H CONH ₂
	Library Size	100 x 200	24 x 13,824	100	"Several hundred"	2 x 684	920	540
talloproteinase Inhibitor Libraries	general structure	R ⁴ H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	Tetrapeptide	HO HO HO R ³	R ¹ NH ² NH ²	H N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N		Z ^H O ^H A ²
Table 3. Matrix Me	ref	159, 296	278, 279	111	261	262	263	299

Whittaker et al.



including phosphonates^{298,299} and more recently carboxylates.³⁰⁰ In the former study, compounds were screened against the bacterial metalloenzyme thermolysin while attached to beads using an enzyme depletion assay procedure. Iterative deconvolution was then employed for identification of active compounds (e.g., 134). In the latter study, a library of 324 dipeptide succinates was prepared on Tentagel beads following a "split-mix" protocol using secondary amine encoding tags.³⁰¹ Following photolytic cleavage, the library was screened against matrilysin in a novel high-density nanowell array format. This study provided direct SAR for the P2' and P3' amino acids, and the re-synthesis of two inhibitors led to the identification of carboxylate 135 as an inhibitor of MMP-7 (Table 3).³⁰¹

Related succinate inhibitors have been prepared by parallel solution-phase synthesis using the Ugi multicomponent reaction.^{302,303} The carboxylic acid products, while active as MMP inhibitors (e.g., **136**; Table 3), can be converted to the more potent hydroxamic acids. The transformation to the hydroxamic acids is not a very efficient process and requires product purification by preparative HPLC, which, however, does separate the diastereoisomers. In the special case where a hydroxy group is present α to the hydroxamic acid as in analogues of marimastat (**12**), the desired hydroxamates were obtained directly in a one-pot five-component condensation.³⁰³

The importance of the hydroxamic acid group as a potent ZBG and the frequency of its incorporation in diverse series of MMP inhibitors led us to develop a versatile solid-phase route to compounds bearing this group.²⁰⁷ Since our first reports on the use of hydroxylamine presenting resins, they have been the subject of intense interest.^{304–313} In particular, we have used such a modified Wang resin in the preparation of a 500 member library of left-hand side tripeptide hydroxamates Z–AA₃–AA₂–AA₁–NHOH.^{207,314,315}

To identify optimal amino acids for each subsite and so improve the inhibitory potency of the literature lead compound Z-Pro-Leu-Ala-NHOH (2), a 500 member library was generated as 10 mixtures each of 50 compounds in which the identity of the amino acid at P1 was defined but varied at the P2 and P3 positions (Figure 7). The tripeptide library mixtures, prepared using standard Fmoc protocols, were cleaved from the resin to give the product hydroxamic acids. Although assay of the mixtures against MMP-1, MMP-2, and MMP-3 suggested that D-leucine at P1 would give selectivity for MMP-2 while L-isoleucine at this position would provide potent broad-spectrum activity (Figure 8), iterative deconvolution of the mixtures with P1 D-leucine and P1 L-isoleucine in each case did not lead to the identification of compounds with improved activity over the literature lead compound 2. This result probably reflects insufficient diversity within the library or cooperative effects between the mixture components on assay. With this experience, we decided to concentrate on producing single compounds by parallel synthesis methods. From the synthesis of over 200 individual tripeptides, it was found that substitution of L-proline by L-thioproline



500 compounds (10 mixtures of 50 compounds)

Figure 7. Left-hand side matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor library.



Figure 8. First-level assay of left-hand side matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor library.

at P3 and L-leucine by L-homophenylalanine at P2 gave a significant improvement in the inhibition of MMP-2 and MMP-3 (compound **137**). We found that L-stereochemistry and an extended side chain at P1 gave nanomolar inhibition of the three enzymes evaluated (compounds **138** and **139**). While there is a X-ray crystal structure of a tripeptide (Pro-Leu-Ala-NHOH) bound into the left-hand side (unprimed region) of the active site of MMP-8,⁸³ it does not necessarily follow that the more potent analogues adopt a similar binding mode. Although this study provided useful SAR and demonstrated the ability to optimize inhibitory activity by combinatorial methods, the peptidic nature of the compounds limits their utility as pharmaceutical agents.

The introduction of the hydroxamate ZBG into succinyl-based MMP inhibitors has been achieved, albeit as a mixture of regioisomers, by the reaction of succinic anhydrides with an *O*-hydroxylaminetrityl resin.³⁰⁵ A novel series of hydroxamic acid sulfones (e.g., **62**) have been prepared using a solid-phase method by Burns and co-workers.²¹⁵ The precursor carboxylic acids were prepared by the addition of a thiophenol to a Wang resin bound acrylic acid and subsequent oxidation and, following cleavage from the resin, converted them to hydroxamic acids by capture and release from hydroxylamine resin. The

compounds obtained included both broad-spectrum and selective MMP inhibitors.

A solution-phase prospecting library of 1600 compounds in pools of 40s was prepared using a technique that provided an internal method of deconvolution. The amide **140** was identified as a weak inhibitor of MMP-1.³¹⁶ The absence of subsequent patent applications on this series would suggest it has not proven to be a suitable lead into a new MMP inhibitor series.

VI. Pharmacological Effects in Disease Models

MMP inhibitors have been evaluated in a wide range of animal models of human disease. As with all in vivo pharmacological experiments, difficulties have often been encountered in ensuring sufficient exposure to the MMP inhibitors. This is particularly a problem in rodent models where rapid compound metabolism can often occur. Nevertheless, promising pharmacological effects have been observed with MMP inhibitors in animal models. In this section, an overview is given on the effects of MMP inhibitors in animal models of cancer and inflammation. There have been a number of reviews which specifically discuss the role of MMPs in cancer^{317–324} and inflammatory diseases.^{1,325–328}

A. Cancer

The ability of MMP inhibitors to restrict invasive tumor growth and metastasis has been demonstrated in a wide variety of animal cancer models. In early studies, the broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor SC-44463 (9) was shown to block organ colonization, or experimental metastasis, in mice innoculated with B16 murine melanoma cells.³²⁹ More recently, MMP inhibitors have been tested in more complex and clinically relevant cancer models. In a study of a rat mammary carcinoma, Eccles and co-workers demonstrated effective suppression of micrometastatic disease with the broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor batimastat (1).³³⁰ Animals were treated with short (7 days) and long (58 days) courses of batimastat starting just prior to the removal of the primary tumor grown adjacent to the mammary fat pad. Animals treated with the short course developed significantly fewer lung metastases than animals receiving a vehicle control, but approximately half of these animals developed local and distant lymph node metastases which led to significant morbidity. These lymphatic metastases, however, remained as silent micrometastases in animals receiving the long course of batimastat. This is a finding with obvious relevance for the adjuvant treatment of breast cancer.

Other studies have shown inhibition of the growth of human carcinomas established as xenografts either subcutaneously or by orthotopic implantation in the tissue of the human primary site. Both batimastat³³¹ and the selective inhibitor CT1746 (**41**)¹⁷⁵ have been shown to inhibit the local invasive growth and spread of orthotopically implanted human colorectal carcinoma. Batimastat was shown to inhibit the local regrowth of MBA-MD-435 human breast carcinoma following resection in nude mice³³² and to reduce tumor growth and prolong survival in a xenograft model of human pancreatic cancer.³³³ Batimastat also has a cytostatic effect in an orthotopic metastatic human hepatocellular carcinoma model in nude mice.³³⁴

The deep pocket MMP selective inhibitor AG3340 (60) has shown a range of effects in animals including inhibition of tumor growth in models of human glioma,³³⁵ human colon carcinoma,³³⁶ Lewis lung carcinoma,²¹³ and human nonsmall cell lung cancer.³³⁷ When dosed intraperitoneally in the Lewis lung carcinoma model, AG3340 abolished primary tumor growth in four out of six mice. In addition, the formation of secondary tumors greater than 5 mm in diameter was reduced by 90%.²¹³ The deep pocket selective inhibitor BAY 12-9566 (86) has shown similar activity in models of Lewis lung carcinoma and B16 melanoma.³³⁸ Both broad-spectrum (batimastat)³³⁹ and selective MMP inhibitors (BAY 12-9566)³⁴⁰ have shown antiangiogenic activity when tested in the Matrigel implant model.

MMP inhibitors have also been studied in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapies in animal cancer models. In these studies, the antitumor effects appear to be additive without additional marked toxicity. This has been observed for CT1746 (**41**) in combination with cisplatin or cyclophosphamide in the Lewis lung carcinoma model,¹⁷⁴ for AG3340 (**60**) in combination with carboplatin in a human lung cancer model,³⁴¹ for batimastat in combination with cisplatin in a human ovarian cancer model,³⁴² and for R-94138 (**27**) in combination with mitomycin C in a human gastric cancer model.³⁴³ In the latter study, a combination of R-94138 and cisplatin was also investigated, but this was no more effective than cisplatin alone.³⁴³

On the basis of these experimental results and from theoretical considerations it would seem that the use of MMP inhibitors in combination with chemotherapies in patients with minimal or microscopic disease may be of benefit. Similar arguments have been made for other nonchemotherapy based cancer treatments such as the monoclonal antibody 17-A which has been tested in colorectal patients with minimal residual disease.³⁴⁴ Finally, there are also indications that MMP inhibitors may have a chemopreventative potential. In a *Min* model of intestinal tumorigenesis, batimastat was able to suppress the development of tumors by nearly 50%.³⁴⁵

B. Inflammation

The migration of leucocytes through connective tissues, tissue destruction, remodeling, and angiogenesis observed in inflammatory diseases mirror similar MMP-driven processes in cancer.³⁴⁶ There is now a considerable body of evidence that inflammatory leucocytes in culture and inflamed tissues in vivo express multiple MMPs.³²⁶ The inhibition of the TNF- α converting enzyme (TACE, ADAM-17) also confers an added antiinflammatory potential to some MMP inhibitors,³³ such as BB-1101 (**11**). It is therefore not surprising that MMP inhibitors have been shown to be effective in a number of animal models of inflammatory disease, described below. The relative contributions of MMP inhibition and TACE inhibition will remain unclear until compounds which are specific for TACE and MMPs are tested. We have briefly reviewed below those diseases for which there is animal model data indicative of MMP inhibitor efficacy.

1. Arthritis

Degradation of the extracellular matrix is a characteristic of both rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis.1 Adjuvant arthritis is an arthritis-like syndrome that can be induced in rodents following injection with complete Freunds adjuvant. Batimastat (1) given intraperitoneally from onset of symptoms significantly reduced paw oedema bone degradation and cartilage breakdown.³⁴⁷ BB-1101 (11) given orally also reduced paw oedema and bone degradation.¹³⁶ The reduction in paw swelling was attributed in part to the antiinflammatory effect of inhibiting TACE.¹³⁶ A succinyl hydroxamate, GI168, administered prior to symptom onset significantly reduced ankle swelling, bone and cartilage destruction, and the deposition of new bone and pannus.³⁴⁸ The thiol MMP inhibitor 95 was also reported to reduce paw oedema in the adjuvant arthritis model.²⁴⁹ The sulfonamide hydroxamate CGS 27023A (58) inhibited cartilage proteoglycan loss in the rabbit following direct injection of stromelysin into the knee joint^{205,349} and also in a partial menisectomy model of osteoarthritis.^{53,350} The collagenase-selective compound Ro 32-3555 (52) inhibited the degradation of articular cartilage in a rat monoarthritis model induced by an intra-articular injection of Propionibacterium acnes.¹⁹² Interestingly, Ro 32-3555 did not show an effect in an adjuvant arthritis model.¹⁹² However, the compound inhibited both cartilage and bone changes in a mouse model of osteoarthritis.³⁵¹ The potent TACE inhibitor GW-3333 (124) inhibited joint swelling, limp response, and body weight loss in a peptidoglycan-polysaccharide reactivation arthritis model in the rat following oral dosing.²⁸¹

2. Restenosis

Restenosis is a complication of balloon catheter angioplasty, which is used to treat atherosclerosis. Restenosis also occurs in rats following balloon angioplasty. Batimastat (1) given for 7–14 days post angioplasty was shown to significantly reduce thickening of the carotid artery.³⁵² In similar studies, treatment with GM6001 (**39**) caused a transient effect on vessel thickening,³⁵³ and reduced collagen deposition in the vessel wall.³⁵⁴

3. Aortic Aneurysm

Experimental aortic aneurysm can be induced in rats following a brief perfusion of elastase. Batimastat (1) reduced the extent of vascular inflammation and aortic enlargement associated with this model.³⁵⁵ In a rodent arteriovenous fistula model, administration of the deep pocket selective MMP inhibitor RS-113,456 (**63**) limited flow-mediated arterial enlargement.²¹⁷

4. Glomerulonephritis

Glomerulonephritis, a nephritic syndrome which results in destruction and fibrosis of the kidney, can

Table 4. Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors in Development^a

company	compound	indication(s)	status	structure		
Agouron	AG3340	Cancer	Phase III	60		
		Macular degeneration	Phase II			
Bayer	BAY 12-9566	Cancer	Phase III	86		
British Biotech	Marimastat (BB-2516)	Cancer	Phase III	12		
British Biotech	BB-3644	Cancer	Phase I	NR		
Chiroscience	D1927	Cancer	Preclinical	NR		
Chiroscience	D2163	Cancer	Phase I	98		
	(BMS 275291)					
CollaGenex	Metastat	Cancer	Preclinical	NR		
Novartis	CGS 27023A	Arthritis/cancer	Phase I	58		
Roche	Ro 32-3555	Arthritis	Phase II	52		
Roche Bioscience	RS-130,830	Osteoarthritis	Phase I	64		
^a NR: Structure has not been released.						

be generated in rats by injection of an antibody against Thy-1.1. BB-1101 (**11**) given prior to disease induction significantly reduced the inflammatory response and kidney damage but was less effective given postinduction.³⁵⁶

5. Multiple Sclerosis

In experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a model of multiple sclerosis (MS), rodents are immunized with myelin or one of its protein components in adjuvant, resulting in an autoimmune inflammation of the brain and spinal cord. Adoptive transfer of activated myelin-specific T cells can also result in a similar disease with recurrent episodes of paralysis. An MS-like lesion can also be induced in the brain by the generation of a delayed-type hypersensitivity response (DTH).

Gijbels and co-workers have shown that GM-6001 (**39**) given continuously or from disease onset can reduce symptoms in EAE.³⁵⁷ Hewson and co-workers using Ro 31–9790 (**40**) showed a reduction in disease severity in both EAE and in an adoptive transfer EAE model when given from the start of the model.³⁵⁸ BB-1101 (**11**) reduced the severity of disease in EAE¹³⁷ and both the severity and incidence of relapse in chronic relapsing EAE.³⁵⁹ BB-1101 was also shown to inhibit the inflammation and demyelination associated with the DTH model.³⁶⁰

6. Guillain Barré Syndrome

Guillain Barré syndrome (GBS) is an acute inflammatory paralytic disease of the peripheral nervous system in which leucocytes infiltrate nerves causing demyelination and oedema. An animal model of GBS, experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN), is induced in rodents by immunization with peripheral nerve myelin. This results in a T cell-dependent inflammation in peripheral nerves leading to paralysis. BB-1101 (**11**) given from initiation in EAN prevented the development of symptoms and reduced the inflammation, demyelination, and weight loss.³⁶¹ When given from onset of symptoms, the compound significantly reduced disease severity.

7. Stroke

Animal models of stroke usually involve clipping or blocking the mid-cerebral artery to give either permanent or temporary occlusion and reperfusion. Alternatively, injection of blood or bacterial collagenase into the brain can cause a local haemorrhage. An inflammatory infiltrate is associated with the damaged region in these models. BB-1101 (**11**) reduces the early phases of blood-brain barrier leakage in an ischemia reperfusion model in the rat and the secondary brain oedema which occurs following haemorrhage.^{362,363}

8. Bacterial Meningitis

Rodents can develop bacterial meningitis following infection with bacteria. Batimastat (1) was effective in reducing intracranial pressure and blood-brain barrier breakdown in a model of meningococcal meningitis.³⁶⁴

9. Uveoretinitis

Uveoretinitis is an autoimmune inflammatory disease of the eye. Rodent models of uveitis involve immunization with retinal antigens in adjuvant. Treatment with BB-1101 (**11**) was shown to reduce retinal damage in experimental autoimmune uveitis.³⁶⁵

10. Graft-Versus-Host Disease

Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) can be a major complication following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. In a mouse model of lethal acute GVHD administration of KB–R7785 (**42**) reduced mortality.³⁶⁶ This effect was attributed to the inhibition of both TNF- α and Fas ligand release by KB–R7785.

11. Noninsulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus

TNF- α is a key mediator of insulin resistance in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. In a mouse model of insulin resistance, administration of KB– R7785 (**42**) resulted in a significant decrease in both plasma glucose and insulin levels.³⁶⁷ It is suggested that KB–R7785 exerts its antidiabetic effect by ameliorating insulin sensitivity through the inhibition of TNF- α production.

VII. Clinical Development of MMP Inhibitors

The clinical development of MMP inhibitors has to date been focused largely on cancer, although more recently these compounds are being tested in a range of other indications (Table 4). The earliest MMP inhibitors to be tested in patients were characterized

Table 5. Single-Dose Pharmacokinetic Profiles for Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors in Healthy Volunteers

compound	dose (mg)	$C_{\rm max}$ (μ g/L)	$T_{\rm max}$ (h)	$AUC_{0-\infty}$	<i>t</i> _{1/2} (h)
AG-3340	10 50	127 620	1.5	274 μg·h/L 1440 μg·h/L	3-6
BAY 12-9566	400	29 mg/L		527 mg·h/L ^a	90-100
Marimastat	50	192	1.9	992 $\mu g \cdot h/L^a$	7-10
	400	1413	2.8	9904 $\mu \mathbf{g} \cdot \mathbf{h}/\mathbf{L}^a$	
Ro 32-3555	50	1272	0.6	6140 µg·h/L	24
^a 0–24 h AUC.					

by their poor oral bioavailability. Consequently, alternative routes of administration were explored. Ilomastat (GM6001) (39) was administered in eye drops to normal volunteers and subsequently to patients with corneal ulcers.³⁶⁸ Batimastat (BB-94) (1) was administered directly into the peritoneum or pleural space of patients with malignant effusions. A phase I study of intraperitoneal batimastat was conducted in patients with symptomatic malignant ascites. Patients with any form of malignancy who required paracentesis for symptomatic relief were eligible for the study. Patients received a single intraperitoneal dose of batimastat in 500 mL 5% dextrose (150-1350 mg/m²) after paracentesis. In this study, batimastat was generally well tolerated and there were early signs of efficacy with several patients requiring no further paracentesis for over 3 months. The intraperitoneal administration of batimastat also gave rise to an unexpectedly high and sustained plasma concentrations of the drug with 100–200 ng/mL batimastat still detectable 28 days after a single administration.³⁶⁹ Further development of batimastat for this indication was hindered by peritoneal irritation and poor tolerability.

A second phase I study of batimastat of similar design was conducted in patients with malignant pleural effusion. Patients with symptomatic malignant pleural effusion received lower doses of batimastat (15–135 mg/m²), given intrapleurally in 50 mL 5% dextrose after aspiration of the effusion. Batimastat was well tolerated, and again there were early signs that the drug might be effective in palliation of this condition. In patients receiving batimastat at $60-135 \text{ mg/m}^2$ there was a significant reduction in the number of aspirations.³⁷⁰

Another series of early clinical trials involved the use of tetracycline derivatives with anticollagenase activity. In a placebo-controlled study, lymecycline in combination with conventional nonsteroidal antiinflammatory treatment resulted in a decrease in the severity and duration of reactive arthritis triggered by Clamydia trachomatis.³⁷¹ Low-dose doxycycline (20 mg twice daily) was also reported to decrease urinary pyridinoline collagen cross-link excretion in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.³⁷² In a randomized study of patients with periodontal disease, tetracycline and minocycline gels were shown to significantly reduce the concentration of stromelysin in gingival crevicular fluid. This effect was not observed with metronidazole antimicrobial treatment.³⁷³ Recently, Periostat (doxycycline hydrate) has been licensed for periodontal disease in the United States.³⁷⁴ The relative importance of the antimicrobial and antimetalloproteinase properties in mediating these different effects will become clearer with the development and testing of nonantimicrobial tetracycline derivatives such as Metastat (Table 4).

In the past 2-3 years a number of second-generation orally bioavailable MMP inhibitors have started clinical trials including marimastat (BB-2516) (12), BAY 12-9566 (86), AG3340 (60), CGS-27023A (58), D2163 (98), and Ro 32-3555 (52). Pharmacokinetic parameters from phase I studies in healthy volunteers are presented for some of these compounds in Table 5. Marimastat and AG3340 appear to give broadly similar plasma exposure as measured by total drug AUC (area under the curve).375-377 In contrast, BAY 12-9566 gives much higher plasma exposure with a prolonged elimination half-life.^{378,379} This prolonged half-life may be attributable to high plasma protein binding. The pharmacokinetics of BAY 12–9566 are similar in both healthy volunteers and cancer patients, and there are indications of saturation of absorption.³⁸⁰ The plasma exposure of marimastat is higher in patients with advanced cancer than in healthy volunteers.³⁸¹

Results from later stage trials have only been presented for the treatment of patients with cancer. Since this class of agent is noncytotoxic, conventional oncology measures, such as cytoreductive tumor responses, could not be used to establish activity. In early trials with marimastat, cancer antigens were used as surrogate markers of disease stabilization. Using this approach, a combined analysis of a series of six similarly designed phase II trials has revealed a dose-dependent reduction in the rate of rise of these serum markers.^{381–383} This has helped to define a biologically active dose range of 10-50 mg administered twice daily. The upper limit of this dose range was further refined by the finding that a dose of 50 mg twice daily was not well tolerated for longer than 1 month. In these and other studies, the principal side effect of marimastat has been identified as musculoskeletal pain and inflammation. This is manifested most commonly as tenderness, pain, and restriction of movement in the upper shoulder girdle, although other joints in the arms and legs have been affected.^{381,384} The condition was shown to be largely reversible, and patients have continued treatment after a 2-4 week drug holiday.

Recently, we used a rodent model to investigate the effect of MMP inhibitor selectivity on the development of tendinitis.³⁸⁵ In this model, broad-spectrum MMP inhibitors cause tendinitis, whereas this is not observed for collagenase selective inhibitors or deep pocket selective inhibitors. Interestingly, broad-spectrum MMP inhibitors which are also powerful inhibitors of TACE did not cause tendinitis. In the

tendinitis model, inhibitor blood levels were maintained at 150–300 ng/mL. In parallel studies of anticancer efficacy in the B16 melanoma model, only the broad-spectrum and broad-spectrum plus sheddase inhibitors inhibited tumor growth (inhibitor blood levels were 50–190 ng/mL). This suggests that some product of the sheddase reaction may contribute to the tendinitic syndrome. In these comparative studies in the rat tendinitis model and the B16 melanoma model, care was taken to ensure similar exposure levels to the MMP inhibitors under investigation. This was achieved by continuous administration of compounds using osmotic minipumps to ensure that similar blood levels were maintained with each compound throughout each study. We consider that it is necessary to carefully control exposure in this manner in order to make a valid comparison between the pharmacology of broadspectrum and selective MMP inhibitors. It is possible that at high exposure levels such compounds are no longer selective and may in fact exhibit broadspectrum activity. This may explain studies in which MMP inhibitors with deep pocket selectivity have been shown to be effective at inhibiting tumor growth in the B16 model.^{213,236} Contrary to our results, Bird and co-workers proposed that it is the inhibition of non-MMP metalloproteinase enzymes such as TACE which gives rise to the musculoskeletal side effects.²⁵⁰

In a separate study, patients with advanced gastric cancer were examined endoscopically before and after 4 weeks treatment with marimastat given at 25 mg once daily or 50 mg twice daily. Treatment at both doses was shown to be associated with changes in the macroscopic and histological appearance of the tumors, consistent with an increase in the quantity of fibrotic stromal tissue. The changes were very similar to those seen in various cancer models, and several of the patients appeared to benefit from these alterations in tumor/stroma ratio.³⁸⁶

The safety and tolerability of marimastat has also been studied in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapies. Results from a trial of marimastat and carboplatin in patients with advanced ovarian cancer showed that the two agents could be administered in combination without apparent potentiation of the side effects of either drug.³⁸⁷ Similarly, marimastat and gemcitabine appear to be well tolerated in combination in patients with pancreatic cancer.³⁸⁸ These results are important since animal cancer model data indicate that it is likely that MMP inhibitors will be most effective if used early in combination with chemotherapy.

An alternative approach to the use of cancer antigens as pharmacodynamic markers has been reported for BAY 12-9566. In a phase I study in patients with advanced malignancy plasma levels of the angiogenesis-related growth factors, VEGF and bFGF were measured along with urinary levels of pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline collagen cross links. Unfortunately, no effect on these markers was detected in the first 11 patients with doses of up to 400 mg 3 times daily.³⁸⁹

Marimastat, AG3340, and BAY 12–9566 are currently being tested in a range of randomized placebo-

controlled studies in patients with advanced pancreatic, prostatic, gastric, lung, breast, and ovarian cancers, as well as in patients with glioblastoma. Although advanced cancer may not be the ideal setting for a tumorostatic agent, these trials may show a progression-free or overall survival advantage for patients receiving MMP inhibitor treatment and should also provide the sort of controlled safety data that will be required to conduct studies in the adjuvant setting, where from a theoretical basis one might expect the effects of these inhibitors to be greatest. Preliminary results from the first of these studies have been released. The trial compared the effect on overall survival of three different doses of marimastat to a standard regimen of gemcitabine in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. None of the marimastat doses showed superiority to gemcitabine, and the median survival of patients at all three marimastat doses was inferior to that of gemcitabine patients. However, the 12 month survival of patients receiving the high dose of marimastat was the same as the gemcitabine patients, and a Cox proportional hazards analysis suggested that this dose was superior to the two lower doses.

VIII. Conclusion

The worldwide effort on MMP research has led to the discovery of a remarkably diverse group of compounds which are effective inhibitors of these enzymes. Despite this structural diversity, it has not yet been possible to identify specific inhibitors for each of the MMP enzymes. However, a number of compounds have been identified which exhibit a preference for the inhibition of MMPs with a deep S1' pocket over those with a short S1' pocket. The merits of such selectivity will ultimately only be discovered in the clinic, but there are indications that selective inhibitors are less effective than broadspectrum MMP inhibitors in animal models of cancer. This is not surprising given the multiple expression of MMPs in cancer and other diseases.

Thus, MMP inhibitors may be an important new class of therapeutic agents for the treatment of diseases characterized by excessive extracellular matrix degradation and/or remodeling, such as cancer and chronic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, atherosclerosis, and MS. However, rather than treating the primary cause of the disease, they will serve as disease-modifying agents which should stabilize the condition. In addition, they may also be useful in more acute inflammatory settings such as stroke and meningitis. Results from randomized clinical trials which will become available in the next few years will define the true utility of MMP inhibitors.

IX. Acknowledgments

The authors thank the many scientists at British Biotech and our many collaborators who have been involved in the MMP inhibitor research and development program. Thanks are due also to Jenny Edge for assistance in the preparation of this review and Drs. Paul Beckett, Alan Drummond, and Jac Wijkmans for helpful discussions.

X. References

- (1) Cawston, T. E. Pharm. Ther. 1996, 70, 163.
- Johnson, L. L.; Dyer, R.; Hupe, D. J. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. (2)1998, 2, 466.
- Massova, I.; Kotra, L. P.; Fridman, R.; Mobashery, S. FASEB J. 1998, 12, 1075.
- (4) Gersh, I.; Catchpole, H. R. Am. J. Anat. 1949, 85, 457.
- Gross, J.; Lapiere, C. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1962, 48, (5)1014
- (6) Wilhelm, S. C.; Eisen, A. Z.; Teter, M.; Clark, S. D.; Kronberger, A.; Goldberg, G. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1986**, *83*, 3756.
 (7) Hasty, K. A.; Pourmotabbed, T. F.; Goldberg, G. I.; Thompson, C. D. Stattart, C. S. Stattart, S. Stattart, S. S
- J. P.; Spinella, D. G.; Stevens, R. M.; Mainardi, C. L. J. Biol. Chem. 1990, 265, 11421.
- Collier, I. E.; Wilhelm, S. M.; Eisen, A. Z.; Marmer, B. L.; Grant, G. A.; Seltzer, J. L.; Kronberger, A.; He, C.; Bauer, E. A.; Goldberg, G. I. J. Biol. Chem. **1988**, 263, 6579.
- Wilhelm, S. M.; Collier, I. E.; Marmer, B. L.; Eisen, A. Z.; Grant, G. A.; Goldberg, G. I. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 17213.
- (10) Liotta, L. A.; Tryggvason, K.; Garbisa, S.; Robey, P. G.; Abe, S. Biochemistry 1981, 20, 100.
- Biochemistry 1981, 20, 100.
 (11) Senior, R. M.; Griffin, G. L.; Fliszar, C. J.; Shapiro, S. D.; Goldberg, G. I.; Welgus, H. G. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 7870.
 (12) Wilhelm, S. M.; Collier, I. E.; Kronberger, A.; Eisen, A. Z.; Marmer, B. L.; Grant, G. G.; Bauer, E. A.; Goldberg, G. I. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1987, 84, 6725.
 (13) Muller, D.; Quantin, B.; Gesnel, M. C.; Millon-Collard, R.; Abecassis, J.; Breathnach, R. Biochem. J. 1988, 253, 187.
 (14) Basset, P.; Belloga, J. P.; Wolf, C.; Stoll, L.; Hutin, P.; Limacher.
- (14) Basset, P.; Bellocq, J. P.; Wolf, C.; Stoll, I.; Hutin, P.; Limacher, J. M.; Podhajcer, O. L.; Chenard, M. P.; Rio, M. C.; Chambon, P. Nature 1990, 348, 699.
 (15) M. M. M. M. Start, M. P. C. C. Stoll, S. C. C. M. Start, M. Start, S. C. Start, S. Start, S.
- (15) Von Marschall, Z.; Riecken, E. O.; Rosewicz, S. Gut 1998, 43, 692
- (16)Ahmad, A.; Hanby, A.; Dublin, E.; Poulsom, R.; Smith, P.; Barnes, D.; Rubens, R.; Anglard, P.; Hart, I. Am. J. Pathol. 1998, 152, 721.
- (17) Pei, D.; Majmudar, G.; Weiss, S. J. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 25849
- (18)Quantin, B.; Murphy, G.; Breathnach, R. Biochemistry 1989, 28, 5325.
- (19) Shapiro, S. D.; Kobayashi, D. K.; Ley, T. J. J. Biol. Chem. 1993, 268, 23824.
- Chandler, S.; Cossins, J.; Lury, J.; Wells, G. Biochem. Biophys. (20) (21) Sato, H.; Takino, T.; Okada, Y.; Cao, J.; Shinagawa, A.; Yama (21) Sato, H.; Takino, T.; Okada, Y.; Cao, J.; Shinagawa, A.; Yama-
- moto, E.; Seiki, M. Nature **1994**, 370, 61.
- Will, H.; Hinzmann, B. Eur. J. Biochem. 1995, 231, 602. (22)
- Takino, T.; Sato, H.; Shinagawa, A.; Seiki, M. J. Biol. Chem. (23)1995, *270*, 23013.
- (24) Puente, X. S.; Pendas, A. M.; Llano, E.; Velasco, G.; Lopez-Otin, C. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 944.
- (25)Strongin, A.; Collier, I.; Bannikov, G.; Marmer, B. L.; Grant, G. A.; Goldberg G. I. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 5331.
- (26) Ohuchi, E.; Imai, K.; Sato, H.; Seiki, M.; Okada, Y. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 2446.
- (27)Cossins, J.; Dudgeon, T. J.; Catlin, G.; Gearing, A. J. H.; Clements, J. M. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1996, 228, 494.
- (28) Pendas, A. M.; Knauper, V.; Puente, X. S.; Llano, E.; Mattei, M.-G.; Apte, S.; Murphy, G.; Lopez-Otin, C. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 4281.
- (29) Llano, E.; Pendas, A. M.; Knauper, V.; Sorsa, T.; Salo, T.; Salido, E.; Murphy, G.; Simmer, J. P.; Bartlett, J. D.; Lopez-Otin, C. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 15101.
- (30) Gururajan, R.; Grenet, J.; Lahti, J. M.; Kidd, V. J. *Genomics* **1998**, *52*, 101.
- Velasco, G.; Pendas, A. M.; Fueyo, A.; Knauper, V.; Murphy, G.; Lopez-Otin, C. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274*, 4570. (31)
- (32) Mohler, K. M.; Sleath, P. R.; Fitzner, J. N.; Cerretti, D. P.; Alderson, M.; Kerwar, S. S.; Torrance, D. S.; Otten-Evans, C.; Greenstreet, T.; Weerawarna, K.; Kronheim, S. R.; Petersen, M.; Gerhart, M.; Kozlosky, C. J.; March, C. J.; Black, R. A. Nature 1994, 370, 218.
- (33) Gearing, A. J. H.; Beckett, P.; Christodoulou, M.; Churchill, M.; Clements, J.; Davidson, A. H.; Drummond, A. H.; Galloway, W. A.; Gilbert, R.; Gordon, J. L.; Leber, T. M.; Mangan, M.; Miller, K.; Nayee, P.; Owen, K.; Patel, S.; Thomas, W.; Wells, G.; Wood, L. M.; Woolley, K. Nature 1994, 370, 555.
- (34) McGeehan, G. M.; Becherer, J. D.; Bast, R. C., Jr.; Boyer, C. M.; Champion, B.; Connolly, K. M.; Conway, J. G.; Furdon, P.; Karp, S.; Kidao, S.; McElroy, A. B.; Nichols, J.; Pryzwansky, K. M.; Schoenen, F.; Sekut, L.; Truesdale, A.; Verghese, M.; Warner, J.; Ways, J. P. *Nature* **1994**, *370*, 558.
 Black, R. A.; Rauch, C. T.; Kozlosky, C. J.; Peschon, J. J.; Slack,
- J. L. Nature **1997**, 385, 729.
 (36) Moss, M. L.; Jin, S. L.; Milla, M. E.; Burkhart, W.; Carter, H. L.
- Nature 1997, 385, 733.

- (37) Christie, G., Barton, A.; Bolognese, B.; Buckle, D. R.; Cook, R. M.; Hansbury, M. J.; Harper, G. P.; Marshall, L. A.; McCord, M. E.; Moulder, K.; Seal, S. M.; Spackman, V. M.; Weston, B. J.; Mayer, R. J. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **1997**, *27*, 3228.
 (38) Wheeler, D. J.; Parveen, S.; Pollock, K.; Williams, R. J. *Immunology* **1998**, *95*, 105.
 (39) Marolawski A. E. Buchle, D. D. Charles, March and A. F. Buchle, D. D. Charles, March and Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, D. D. Charles, March and Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, D. D. Charles, March and Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, D. D. Charles, March and Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, D. D. Charles, Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, D. B. Charles, Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, B. Charles, Marolawski, Marolawski, A. E. Buchle, B. Charles, Marolawski, Marolawski, Marolawski, Marolaws (37) Christie, G.; Barton, A.; Bolognese, B.; Buckle, D. R.; Cook, R.
- Marolewski, A. E.; Buckle, D. R.; Christie, G.; Earnshaw, D. L.; (39) Flamberg, P. L.; Marshall, L. A.; Smith, D. G.; Mayer, R. J. Biochem. J. **1998**, 333, 573.
- Marshall, L. A.; Hansbury, M. J.; Bolognese, B. J.; Gum, R. J.; Young, P. R.; Mayer, R. *J. Immunology* **1998**, 6005. (40)
- Gallearobache, S.; Morand, V.; Millet, S.; Bruneau, J. M.; (41)Bhatnagar, N.; Chouaib, S.; Romanroman, S. Cytokine 1997, 9, 340.
- (42) Gomis-Ruth, F.-X.; Maskos, K.; Betz, M.; Bergner, A.; Huber, R.; Suzuki, K.; Yoshida, N.; Nagase, H.; Brew, K.; Bourenkov, G. P.; Bartunik, H.; Bode, W. *Nature* **1997**, *389*, 77.
- (43) Murphy, G.; Nguyen, Q.; Cockett, M. I.; Atkinson, S. J.; Allan, J. A.; Knight, C. G.; Willenbrock, F.; Docherty, A. J. P. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1994**, *269*, 6632.
- (44)
- Docherty, A. J. P.; Lyons, A.; Smith, B. J.; Wright, E. M.;
 Stephens, P. E.; Harris, T. J. R. *Nature* 1985, *318*, 66.
 Stetler-Stevenson, W. G.; Krutzsch, H. C.; Liotta, L. A. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1989, *264*, 17374. (45)
- Apte, S. S.; Mattei, M. G.; Olsen, B. R. *Genomics* **1994**, *19*, 86. Greene, J.; Wang, M. S.; Liu, Y. L. E.; Raymond, L. A.; Rosen, C.; Shi, Y. N. E. J. Biol. Chem. **1996**, *271*, 30375. (46)(47)
- (48) Butler, T. A.; Zhu, C.; Mueller, R. A.; Fuller, G. C.; Lemaire, W. J.; Woessner, J. F. Biol. Reprod. 1991, 44, 1183
- (49) Graham, C. H.; Lala, P. K. J. Cell. Physiol. 1991, 148, 228.
- (50) Gack, S.; Vallon, R.; Schmidt, J.; Grigoriadis, A.; Tuckermann, J.; Schenkel, J.; Weiher, H.; Wagner, E. F.; Angel, P. Cell Growth Diff. 1995, 6, 759.
- (51) Karelina, T. V.; Goldberg, G. I.; Eisen, A. Z. J. Invest. Derm. **1994**, *103*, 482.
- (52)
- Lund, L. R.; Romer, J.; Thomasset, N.; Solberg, H.; Pyke, C.; Bissell, M. J.; Dano, K.; Werb, Z. *Development* **1996**, *122*, 181. O'Byrne, E. M.; Parker, D. T.; Roberts, E. D.; Goldberg, R. L.; MacPherson, L. J.; Blancuzzi, V.; Wilson, D.; Singh, H. N.; Ludewig, R.; Ganu, V. S. *Inflamm. Res.* **1995**, *44*, S117. (53)
- (54) Chambers, A. F.; Matrisian, L. M. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1997, 89, 1260.
- (55) Gijbels, K.; Masure, S.; Carton, H.; Opdenakker, G. J. Neuroim*munol.* **1992**, *41*, 29. Chandler, S.; Coates, R.; Gearing, A.; Lury, J.; Wells, G.; Bone,
- (56)E. Neurosci. Lett. 1995, 201, 223.
- Rosenberg, G. A. J. Neurotrauma 1995, 12, 833.
- (58) Strauss, B. H.; Robinson, R.; Batchelor, W. B.; Chisholm, R. J.; Natarajan, M. K.; Logan, R. A.; Mehta, S. R.; Levy, D. E.; Ezrin, A. M.; Keeley, F. W. Circ. Res. 1996, 79, 541.
- (59) Thompson, R. W.; Parks, W. C. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1996, 800, 157.
- Saarialho-Kere, U. K.; Vaalamo, M.; Puolakkainen, P.; Airola, K.; Parks, W. C.; Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M. L. *Am. J. Pathol.* (60) 1996, 148, 519.
- Golub, L. M.; Wolff, M.; Roberts, S.; Lee, H.-M.; Leung, M.; Payonk, G. S. *J. Am. Dent. Assoc.* **1994**, *125*, 163. Seltzer, J. L.; Akers, K. T.; Weingarten, H.; Grant, G. A.; (61)
- (62)McCourt, D. W.; Eisen, A. Z. J. Biol. Chem. 1990, 265, 20409. (63)
- Wu, J.-J.; Lark, M. W.; Chun, L. E.; Eyre, D. R. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 5625
- Nagase, H.; Fields, C. G.; Fields, G. B. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, (64)20952.
- Netzel-Arnett, S.; Fields, G.; Birkedal-Hansen, H.; Van Wart, (65)H. E. J. Biol. Chem. 1991, 266, 1.
- Netzel-Arnett, S.; Sang, Q.-X.; Moore, W. G. I.; Navre, M.; (66)Birkedal-Hansen, H.; Van Wart, H. E. Biochemistry 1993, 32, 6427.
- (67) Teahan, J.; Harrison, R.; Izquierdo, M.; Stein, R. L. Biochemistry 1989, 28, 8497.
- Niedzwiecki, L.; Teahan, J.; Harrison, R. K.; Stein, R. L. (68) *Biochemistry* **1992**, *31*, 12618. Smith, M. M.; Shi, L.; Navre, M. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1995**, *270*, 6440.
- (69)McGeehan, G. M.; Bickett, D. M.; Green, M.; Kassel, D.; Wiseman, J. S.; Berman, J. J. Biol. Chem. **1994**, 269, 32814. (70)
- McGeehan, G. M.; Bickett, D. M.; Wiseman, J. S.; Green, M.; (71)
- Berman, J. Methods Enzymol. 1995, 248, 35. Singh, J.; Allen, M. P.; Ator, M. A.; Gainor, J. A.; Whipple, D. (72)A.; Šolowiej, J. E.; Treasurywala, A. M.; Morgan, B. A.; Gordon, T. D.; Upson, D. A. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 217.
- (73)Singh, J.; Ator, M. A.; Jaeger, E. P.; Allen, M. P.; Whipple, D. A.; Soloweij, J. E.; Chowdhary, S.; Treasurywala, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1669.
- (74) Mucha, A.; Cuniasse, P.; Kannan, R.; Beau, F.; Yiotakis, A.; Basset, P.; Dive, V. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1998**, *273*, 2763. Cha, J.; Sorensen, M. V.; Ye, Q.-Z.; Auld, D. S. *J. Biol. Inorg.*
- (75)Chem. 1998, 3, 353.
- (76) Babine, R. E.; Bender, S. L. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 1359.

- (77) Lovejoy, B.; Cleasby, A.; Hassell, A. M.; Longley, K.; Luther, M. A.; Weigl, D.; McGeehan, G.; McElroy, A. B.; Drewry, D.; Lambert, M. H.; Jordan, S. R. *Science* **1994**, *263*, 375.
- (78) Borkakoti, N.; Winkler, F. K.; Williams, D. H.; D'Arcy, A.; Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Johnson, W. H.; Murray, E. J. Struct. Biol. 1994, 1, 106.
 (79) Lovejoy, B.; Hassell, A. M.; Luther, M. A.; Weigl, D.; Jordan, S.
- R. Biochemistry 1994, 33, 8207.
- (80)Spurlino, J. C.; Smallwood, A. M.; Carlton, D. D.; Banks, T. M.; Vavra, K. J.; Johnson, J. S.; Cook, E. R.; Falvo, J.; Wahl, R. C.; Pulvino, T. A.; Wendoloski, J. J.; Smith, D. L. Proteins: Struct., Funct., Genet. 1994, 19, 98.
- (81) Bode, W.; Reinemer, P.; Huber, R.; Kleine, T.; Schnierer, S.; Tschesche, H. *EMBO J.* **1994**, *13*, 1263.
- Stams, T.; Spurlino, J. C.; Smith, D. L.; Wahl, R. C.; Ho, T. F.; (82) Walid Qoronfleh, M.; Banks, T. M.; Rubin, B. Struct. Biol. 1994, 1. 119.
- (83) Grams, F.; Reinemer, P.; Powers, J. C.; Kleine, T.; Pieper, M.; Tschesche, H.; Huber, R.; Bode, W. Eur. J. Biochem. 1995, 228, 830
- (84) Grams, F.; Crimmin, M.; Hinnes, L.; Huxley, P.; Pieper, M.; Tschesche, H.; Bode, W. *Biochemistry* 1995, *34*, 14012.
- (85) Gooley, P. R.; O'Connell, J. F.; Marcy, A. I.; Cuca, G. C.; Salowe, S. P.; Bush, B. L.; Hermes, J. D.; Esser, C. K.; Hagmann, W. K.; Springer, J. P.; Johnson, B. A. Struct. Biol. 1994, 1, 111.
- (86)Van Doren, S. R.; Kurochkin, A. V.; Hu, W.; Ye, Q.-Z.; Johnson, L. L.; Hupe, D. J.; Zuiderweg, E. R. P. Protein Sci. 1995, 4, 2487.
- (87) Becker, J. W.; Marcy, A. I.; Rokosz, L. L.; Axel, M. G.; Burbaum, J. J.; Fitzgerald, P. M. D.; Cameron, P. M.; Esser, C. K.; Hagmann, W. K.; Hermes, J. D.; Springer, J. P. Protein Sci. **1995**, 4, 1966.
- Gooley, P. R.; O'Connell, J. F.; Marcy, A. I.; Cuca, G. C.; Axel, M. G.; Caldwell, C. G.; Hagmann, W. K.; Becker, J. W. *J. Biomol.* (88)NMR 1996, 7, 8.
- (89) Dhanaraj, V.; Ye, Q.-Z.; Johnson, L. L.; Hupe, D. J.; Ortwine, D. F.; Dunbar, J. B., Jr.; Rubin, J. R.; Pavlovsky, A.; Humblet, C.; Blundell, T. L. Structure 1996, 4, 375.
- (90) Browner, M. F.; Smith, W. W.; Castelhano, A. L. Biochemistry 1995, 34, 6602.
- (91) Lovejoy, B.; Welch, A. R.; Carr, S.; Luong, C.; Broka, C.; Hendricks, R. T.; Campbell, J. A.; Walker, K. A. M.; Martin, R.; Van Wart, H.; Browner, M. F. *Nature Struct. Biol.* **1999**, *6*, 217.
- (92) Morgunova, E.; Tuuttila, A.; Bergmann, U.; Isupov, M.; Lindqvist,
- Y.; Schneider, G.; Tryggvason, K. Science **1999**, 284, 1667 (93) Williams, D. H.; Murray, E. J. FEBS Lett. **1994**, 354, 267.
- Willenbrock, F.; Murphy, G.; Phillips, I. R.; Brocklehurst, K. (94)FEBS Lett. 1995, 358, 189.
- (95) Li, J.; Brick, P.; O'Hare, M. C.; Skarzynski, T.; Lloyd, L. F.; Curry, V. A.; Clark, I. M.; Bigg, H. F.; Hazleman, B. L.; Cawston, T. E.; Blow, D. M. Structure **1995**, *3*, 541.
- (96) Massova, I.; Kotra, L. P.; Mobashery, S. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. **1998**, *8*, 853.
- (97)Upadhye, S.; Ananthanarayanan, V. S. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1995, 215, 474.
- Bode, W. Structure 1995, 3, 527. (98)
- Libson, A. M.; Gittis, A. G.; Collier, I. E.; Marmer, B. L.; (99)Goldberg, G. I.; Lattman, E. E. Nature Struct. Biol. 1995, 2, 938.
- (100) Gohlke, U.; Gomis-Ruth, F. X.; Crabbe, T.; Murphy, G.; Docherty, A. J. P.; Bode, W. FEBS Lett. 1996, 378, 126.
- (101) Gomis-Ruth, F. X.; Gohlke, U.; Betz, M.; Knauper, V.; Murphy, G.; Lopez-Otin, C.; Bode, W. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1996**, *264*, 556.
- (102) Fernandez-Catalan, C.; Bode, W.; Huber, R.; Turk, D.; Calvete, J. J.; Lichte, A.; Tschesche, H.; Maskos, K. EMBO J. 1998, 17, 5238
- (103) Harrison, R. K.; Chang, B.; Niedzwiecki, L.; Stein, R. L.
- (103) Harrison, K. K.; Chang, D., McGawtoch, L., Jr.; Biochemistry 1992, 31, 10757.
 (104) Finzel, B. C.; Baldwin, E. T.; Bryant, G. L., Jr.; Hess, G. F.; Wilks, J. W.; Trepod, C. M.; Mott, J. E.; Marshall, V. P.; Petzold, G. L.; Poorman, R. A.; O'Sullivan, T. J.; Schostarez, H. J.; Mitchell, M. A. Protein Sci. 1998, 7, 2118.
 (107) Stackmap, P. J.; Waldon, D. J.; Gates, J. A.; Scahill, T. A.;
- (105) Stockman, B. J.; Waldon, D. J.; Gates, J. A.; Scahill, T. A.; Kloosterman, D. A.; Mizsak, S. A.; Jacobsen, E. J.; Belonga, K. L.; Mitchell, M. A.; Mao, B.; Petke, J. D.; Goodman, L.; Powers, E. A.; Ledbetter, S. R.; Kaytes, P. S.; Vogeli, G.; Marshall, V. P.; Petzold, G. L.; Poorman, R. A. *Protein Sci.* **1998**, *7*, 2281.
- (106) Welch, A. R.; Holman, C. M.; Huber, M.; Brenner, M. C., Browner, M. F.; Van Wart, H. E. *Biochemistry* **1996**, *35*, 10103.
- (107) Miller, A.; Askew, M.; Beckett, R. P.; Bellamy, C. L.; Bone, E. A.; Coates, R. E.; Davidson, A. H.; Drummond, A. H.; Huxley, P.; Martin, F. M.; Saroglou, L.; Thompson, A. J.; van Dijk, S. E.; Whittaker, M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1997**, *7*,193.
 (108) Kiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Yanaka, Y.; Martin, Y.; Martanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Xiyama, R.; Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Tsuzuki, H.; Ohtani, M.; Y.; Martin, M.; M.; Martin, M
- Yodo, M. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 1723.
- (109) Maskos, K.; Fernandez-Catalan, C.; Huber, R.; Bourenkov, G. P.; Bartunik, H.; Ellestad, G. A.; Reddy, P.; Wolfson, M. F.; Rauch, C. T.; Castner, B. J.; Davis, R.; Clarke, H. R. G.; Petersen, M.; Fitzner, J. N.; Cerretti, D. P.; March, C. J.; Paxton, R. J.; Black, R. A.; Bode, W. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1998, 95, 3408.

- (110) McCoy, M. A.; Dellwo, M. J.; Schneider, D. M.; Banks, T. M.;
- Falvo, J.; Vavra, K. J.; Mathiowetz, A. M.; Qoronfleh, M. W.; Ciccarelli, R.; Cook, E. R.; Pulvino, T. A.; Wahl, R. C.; Wang, H. J. Biomol. NMR 1997, 9, 11.
- (111) Rockwell, A.; Melden, M.; Copeland, R. A.; Hardman, K.; Decicco, C. P.; DeGrado, W. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 10337.
- (112) Shuttleworth, S. Advances in Drug Discovery Techniques; Harvey, A. L., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons Ltd.: New York, 1998; p 115.
- (113) Whittaker, M. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1998, 2, 386.
- (114) Johnson, W. H.; Roberts, N. A; Borkakoti, N. J. Enz. Inhib. 1987, *2*. 1.
- (115) Wahl, R. C.; Dunlap, R. P; Morgan, B. A. Ann. Rep. Med. Chem. 1989, 25, 177.
- (116) Johnson, W. H. Drug News Perspect. 1990, 3, 453.
- (117) Henderson, B.; Docherty, A. J. P.; Beeley, N. R. A. Drugs Future 1990, 15, 495
- Schwartz, M. A.; Van Wart, H. Prog. Med. Chem. 1992, 29, 271. (118)
- (119)Moore, W. M.; Spilburg, C. A. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1986, 136, 390.
- (120) Moore, W. M.; Spilburg, C. A. *Biochemistry* 1986, *25*, 5189.
 (121) Odake, S.; Okayama, T.; Obata, M.; Morikawa, T.; Hattori, S.; Hori, S.; Nagai, Y. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 1990, *38*, 1007–1011.
- (122)Odake, S.; Okayama, T.; Obata, M.; Morikawa, T.; Hattori, S.; Hori, H.; Nagai, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1991, 39, 1489-1494.
- (123) Odake, S.; Morita, Y.; Morikawa, T.; Yoshida, N.; Hori, H.; Nagai, Y. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1994, 199, 1442.
- (124) Castelhano, A. L.; Billedeau, R.; Dewdney, N.; Donnelly, S.; Horne, S.; Kurz, L. J.; Liak, T. J.; Martin, R.; Uppington, R.; Yuan, Z.; Krantz, A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1995**, *5*, 1415.
 (127) C. S. Derder, F.: Crome, F.: Drendstatten H.: Mardar, L.
- (125) Graf von Roedern, E.; Grams, F.; Brandstetter, H.; Moroder, L. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 339.
- (126) Brandstetter, H.; Engh, R. A.; Graf von Roedern, E.; Moroder, L.; Huber, R.; Bode, W.; Grams, F. *Protein Sci.* **1998**, *7*, 1303.
- (127) Graf von Roedern, E.; Brandstetter, H.; Engh, R. A.; Bode, W.; Grams, F.; Moroder, L. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 3041.
- Dickens, J. P.; Donald, D. K.; Kneen, G.; McKay, W. R. European (128)Patent Application, EP-214,639-A, 1986; Chem. Abstr. 1987, 106, 214381
- (129) Beckett, R. P.; Davidson, A. H.; Drummond, A. H.; Huxley, P.; Whittaker, M. Drug Discovery Today **1996**, *1*, 16. (130) Borkakoti, N.; Winkler, F. K.; Williams, D. H.; D'Arcy, A.;
- Bottomley, K.; Bradshaw, D.; Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Hill, C. H.; Johnson, W. H.; Lawton, G.; Lewis, E. J.; Murray, E. J.; Nixon, J. S. Structure-Based Drug Design; Codding, P. W., Ed.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: The Netherlands, 1998; p 77.
- (131) Campion, C.; Davidson, A. H.; Dickens, J. P.; Crimmin, M. J. PCT PatentApplication, WO9005719, 1990; Chem. Abstr. 1990, 113, 212677.
- (132) Ngo, J.; Graul, A.; Castaner, J. Drugs Future 1996, 21, 1215.
- (133) Crimmin, M. J.; Ayscough, A. P.; Beckett, R. P. PCT Patent Application, WO9424140, 1994; *Chem. Abstr.* 1995, *123*, 144644.
 (134) Crimmin, M. J.; Beckett, P. R.; Davis, M. H. PCT Patent Application, WO9421625, 1994; Chem. Abstr. 1995, 122, 188173.
- Betz, M.; Huxley, P.; Davies, S. J.; Mushtaq, Y.; Pieper, M.; (135)Tschesche, H.; Bode, W.; Gomis-ruth, F. X. Eur. J. Biochem. 1997, 247, 3356.
- (136) Di Martino, M.; Wolff, C.; High, W.; Stoup, G.; Hoffman, S.; Laydon, J.; Lee, J. C.; Bertolini, D.; Galloway W. A.; Crimmin, M. J.; Davis, M.; Davies, S. Inflamm. Res. 1997, 46, 211.
- (137) Clements, J. M.; Cossins, J. A.; Wells, G. M. A.; Corkill, D. J.; Helfrich, K.; Wood, L. M.; Pigott, R.; Stabler, G.; Ward, G. A.; Gearing, A. J. H.; Miller, K. M. J. Neuroimmunol. 1997, 74, 85.
- Gearing, A. J. H.; Miller, K. M. J. Neuroimmunol. 1997, 74, 85.
 (138) Jacobson, I. C.; Reddy, P. G.; Wasserman, Z. R.; Hardman, K. D.; Covington, M. B.; Arner, E. C.; Copeland, R. A.; Decicco, C. P.; Magolda, R. L. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1998, *8*, 837.
 (139) Evans, D. A.; Kozlowski, M. C.; Burgey, C. S.; Macmillan, W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7893.
 (140) Curtin M. L. Carland, P. B. Davidson, S. K. Macmutte, P. A.
- (140)Curtin, M. L.; Garland, R. B.; Davidsen, S. K.; Marcotte, P. A.; Albert, D. H.; Magoc, T. J.; Hutchins, C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 1443.
- (141) Beckett, R. P.; Whittaker, M. Exp. Opin. Ther. Patents 1998, 8, 259.
- (142) Pratt, L. M.; Beckett, R. P.; Bellamy, C. L.; Corkill, D. J.; Cossins, A. H.; Helfrich, K.; Lewis, C. N.; Mangan, M.; Martin, F.; Miller, K.; Nayee, P.; Ricketts, M. L.; Thomas, W.; Todd, R. S.; Whittsher, M. Bicong, Med. Cham. J. 1990, 2010
- Whittaker, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 1359.
 Pratt, L. M.; Bowles, S. A.; Courtney, S. F.; Hidden, C.; Lewis, C. N.; Martin, F. M.; Todd, R. S. Synlett 1998, 531.
- (144) Barlaam, B.; Koza, P.; Berriot, J. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 7221.
- (145) Xue, C.-B.; He, X.; Roderick, J.; DeGrado, W. F.; Cherney, R. J.; Hardman, K. D.; Nelson, D. J.; Copeland, R. A.; Jaffee, B. D.; Decicco, C. P. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 1745.
- Steinman, D. H.; Curtin, M. L.; Garland, R. B.; Davidsen, S. K.; (146)Heyman, H. R.; Holms, J. H.; Albert, D. H.; Magoc, T. J.; Nagy, I. B.; Marcotte, P. A.; Li, J.; Morgan, D. W.; Hutchins, C.; Summers, J. B. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 2087.

- (147) Duan, J. J.-W.; Chen, L.; Xue, C.-B.; Wasserman, Z. R.; Hard-
- Duait, J. J. W., Chen, L., Aue, C.-B., Wasserman, Z. R., Hard-man, K. D.; Covington, M. B.; Copeland, R. R.; Arner, E. C.;
 Decicco, C. P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 1453.
 Cherney, R. J.; Wang, L.; Meyer, D. T.; Xue, C.-B.; Arner, E. C.;
 Copeland, R. A.; Covington, M. B.; Hardman, K. D.; Wasserman,
 Z. R.; Jaffee, B. D.; Decicco, C. P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *4*, 1270. (148)9, 1279.
- (149) Martin, S. F.; Oalmann, C. J.; Liras, S. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 3521.
- (150) Ghose, A. K.; Logan, M. E.; Treasurywala, A. M.; Wang, H.; Wahl, R. C.; Tomczuk, B. E.; Gowravaram, M. R.; Jaeger, E. P.; Wendoloski, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4671.
 (151) Hanessian, S.; Griffin, A.; Devasthale, P. V. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 2, 2110.
- (151) Halicssian, S., Grann, F., Soviet, J., F. (151) Lett. **1997**, *7*, 3119.
 (152) Porter, J. R.; Beeley, N. R. A.; Boyce, B. A.; Mason, B.; Millican, N. S. (152) Lett. **1997**, *1*, 100 (152) Lett. **1997**, 100 (152
- A.; Millar, K.; Leonard, J.; Morphy, J. R.; O'Connell, J. P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1994**, *4*, 2741.
 (153) Morphy, J. R.; Beeley, N. R. A.; Boyce, B. A.; Leonard, J.; Mason, B.; Millican, A.; Millar, K.; O'Connell, J. P.; Porter, J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1994**, *4*, 2741.
- Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4, 2747.
- (154) Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Johnson, W. H.; Lawton, G. European Patent Application EP-575,844-A, 1993; Chem. Abstr. 1994, *121*, 57993.
- (155) Tamaki, K.; Tanzawa, K.; Kurihara, S.; Oikawa, T.; Monma, S.; Shimada, K.; Sugimura, Y. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1995**, *43*, 1883.
- (156) Tomczuk, B. E.; Gowravaram, M. R.; Johnson, J. S.; Delecki, D.; Cook, E. R.; Ghose, A. K.; Mathiowetz, A. M.; Spurlino, J. C.; Rubin, B.; Smith, D. L.; Pulvino, T.; Wahl, R. C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 343.
- (157) Wahl, R. C.; Pulvino, T. A.; Mathiowetz, A. M.; Ghose, A. K.; Johnson, J. S.; Delecki, D.; Cook, E. R.; Gainor, J. A.; Gowravaram, M. R.; Tomczuk, B. E. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 349.
- (158) Gowravaram, M. R.; Tomczuk, B. E.; Johnson, J. S.; Delecki, D.; Cook, E. R.; Ghose, A. K.; Mathiowetz, A. M.; Spurlino, J. C.; Rubin, B.; Smith, D. L.; Pulvino, T. A.; Wahl, R. C. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 2570.
- Chem. 1995, 38, 2570.
 (159) Esser, C. K.; Kevin, N. J.; Yates, N. A.; Chapman, K. T. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 2639.
 (160) Esser, C. K.; Bugianesi, R. L.; Caldwell, C. G.; Chapman, K. T.; Durette, P. L.; Girotra, N. N.; Kopka, I. E.; Lanza, T. J.; Levorse, D. A.; MacCoss, M.; Owens, K. A.; Ponpipom, M. M.; Simeone, J. P.; Harrison, R. K.; Niedzwiecki, L.; Becker, J. W.; Marcy, A. L.; Acel, M. C.; Christon, A. L.; McDennell, L.; Marcy, V. L.; Arel, M. C.; Christon, A. L.; McDennell, L.; Marcy, Y. L.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, L.; Becker, J. W.; Marcy, Y. L.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, L.; Becker, J. W.; Marcy, Y. L.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, L.; Becker, J. W.; Marcy, Y. L.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, Marcy, K. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, K. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, K. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, K. K.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, K. K.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, K. K.; Karcy, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Niedzwiecki, S. K.; Marcy, K. K.; Karcy, S. K.; F., Harrison, R. K.; Neuzwiecki, L.; Becker, J. W.; Marcy, A. I.; Axel, M. G.; Christen, A. J.; McDonnell, J.; Moore, V. L.; Olszewski, J. M.; Saphos, C.; Visco, D. M.; Shen, F.; Colletti, A.; Krieter, P. A.; Hagmann, W. K. *J. Med. Chem.* **1997**, *40*, 1026.
 (161) Whittaker, M.; Beckett, R. P.; Spavold, Z. M.; Martin, F. M. PCT Patent Application WO9824759, 1998; *Chem. Abstr.* **1998**, *129*, e2005
- 67605.
- (162) Bailey, S.; Bolognese, B.; Buckle, D. R.; Faller, A.; Jackson, S.;
- Louis-Flamberg, P.; McCord, M.; Mayer, R. L.; Marshall, L. A.; Smith, D. G. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 29. Bailey, S.; Bolognese, B.; Buckle, D. R.; Faller, A.; Jackson, S.; Louis-Flamberg, P.; McCord, M.; Mayer, R. L.; Marshall, L. A.; Castidh, D. G. *Bioorg. Acad. Chem. Lett.* **1098**, *8*, 000 (163)
- Smith, D. G. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 23. (164) Robinson, R. P.; Ragan, J. A.; Cronin, B. J.; Donahue, K. M.; Lopresti-Morrow, L. L.; Mitchell, P. G.; Reeves, L. M.; Yocum,
- S. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *6*, 1719.
 (165) Jeanpetit, C.; Pringent, D.; Settembre, P. A.; Trancart, M. M. PCT Patent Application, WO9847863, 1998; *Chem. Abstr.* **1998**, 1*29*, 331045.
- (166) Jacobsen, E. J. PCT Patent Application WO9732846, 1997; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 127, 293126.
- (167) Decicco, C. P.; Seng, J. L.; Kennedy, K. E.; Covington, M. B.; Welch, P. K.; Arner, E. C.; Magolda, R. L.; Nelson, D. J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. **1997**, 7, 2331.
- (168)Grobelny, D.; Poncz, L.; Galardy, R. E. Biochemistry 1992, 31, 7152.
- (169) Galardy, R. E. *Drugs Future* **1993**, *18*, 1109.
 (170) Levy, D. E.; Lapierre, F.; Liang, W.; Ye, W.; Lange, C. W.; Li, X.; Grobelny, D.; Casabonne, M.; Tyrrell, D.; Holme, K.; Nadzan, A.; Galardy, R. E. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 199.
- (171) Jones, R. L. Spectrochim. Acta 1964, 20, 1879.
 (172) Conradi, R. A.; Hilgers, A. R.; Ho, N. F. H.; Burton, P. S. Pharm. Res. 1992, 9, 435.
- (173) Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Johnson, W. H.; Lawton, G. U.S. Patent 5,304,549, 1993; Chem. Abstr. 1993, 118, 16901.
- (174) Anderson, I. C.; Shipp, M. A.; Docherty, A. J. P.; Teicher, B. A. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 715.
- (175) An, Z.; Wang, X.; Willmott, N.; Surinder, K.; Chander, S. K.; Tickle, S.; Docherty, A. J. P.; Mountain, A.; Millican, A. T.; Morphy, R.; Porter, J. R.; Epemolu, R. O.; Kubota, T.; Moossa, A. R.; Hoffman, R. M. J. Clin. Exp. Metastasis **1997**, *15*, 184.
- (176) Knebel, N. G.; Sharp, S. R.; Madigan, M. J. J. Chromatogr. B 1995, 673, 213.
- (177)
- Hirayama, R.; Yamamoto, M.; Tsukida, T.; Matsuo, K; Obata, Y.; Sakamoto, F.; Ikeda, S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **1997**, *5*, 765. Yamamoto, M.; Tsujishita, H.; Hori, N.; Ohishi, Y.; Inoue, S.; Ikeda, S.; Okada, Y. *J. Med. Chem.* **1998**, *41*, 1209. (178)

- (179) Johnson, W. H.; Bottomley, K. M. K.; Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Nixon, J. S. *J. Enz. Inhib.* **1994**, *2*, 692. (180) Beckett, R. P.; Miller, A.; Spavold, Z. M.; Whittaker, M. PCT
- Patent Application WO 9633161, 1996; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 126, 7832
- (181) Beckett, R. P.; Miller, A.; Spavold, Z. M.; Whittaker, M. PCT Patent Application WO9633165, 1996; *Chem. Abstr.* 1997, *126*, 18654.
- (182)Natchus, M. G.; Cheng, M.; Wahl, C. T.; Pikul, S.; Almstead, N. G.; Bradley, R. S.; Taiwo, Y. O.; Mieling, G. E.; Dunaway, C. M.; Snider, C. E.; McIver, J. M.; Barnett, B. L.; McPhail, S. J.; Anastasio, M. B.; De, B. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1998**, *8*, 2077. (183) Kido, A.; Tsutsumi, M.; Iki, K.; Motoyama, M.; Takaham, M.;
- Tsujiuchi, T.; Morishita, T.; Tatsumi, K.; Tamai, S.; Konishi, Y. Jpn. J. Cancer Res. **1999**, *90*, 333.
- Chen, J. J.; Zhang, Y.; Hammond, S.; Dewdney, N.; Ho, T.; Lin, X.; Browner, M. F.; Castelhano, A. L. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* (184)1996, 6, 1601.
- Sheppard, G. S.; Florjancic, A. S.; Giesler, J. R.; Xu, L.; Guo, Y.; Davidsen, S. K.; Marcotte, P. A.; Elmore, I.; Albert, D. H.; Magoc, T. J.; Bouska, J. J.; Goodfellow, C. L.; Morgan, D. W.; Summers, (185)J. B. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 3251.
- (186) Singh, J.; Conzentino, P.; Cundy, K.; Gainor, J. A.; Gilliam, C. L.; Gordon, T. D.; Johnson, J. A.; Morgan, B. A.; Schneider, E. D.; Wahl, R. C.; Whipple, D. A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 337.
- (187) Chander, S. K.; Antoniw, P.; Beeley, N. R. A.; Boyce, B.; Crabbe, T.; Docherty, A. J. P.; Leonard, J.; Mason, B.; Millar, K.; Millican, A. T.; Morphy, R.; Mountain, A.; O'Connell, J.; Porter, J. R.; Willmott, N. J. Pharm. Sci. **1995**, 84, 404.
- (188) Fray, M. J.; Ellis, D. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 13825.
- (189) Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Johnson, W. H.; Lawton, G. U.S. Patent 5,318,964, 1994; Chem. Abstr. 1994, 121, 300765.
- (190) Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Lawton, G.; Ballantyne, N.; Borkakoti, N.; Bottomley, K. M. K.; Cooper, M. I.; Eatherton, A. J.; Kilford, I. R.; Malsher, P. J.; Nixon, J. S.; Lewis, E. J.; Sutton, B. M.; Johnson, W. H. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1997**, *7*, 2299. (191) Bottomley, K. M.; Johnson, W. H.; Walter, D. S. *J. Enz. Inhib.*
- 1998, *13*, 79.
- (192) Lewis, E. J.; Bishop, J.; Bottomley, K. M. K.; Bradshaw, D.; Brewster, M.; Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Budd, J. M.; Elliott, L.; Greenham, A. K.; Johnson, W. H.; Nixon, J. S.; Rose, F.; Sutton, B.; Wilson, K. Br. J. Pharmacol. 1997, 121, 540.
- (193) Wood, N. D.; Aitken, M.; Durston, S.; Harris, S.; McClelland, G. R.; Sharp, S. Agents Actions **1998**, 49, 49. (194) McClure, K. F.; Axt, M. Z. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. **1998**, 8,
- 143.
- (195) Beckett, R. P.; Crimmin, M. J.; Davis, M. H.; Spavold, Z. Synlett 1993, 2, 137.
- (196) Beckett, R. P.; Martin, F. M.; Miller, A.; Todd, R. S.; Whittaker, M. PCT Patent Application WO9817655, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 128, 308398.
- (197) Alpegiani, M.; Bissolino, P.; Absate, F.; Perrone, E.; Corigli, R.; Jabes, D. PCT Patent Application WO9902510, 1999; *Chem. Abstr.* **1999**, *130*, 139360. (198) Broadhurst, M. J.; Johnson, W. H.; Walter, D. S. GB Patent
- Application GB 2326881A, 1999; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 130, 110060.
- (199) Bradshaw, R. A. Lecture at Keystone Symposium on "Metalloproteinases: Chemistry, Biology and Medicine", Tamarron, Colorado, Feb. 25 to Mar. 3, 1999.
- (200)Tamaki, K.; Ogita, T.; Tanzawa, K.; Sugimura, Y. Tetahedron *Lett.* **1993**, *34,* 683.
- (201) Haruyama, H.; Ohkuma, Y.; Nagaki, H.; Ogita, T.; Tamaki, K.; Kinoshita, T. *J. Antibiot.* **1994**, *47*, 1473. Tamaki, K.; Kurihara, S.; Oikawa, T.; Tanzawa, K.; Sugimura,
- (202) Y. J. Antibiot. **1994**, 47, 1481.
- (203) Cherney, R. J.; Decicco, C. P.; Nelson, D. J.; Wang, L.; Meyer, D. T.; Hardman, K. D.; Copeland, R. A.; Arner, E. C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. **1997**, 7, 1757.
- (204) Nugiel, D. A.; Jacobs, K.; Decicco, C. P.; Nelson, D. J.; Copeland,
- R. Å.; Hardman, K. D. *Biorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1995**, *5*, 3053. (205) MacPherson, L. J.; Bayburt, E. K.; Capparelli, M. P.; Carroll, B. J.; Goldstein, R.; Justice, M. R.; Zhu, L.; Hu, S.; Melton, R. A.; Fryer, L.; Goldberg, R. L.; Doughty, J. R.; Spirito, S.; Blancuzzi, V.; Wilson, D.; O'Byrne, E. M.; Ganu, V.; Parker, D. T. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 40, 2525.
- (206) Floyd, C. D.; Lewis, C. N.; Patel, S. R.; Whittaker, M. Tetrahe-dron Lett. 1996, 37, 8045.
- Jeng, A. Y.; Chou, M.; Parker, D. T. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. (207)1998, *8*, 897.
- (208)Hautamaki, R. D.; Kobayashi, D. K.; Senior, R. M.; Shapiro, S.
- D. Science 1997, 277, 2002.
 Gonnella, N. C.; Bohacek, R.; Zhang, X.; Kolossvary, I.; Paris, C. G.; Melton, R.; Winter, C.; Hu, S.; Ganu, V. Bull. Magn. Reson. (209)1995, 17, 212.
- (210) Gonnella, N. C.; Bohacek, R.; Zhang, X.; Kolossvary, I.; Paris, C. G.; Melton, R.; Winter, C.; Hu, S.; Ganu, V. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1995, 92, 462.

- (211) Gonnella, N. C.; Li, Y.-C.; Zhang, X.; Paris, C. G. Bioorg. Med.
- (211) Gonnella, N. C.; LI, Y.-C.; Zhang, A., Faris, C. G. *Divig. Inco. Chem.* **1997**, *5*, 2193.
 (212) Bender, S. L. 214th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, Las Vegas, NV, Sep. 7–11, 1997, MEDI 108.
 (213) Santos, O.; McDermott, C. D.; Daniels, R. G.; Appelt, K. *J. Clin. Exp. Metastasis* **1997**, *15*, 499.
 (214) Hanessian, S.; Bouzbouz, S.; Boudon, A.; Tucker, G. C.; Peyrou-bior D. *Biopret Mod. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 1691.
- (214) Hanessian, S.; Bouzbouz, S.; Boudon, A.; Hucker, G. C.; Peyroulan, D. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 1691.
 (215) Burns, C. J.; Groneberg, R. D.; Salvino, J. M.; McGeehan, G.; Condon, S. M.; Morris, R.; Morrissette, M. M.; Matthew, R.; Darnbrough, S.; Neuenschwander, K.; Scotese, A.; Djuric, S. W.; Ultrandrough, S.; Neuenschwander, K.; Scotese, A.; Djuric, S. W.; Ullrich, J. W.; Labaudiniere, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37. 2848.
- (216) Groneberg, R. D.; Burns, C. J.; Morrissette, M. M.; Ullrich, J. W.; Morris, R. L.; Darnbrough, S.; Djuric, S. W.; Condon, S. M.; McGeehan, G. M.; Labaudiniere, R.; Neuenschwander, K.; Scotese, A. C.; Kilne, J. A. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 541.
 (217) Abbruzzese, T. A.; Guzman, R. J.; Martin, R. L.; Yee, C.; Zarins,
- (219) Pikul, S.; McDow Dunham, K. L.; Almstead, N. G.; De R.;
 (219) Pikul, S.; McDow Dunham, K. L.; Almstead, N. G.; De, B.;
- Natchus, M. G.; Anastasio, M. V.; McPhail, S. J.; Snider, C. E.; Taiwo, Y. O.; Rydel, T.; Dunaway, C. M.; Gu, F.; Mieling, G. E. . Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 3568.
- (220) Peng, S. X.; VonBargen, E. C.; Bornes, D. M.; Pikul, S. Pharm. Res. 1998, 15, 1414
- (221) Pikul, S.; McDow Dunham, K. L.; Almstead, N. G.; De, B.; Natchus, M. G.; Anastasio, M. V.; McPhail, S. J.; Snider, C. E.; Taiwo, Y. O.; Chen, L.; Dunaway, C. M.; Gu, F.; Mieling, G. E. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 87.
- (222) Stafford, J. A.; Feldman, P. L. Annu. Rep. Med. Chem. 1996, *31*, 71.
- (223) Shuker, S. B.; Hajduk, P. J.; Meadows, P. J.; Fesik, S. W. Science 1996, 274, 1531
- (224) Hajduk, P. J.; Sheppard, G.; Nettesheim, D. G.; Olejniczak, E. T.; Shuker, S. B.; Meadows, R. P.; Steinman, D. H.; Čarrera, G. M., Jr.; Marcotte, P. A.; Severin, J.; Walter, K.; Smith, H.; Gubbins, E.; Simmer, R.; Holzman, T. F.; Morgan, D. W.; Davidsen, S. K.; Summers, J. B.; Fesik, S. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5818.
- (225) Olejniczak, E. T.; Hajduk, P. J.; Marcotte, P. A.; Nettesheim, D. G.; Meadows, R. P.; Edalji, R.; Holzman, T. F.; Fesik, S. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, *119*, 5828.
- (226) Chapman, K. T.; Kopka, I. E.; Durette, P. L.; Esser, C. K.; Lanza, T. J.; Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Niedzwiecki, L.; Chang, B.; Harrison, R. K.; Kuo, D. W.; Lin, T.-Y.; Stein, R. L.; Hagmann, W. K. J. Med. Chem. **1993**, *36*, 4293.
- Esser, C. K.; Kopka, I. E.; Durette, P. L.; Harrison, R. K.; Niedzwiecki, L. M.; Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Stein, R. L.; Hagmann, (227)
- W. K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 539.
 (228) Sahoo, S. P.; Caldwell, C. G.; Chapman, K. T.; Durette, P. L.; Esser, C. K.; Kopka, I. E.; Polo, S. A.; Sperow, K. M.; Niedzwiec-ki, L. M.; Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Chang, B. C.; Harrison, R. K.; Stein, R. L.; MacCoss, M.; Hagmann, W. K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lott 1905 5, 2441
- Stein, K. L.; Matcuss, M., Hagmann, W. K. Zhou, J.
 Lett. 1995, 5, 2441.
 (229) Chapman, K. T.; Wales, J.; Sahoo, S. P.; Niedzwiechi, L. M.; Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Chang, B. C.; Harrison, R. K.; Stein, R. L.; Hagmann, W. K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 329.
 (230) Brown, F. K.; Brown, P. J.; Bickett, D. M.; Chambers, C. L.; Davies, H. C.; Deaton, D. N.; Drewry, D.; Foley, M.; McElroy,
- Davies, H. G.; Deaton, D. N.; Drewry, D.; Foley, M.; McElroy, A. B.; Gregson, M.; McGeehan, G. M.; Myers, P. L.; Norton, D.; Salovich, J. M.; Schoenen, F. J.; Ward, P. *J. Med. Chem.* **1994**, 37 674
- (231) Chapman, K. T.; Durette, P. L.; Caldwell, C. G.; Sperow, K. M.; Niedzwiecki, L. M.; Harrison, R. K.; Saphos, C.; Christen, A. J.; Olszewski, J. M.; Moore, V. L.; MacCoss, M.; Hagmann, W. K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 803.
- (232) Robinson, R. P.; Cronin, B. J.; Donahue, K. M.; Jones, B. P.; Lopresti-Morrow, L. L.; Mitchell, P. G.; Rizzi, J. P.; Reeves, L. M.; Yocum, S. A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 1725.
- (233) Xue, C. B.; He, X.; Roderick, J.; DeGrado, W. F.; Decicco, C.; Copeland, R. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *6*, 379.
 (234) Cherney, R. J.; Wang, L.; Meyer, D. T.; Xue, C. B.; Wasserman, Z. R.; Hardman, K. D.; Welch, P. K.; Covington, M. B.; Copeland, R. A.; Arner, E. C.; DeGrado, W. F.; Decicco, C. P. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 1749.
- (235) Tamura, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Nakatani, T.; Yasui, K.; Fuji, M.; Komurasaki, T.; Tsuzuki, H.; Maekawa, R.; Yoshioka, T.; Kawada, K.; Sugita, K.; Ohtani, M. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 640.
- (236) Maekawa, R.; Maki, H.; Yoshida, H.; Hojo, K.; Tanaka, H.; Wada, T.; Uchida, N.; Takeda, Y.; Kasai, H.; Okamoto, H.; Tsuzuki, H.; Kambayashi, Y.; Watanabe, F.; Kawada, K.; Toda, K.; Ohtani, M.; Sugita, K.-I.; Yoshioka, T. Cancer Res. 1999, 59, 1231.
- (237) O'Brien, P. M.; Sliskovic, D. R.; Roth, B. D.; Ortwine, D. F.; Dyer, R.; Johnson, L.; Hallak, H.; Peterson, J. T.; Bocan, T. M. A. Poster at XVth EFMC International Symposium on Medicinal Chemistry, Edinburgh, Sep. 6-10, 1998, P267.

- (238) Hibner, B. Lecture at GDCh International Symposium on "How Rational can Drug Design be?", Frankfurt, FRG, Feb. 7, 1997. (239) Hibner, B.; Card, A.; Housley, T.; Wilhelm, S.; Casazza, A. M.;
- Taraboletti, G; Rieppi, M.; Giavazzi, R. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 1979, 39, 2063.
- (240) Bender, S. Lecture at The Second Winter Conference on Medicinal and Bioorganic Chemistry, Steamboat Springs, CO, Jan.
- (241) Deal, J. G.; Bender, S. L.; Chong, W. K. M.; Duvadie, R. K.; Caldwell, A. M.; Li, L.; McTigue, M. A.; Wickersham, J. A.; Appelt, K.; Shalinsky, D. R.; Daniels, R. D.; McDermott, C. R.; Brekken, J.; Margosiak, S. A.; Kumpf, R. A.; Abreo, M. A.; Burke, B. J.; Register, J. A.; Dagostino, E. F.; Vanderpool, D. L.; Santos, O. 217th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, Anaheim, CA, March, 21–25, 1999, MEDI 197.
- (242) Donald, D. K.; Hann, M. M.; Saunders, J.; Wadsworth, H. J. European Patent EP-185380, 1986; *Chem. Abstr.* 1986, 105, 209393
- (243) Darlak, K.; Miller, R. B.; Stack, M. S.; Spatola, A. F.; Gray, R. D. J. Biol. Chem. 1990, 265, 5199.
- Schwartz, M. A.; Venkataraman, S.; Ghaffari, M. A.; Libby, A.; (244)Mookhtiar, K. A.; Mallya, S. K.; Birkedal-Hansen, H.; Van Wart, H. E. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1991, 176, 173.
- (245)Beszant, B.; Bird, J.; Gaster, L. M.; Harper, G. P.; Hughes, I.; Karran, E. H.; Markwell, R. E.; Miles-Williams, A. J.; Smith, S. A. *J. Med. Chem.* **1993**, *36*, 4030. (246) Hughes, I.; Harper, G. P.; Karran, E. H.; Markwell, R. E.; Miles-
- Williams, A. J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1995**, *5*, 3039. Baxter, A. D.; Bird, J.; Bhogal, R.; Massil, T.; Minton, K. J.; (247)
- Montana, J.; Owen, D. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1997**, *7*, 897. (248) Hagmann, W.; Kopka, I. E. U.S. Patent Application 5629343,
- 1997; Chem. Abstr. 1994, 120, 331099.
- Baxter, A. D.; Bhogal, R.; Bird, J. B.; Buckley, G. M.; Gregory, D. S.; Hedger, P. C.; Manallack, D. T.; Massil, T.; Minton, K. J.; (249)Montana, J. G.; Neidle, S.; Owen, D. A.; Watson, R. J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 2765.
- (250) Bird, J.; Montana, J. G.; Wills, R. E.; Baxter, A. D.; Owen, D. A. PCT Patent Application WO9839024, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 129, 225751.
- (251) Montana, J. G. Lecture at the Society for Medicines Resarch meeting on Trends in Medicinal Chemistry, London, Dec. 3, 1998
- Warshawsky, A. M.; Flynn, G. A.; Patel, M. V.; Beight, D. W.; Burkhart, J. P.; Tsay, J.-T.; Janusz, M. J.; Shen, J.; Dharani-pragada, R. M. PCT Patent Application WO9812211, 1998; (252) Chem. Abstr. 1998, 128, 270870.
- Chem. Abstr. 1998, 128, 270870.
 (253) Campbell, D. A.; Xiao, X.-Y.; Harris, D.; Ida, S.; Mortezaei, R.; Ngu, K.; Shi, L.; Tien, D.; Wang, Y.; Navre, M.; Patel, D. V.; Sharr, M. A.; DiJoseph, J. F.; Killar, L. M.; Leone, C. L.; Levin, J. I.; Skotnicki, J. S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1998, *8*, 1157.
 (254) Levin, J. I.; DiJoseph, J. F.; Killar, L. M.; Sharr, M. A.; Skotnicki, J. S.; Patel, D. V.; Xiao, X.-Y.; Shi, L.; Navre, M.; Campbell, D. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1998, *8*, 1163.
 (255) Fink C. A.; Carlson, J. E.; Boehm, C.; McTaggart, P.; Qiao, Y.;
- (255) Fink, C. A.; Carlson, J. E.; Boehm, C.; McTaggart, P.; Qiao, Y.; Doughty, J.; Ganu, V.; Melton, R.; Goldberg, R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 195.
- (256) PCT Patent Application WO9803166, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 128, 167263.
- (257) Freskos, J. N.; Mischke, B. V.; DeCrescenzo, G. A.; Heintz, R.; Getman, D. P.; Howard, S. C.; Kishore, N. N.; McDonald, J. J.; Munie, G. E.; Rangwala, S.; Swearingen, C. A.; Voliva, C.; Welsch, D. J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 943.
 (260) Eveloped D. M. McDardel J. L. Mischler, P. W. Medline, P. B.;
- Freskos, J. N.; McDonald, J. J.; Mischke, B. V.; Mullins, P. B.; (258)Shieh, H.-S.; Stegeman, R. A.; Stevens, A. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. *Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 1757.
- (259) Albini, A.; D'Agostini, F.; Giunciuglio, D.; Paglieri, I.; Balansky, R. Int. J. Cancer 1995, 61, 121.
- (260) Muller, J. C. D.; Graf von Roedern, E.; Grams, F.; Nagase, H.;
- Moroder, L. *Biol. Chem.* **1997**, *378*, 1475. Foley, M. A.; Hassman, A. S.; Drewry, D. H.; Greer, D. G.; Wagner, C. D.; Feldman, P. L.; Berman, J.; Bickett, D. M.; (261)McGeehan, G. M.; Lambert, M. H.; Green, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1996, 6, 1905.
- (262) Szardenings, A. K.; Harris, D.; Lam, S.; Shi, L.; Tien, D.; Wang, Y.; Patel, D. V.; Navre, M.; Campbell, D. A. *J. Med. Chem.* 1998, 41. 2194.
- (263) Szardenings, A. K.; Antonenko, V.; Campbell, D. A.; DeFrancisco, N.; Ida, S.; Shi, L.; Sharkov, N.; Tien, D.; Wang, Y.; Navre, M. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 1348.
- (264) Mookhtiar, K. A.; Marlowe, C. K.; Bartlett, P. A.; Van Wart, H. E. Biochemistry 1987, 26, 1962.
- Holden, H. M.; Tronrud, D. E.; Monzingo, A. F.; Weaver, L. H.; Matthews, B. W. *Biochemistry* **1987**, *26*, 8542. Kortylewicz, Z. P.; Galardy, R. E. *J. Enz. Inhibit*. **1989**, *3*, 159. (265)
- (266)(267) Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Stein, R. L. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1993, 1,
- 19
- Caldwell, C. G.; Sahoo, S. P.; Polo, S. A.; Eversole, R. R.; Lanza, (268)T. J.; Mills, S. G.; Niedzwiecki, L. M.; Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Chang, B. C.; Harrison, R. K.; Kuo, D. W.; Lin, T. Y.; Stein, R.

L.; Durette, P. L.; Hagmann, W. K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.

- L; Durette, F. E., Fuguration, 1996, 6, 323.
 (269) Goulet, J. L.; Kinneary, J. F.; Durette, P. L.; Stein, R. L.; Harrison, R. K.; Izquierdo-Martin, M.; Kuo, D. W.; Lin, T.-Y.; Hagmann, W. K. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1994, 4, 1221.
 (270) Reiter, L. A.; Rizzi, J. P.; Pandit, J.; Lasut, M. J.; McGahee, S. M.; Parikh, V. D.; Blake, J. F.; Danley, D. E.; Laird, E. R.; Lopezti-Marrow I. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, S. M.; Martinelli, S. M.; Parikh, V. D.; Blake, J. F.; Danley, D. E.; Laird, E. R.; Lopezti-Marrow I. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, S. M.; Parikh, V. D.; Blake, J. F.; Danley, D. E.; Laird, E. R.; Lopezti-Marrow I. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, S. M.; Parikh, V. D.; Blake, J. F.; Danley, D. E.; Laird, E. R.; Lopezti-Marrow I. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, Martinelli, Marrow I. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, Martinelli, Marrow I. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, M Anaya, A.; Lopresti-Morrow, L. L.; Mansour, M. N.; Martinelli, G. J.; Mitchell, P. G.; Owens, B. S.; Pauly, T. A.; Reeves, L. M.; Schulte, G. K.; Yocum, S. A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 127
- (271) Nixon, J. S.; Bottomley, K. M.; Broadhurst, M. J.; Brown, P. A.; Johnson, W. H.; Lawton, G.; Marley, J.; Sedgwick, A. D.; Wilkinson, S. E. Int. J. Tissue Res. 1991, 13, 237
- (272) Hunter, D. J.; Bird, J.; Cassidy, F.; De Mello, R. C.; Harper, G. P.; Karran, E. H.; Markwell, R. E.; Miles-Williams, A. J.; Ward, R. W. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1994**, *4*, 2833. (273) Wang, Q.; Pfeiffer, B.; Tucker, G. C.; Royer, J.; Husson, H.-P.
- Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 2477.
- (274) Bird, J.; Harper, G. P.; Hughes, I.; Hunter, D. J.; Karran, E. H.; Markwell, R. E.; Miles-Williams, A. J.; Rahman, S. S.; Ward, R. W. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 2593.
- (275) Jacobsen, E. J.; Mitchell, M. A.; Hendges, S. K.; Belonga, K. L.; Skaletzky, L. L.; Stelzer, L. S.; Lindberg, T. J.; Fritzen, E. L.; Schostarez, H. J.; O'Sullivan, T. J.; Maggiora, L. L.; Stuchly, C. W.; Laborde, A. L.; Kubicek, M. F.; Poorman, R. A.; Beck, J. M.; Miller, H. R.; Petzold, G. L.; Scott, P. S.; Truesdell, S. E.; Wallace, T. L.; Wilks, J. W.; Fisher, C.; Goodman, L. V.; Kaytes, P. S.; Ledbetter, S. R.; Powers, E. A.; Vogeli, G.; Mott, J. E.; Trepod, C. M.; Staples, D. J.; Baldwin, E. T.; Finzel, B. C. *J. Med. Chem.* **1999**, *42*, 1525.
- (276) Oliva, A.; De Cillis, G.; Grams, F.; Livi, V.; Zimmermann, G.; Menta, E.; Krell, H.-W. PCT Patent Application WO9858925, 1998; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 130, 95560.
- Grams, F.; Mermann, G. PCT Patent Application WO9858915, (277)1998; Chem. Abstr. 1998, 130, 95559.
- (278) Ferry, G.; Boutin, J. A.; Hennig, P.; Genton, A.; Desmet, C.; Fauchere, J.-L.; Atassi, G.; Tucker, G. C. Eur. J. Pharm. 1998, 351, 225.
- (279) Ferry, G.; Boutin, J. A.; Atassi, G.; Fauchere, J.-L.; Tucker, G. C. Mol. Div. 1996, 2, 135.
- (280) Brooks, C. D. W.; Summers, J. B. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 2629. Carty, T. J.; LoPresti-Morrow, L. L.; Mitchell, P. G.; McNiff, P. (281)
- A.; McClure, K. F. Inflamm. Res. **1999**, 48, 229.
- (282) Bols, M.; Binderup, L.; Hansen, J.; Rasmussen, P. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 2768.
- (283) Suomalainen, K.; Sorsa, T.; Golub, L. M.; Ramamurthy, N.; Lee, H.-M.; Uitto, V.-J.; Saari, H.; Konttinen, Y. T. *Antimicrob. Agents* Chemother. 1992, 36, 227.
- (284) Greenwald, R. A.; Golub, L. M.; Ramamurthy, N. S.; Chowdhury, M.; Moak, S. A.; Sorsa, T. Bone 1998, 22, 33.
- (285) Makimura, M.; Hirasawa, M.; Kobayashi, K.; Indo, J.; Saka-
- maka, S.; Taguchi, T.; Otake, S. J. Peridontol. 1993, 64, 630.
 (286) Harris, G. H.; Hoogsteen, K.; Silverman, K. C.; Raghoobar, S. L.; Bills, G. F.; Lingham, R. B.; Smith, J. L.; Dougherty, H. W.; Cascales, C.; Pelaez, F. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 2139.
- Yeh, L.-A.; Chen, J.; Baculi, F.; Gingrich, D. E.; Shen, T. Y. (287) Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1995, 5, 1637. Lelievre, Y. Path. Biol. 1989, 37, 43.
- (288)
- Naito, K.; Kanbayashi, N.; Nakajima, S.; Murai, T.; Abakawa, (289)K.; Nishimura, S.; Okuyama, A. Int. J. Cancer 1994, 58, 730.
- (290) Suzuki, K.; Shimada, K.; Nozoe, S.; Tanzawa, K.; Ogita, T. J. Antibiot. 1996, 49, 1284. (291)
- Sun, H. H.; Kaplita, D. R.; Houck, D. R.; Stawicki, M. B.; McGarry, R.; Wahl, R. C.; Gillum, A. M.; Cooper, R. Phytother. Res. 1996, 10, 194.
- (292) Parellada, J.; Guinea, M. Phytother. Res. 1996, 10, S59.
- (293) Di Giulio, A.; Barracchini, A.; Cellai, L.; Martuccio, C.; Amicosante, G.; Oratore, A.; Pantaleoni, G. Int. J. Pharm. 1996, 144, 27.
- (294) Floyd, C. D.; Leblanc, C.; Whittaker, M. Prog. Med. Chem. 1999, 36, 91.
- (295) Dolle, R. E. Mol. Diversity 1996, 2, 223.
- (296) Kevin, N. J.; Esser, C. K.; Chapman, K. T.; Hagmann, W. K.; Yates, N. A.; Kostura, M. J.; Pacholok, S. G.; Si, Q. 213th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, San Fran-sisco, 1997, MEDI 113.
- (297) Nefzi, A.; Ostresh, J. M.; Houghten, R. A. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 449
- (298) Campbell, D. A.; Bermak, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6039
- (299) Campbell, D. A.; Bermak, J. C.; Burkoth, T. S.; Patel, D. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5381.
- Schullek, J. R.; Butler, J. H.; Ni, Z.-J.; Chen, D.; Yuan, Z. Anal. (300)Biochem. 1997, 246, 20.
- (301) Ni, Z.-J.; Maclean, D.; Holmes, C. P.; Murphy, M. M.; Ruhland, B.; Jacobs, J. W.; Gordon, E. M.; Gallop, M. A. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 160.

- (302) Floyd, C. D.; Harnett, L. A.; Miller, A.; Patel, S.; Saroglou, L.; Whittaker, M. Synlett **1998**, 637.
- (303) Patel, S.; Saroglou, L.; Floyd, C. D.; Miller, A.; Whittaker, M. Tetrahedron Lett. **1998**, *39*, 8333. Richter, L. S.; Desai, M. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 321.
- (304)
- (305) Bauer, U.; Ho, W.-B.; Koskinen, A. M. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7233.
- Gordeev, M. F.; Hui, H. C.; Gordon, E. M.; Patel, D. V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 1729. (306)
- (307) Mellor, S. L.; Chan, W. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 2005
- (308)
- Ngu, K.; Patel, D. V. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7088.
 Groneberg, R. G.; Neuenschwander, K. W.; Djuric, S. W.;
 McGeehan, G. M.; Burns, C. J.; London, S. M.; Morrissette, M.
 M.; Salvino, J. M.; Scotese, A. C.; Ullrich, J. W. PCT Patent
 Application WO9724117, 1997; Chem. Abstr. 1996, 125, 275431. (309)
- (310) Brennan, T.; Biddison, G.; Frauendorf, A.; Schwarcz, L.; Keen, B.; Ecker, D. J.; Davis, P. W.; Trinder, R.; Swayze, E. E. Biotechnol. Bioeng. Comb. Chem. **1998**, 61, 33. (311) Golebiowski, A.; Klopfenstein, S. Tetrahedron Lett. **1998**, 39,
- 3397
- (312) Salvino, J. M.; Mervic, M.; Mason, H. J.; Kiesow, T.; Teager, D.; Airey, J.; Labaudiniere, R. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64*, 1823
- Ede, N. J.; James, I. W.; Krywult, B. M.; Griffiths, R. M.; Eagle, (313)S. N.; Gubbins, B.; Leitch, J. A.; Sampson, W. R.; Bray, A. M.
- *Lett. Peptide Sci.* **1999**, *6*, 157. (314) Floyd, C. D.; Lewis, C.; Patel, S.; Whittaker, M. *ISLAR '96 Proc.* 1996, 51.
- (315) Floyd, C. D.; Lewis, C. N.; Patel, S.; Whittaker, M. Screening *Forum* **1996**, *4*, 3. (316) Smith, P. W.; Lai, J. Y. Q.; Whittington, A. R.; Cox, B.; Houston;
- J. G.; Stylli, C. H.; Banks, M. N.; Tiller, P. R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4, 2821.
- (317) Pestka, S. Pharmacol. Ther. 1991, 52, 235.
- (318) Liotta, L. A. Sci. Am. 1992, 34.
- (319) MacDougall, J. R.; Matrisian, L. M. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 1995, 14, 351.
- (320) Brown, P. D.; Giavazzi, R. Ann. Oncol. 1995, 6, 967.
- (321) Talbot, D. C.; Brown, P. D. Eur. J. Cancer 1996, 32A, 2528.
- (322) Stetler-Stevenson, W. G.; Hewitt, R.; Corcoran, M. Semin. Cancer Biol. 1996, 7, 147.
- (323) Wojtowicz-Praga, W.; Dickson, R. B.; Hawkins, M. J. Invest. New Drugs **1997**, *15*, 61. (324) Bramhall, S. R. Int. J. Pancreat. **1997**, *21*, 1
- (325) Vincenti, M. P; Clark, I. M.; Brinckerhoff, C. E. Arthritis Rheum. 1994, 37, 1115.
- (326) O'Connor, C. M.; FitzGerald, M. X. *Thorax* 1994, 49, 602.
 (327) Chandler, S.; Miller, K. M.; Clements, J. M.; Lury, J.; Corkill, D.; Anthony, D. C. C.; Adams, S. E.; Gearing, A. J. H. J. *Neuroimmun*. 1997, 72, 155.
- (328) Yong, V. W.; Krekoski, C. A.; Forsyth, P. A.; Bell, R.; Edwards, D. R. *Trends Neurosci.* **1998**, *21*, 75.
 (329) Reich, R.; Thompson, E. W.; Iwamoto, Y.; Martin, G. R.; Deason, J. R.; Fuller, G. C.; Miskin R. *Cancer Res.* **1988**, *48*, 3307.
 (202) Earlier, S. A.; Pay, C. M.; Court, W. L.; Bone, F. A.; Thomas, W.;
- 3. R.; Fuller, G. C.; MISHI R. Caller Res. 1966, 48, 507.
 (330) Eccles, S. A.; Box, G. M.; Court, W. J.; Bone, E. A.; Thomas, W.; Brown, P. D. Cancer Res. 1996, 56, 2815.
 (331) Wang, X.; Fu, X.; Brown, P. D.; Crimmin, M. J.; Hoffman, R. M. Cancer Res. 1994, 54, 4726.
 (332) Sledge, G. W.; Qulali, M.; Goulet, R.; Bone, E. A.; Fife, R. J. Natl. Cancer Res. 1995, 87, 1546.
 (232) Zawag, E. E.; Normon, J. C.; Cowag, W. B.; Erang, M. C.;

- Zervos, E. E.; Norman, J. G.; Gower, W. R.; Franz, M. G.; (333)Rosemurgy, A. S. *J. Surg. Res.* **1997**, *69*, 367. Bu, W.; Tang, Z. Y.; Sun, F. X.; Ye, S. L.; Liu, K. D.; Xue, Q.;
- (334)Chen, J.; Gao, D. M. Hepato-Gastroenterology 1998, 45, 1056.
- Price, A.; Shi, Q.; Morris, D.; Wilcox, M. E.; Brasher, P. M. A.; Rewcastle, N. B.; Shalinsky, D.; Zou, H.; Appelt, K.; Johnston, R. N.; Yong, V. W.; Edwards, D.; Forsyth, P. *Clin. Cancer Res.* (335) 1999, 5, 845
- (336) Shalinsky, D. R.; Brekken, J.; Robinson, S. R.; Varki, N. R.; Daniels, R.; Bender, S. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 1997, 39, 2059.
- (337)Johnston, M. R.; Mullen, J. B. M.; Pagura, M.; Appelt, K.; Shalinksy, D. R. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 1997, 39, 2061
- Bull, C.; Flynn, C.; Eberwein, D.; Casazza, A. M.; Carter, C. A.; (338)Hibner, B. *Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **1997**, *39*, 2062. Taraboletti, G.; Garofalo, A.; Belotti, D.; Drudis, T.; Borsotti, P.;
- (339)Scanziani, E.; Brown, P.; Giavazzi, R. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1995, 87. 293.
- (340) Hibner, B.; Card, A.; Flynn, C.; Casazza, A. M.; Taraboletti, G.; Rieppi, M.; Giavazzi, R. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 1998, 39, 2063
- (341) Neri, A.; Goggin, B.; Kolis, S.; Brekken, J.; Khelemskaya, N.; Gabriel, L. *Proc. Am.* Assoc. *Cancer Res.* **1997**, *39*, 2060. Giavazzi, R.; Garofalo, A.; Lucchini, V.; Bone, E. A.; Chiari, S.;
- (342)Brown, P. D.; Nicoletti, M. I.; Taraboletti, G. Clin. Cancer Res. 1998, 4, 985.
- Igarashi, N.; Kubota, T.; Otani, Y.; Matsuzaki, S. W.; Watanabe, (343)M.; Teramoto, T.; Kumai, K.; Tamaki, K.; Tanzawa, K.; Koba-yashi, T.; Kitajima, M. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* **1999**, *90*, 116.

- (344) Riethmuller, G.; Holz, E.; Schlimok, G.; Schmiegel, W.; Raab, R.; Hoffken, K. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **1998**, *16*, 1788. (345) Heppner Goss, K. J.; Brown, P. D.; Matrisian, L. M. Int. J.
- Cancer 1998, 78, 629.
- (346) Opdenakker, G.; Van Damme, J. *Cytokine* 1992, 4, 251.
 (347) Di Martino, M. J.; High, W.; Galloway, W. A. Crimmin, M. J. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1994, 732, 411.
- (348) Conway, J. G.; Wakefield, J. A.; Brown, R. H.; Marron, B. E.; Sekut, L.; Stimpson, S. A.; McElroy, A.; Menius, J. A.; Jeffreys, J. J.; Clark, R. L.; McGeehan, G. M.; Connolly, K. M. *J. Exp. Med.* **1995**, *182*, 449.
- (349) Goldberg, R. L.; Parker, D.; MacPherson, L.; Ganu, V.; Melton, R.; Hu, S.-I.; Blancuzzi, V.; Wilson, D.; Doughty, J.; Spirito, S.; O'Byrne, E. *Inflamm. Res.* 1995, *2*, S115.
- (350) Doughty, J. R.; O'Byrne, E.; Spirito, S.; Blancuzzi, V.; Singh, H. N.; Goldberg, R. L. *Inflamm. Res.* **1997**, *2*, S139. (351) Brewster, M.; Lewis, E. J.; Wilson, K. L.; Greenham, A. K.;
- Bottomley, K. M. K. Arthritis Rheum. 1998, 41, 1639.
- (352)Zempo, N.; Koyama, N.; Kenagy, R. D.; Lea, H. J.; Clowes, A. W. Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vas. Biol. 1996, 16, 28.
- (353) Bendeck, M. P.; Irvin, C.; Reidy, M. A. Circ. Res. 1996, 78, 38. (354) Strauss, B. H.; Robinson, R.; Batchelor, W. B.; Chisholm, R. J.;
- Ravi, G.; Natarajan, M. K.; Logan, R. A.; Mehta, S. R.; Levy, D. E.; Ezrin, A. M.; Keeley, F. W. *Circ. Res.* **1996**, *79*, 541. (355) Bigatel, D. A. J. Vasc. Surg. 1999, 29, 130.
- (356) Steinmann-Niggli, K.; Ziswiler, R.; Kung, M.; Marti, H. P. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. **1998**, 9, 397.
- (357) Gijbels, K.; Galardy, R. E.; Steinman, L. J. Clin. Invest. 1994, *94*, 2177.
- (358) Hewson, A. K.; Smith, T.; Leonard, J. P.; Cuzner, M. L. Inflamm. *Res.* **1995**, *44*, 345. (359) Liedtke, W.; Cannella, B.; Mazzaccaro, R. J.; Clements, J. M.;
- Miller, K. M.; Wucherpfenning, K. W.; Gearing, A. J. H.; Raine, C. S. Ann. Neurol. 1998, 44, 35.
- (360) Matyszak, M. K.; Perry, V. H. J. Neuroimmun. 1996, 69, 141.
 (361) Redford, E. J.; Smith, K. J.; Gregson, N. A.; Davies, M.; Hughes, P.; Gearing, A. J. H.; Miller, K.; Hughes, R. A. C. Brain 1997, 120, 1895.
- (362) Rosenberg, G. A.; Estrada, E. Y.; Dencoff, J. E. Stroke 1998, 29, 2189
- (363) Rosenberg, G. A.; Navratil, M. Neurology 1997, 48, 921.
- Paul, R.; Lorenzl, S.; Kodel, U.; Sporer, B.; Vogel, U.; Forsch, (364)M.; Pfister, H. E. Ann. Neurol. 1988, 44, 592.
- (365) Wallace, G.; Stansford, M. R.; Whiston, R. A.; Clements, J. (363) Wallace, G., Otalatzi A., January J., January J
- N.; Ebata, T.; Wada, Y.; Ikeda, S.; Yoshino, K.; Tateno, M.; Oshimi, K.; Kayagaki, N.; Yagita, H.; Okumura, K. *Blood* **1997**, 90. 542.
- (367) Morimoto, Y.: Nishikawa, K.: Ohashi, M. Life Sci. 1997. 61. 795
- Galardy, R. E.; Cassabone, M. E.; Giese, C. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. (368)**1994**, *732*, 315.
- (369) Beattie, G. J.; Smyth, J. F. Clin. Cancer Res. 1998, 4, 1899.

- (370) Macaulay, V. M.; O'Byrne, K. J.; Saunders, M. P.; Long, L.; Gleeson, F.; Mason, C. S.; Harris, A. L.; Brown, P.; Talbot, D. C. *Br. J. Cancer* **1999**, *79*, in press.
- (371) Lauhio, A.; Leirisalo-Repo, M.; Lahdevirta, J.; Saikku, P.; Repo, H. Arthritis Rheum. 1991, 24, 6.
- (372) Greenwald, R. A.; Moak, S. A.; Golub, L. M. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1994, 732, 419.
- (373) Pourtaghi, N.; Radvar, M.; Mooney, J.; Kinane, D. F. J. Periodont. 1996, 67, 866.
- (374) Caton, J.; Ciancio, S.; Crout, R.; Hefti, A.; Polson, A. J. Dent. Res. 1998, 77, 2957.
- (375) Wood, N. D.; Aitken, M.; Harris, S.; Kitchener, S.; McClelland, G. R.; Sharp, S. Br. J. Clin. Pharm. 1996, 42, 676.
- (376) Collier, M. A.; Yuen, G. J.; Bansal, S. K.; Kolis, S.; Chew, T. G.; Appelt, K.; Clendeninn, N. J. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer. Res. 1997, 38, 13.
- Millar, A. W.; Brown, P. D.; Moore, J.; Galloway, W. A.; Cornish, (377)A. G.; Lenehan, T. J.; Lynch, K. P. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 1998, 45. 21.
- (378) Shah, A.; Sundaresan, P.; Humphrey, R.; Heller, A. H. Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 1998, 39, 521.
- (379) Rowinsky, E.; Hammond, L.; Aylesworth, C.; Humphrey, R.; Siu, L.; Smith, L. Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 1998, 17, 216a.
- Goel, R.; Hirte, H.; Shah, A.; Major, P.; Waterfield, B.; Holohan, (380)S. Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 1998, 17, 217a.
- (381) Nemunaitis, J.; Poole, C.; Primrose, J.; Rosemurgy, A.; Malfetano, J.; Brown, P.; Berrington, A.; Cornish, A.; Rasmussen, H.; Kerr, D.; Cox, D.; Millar, A. Clin. Cancer Res. 1998, 4, 1101.
- (382) Primrose, J. N.; Bleiberg, H.; Daniel, F.; Van Belle, S.; Mansi, J. L.; Seymour, M.; Johnson, P. W.; Neoptolemos, J. P.; Baillet, M.; Barker, K.; Berrington, A.; Brown, P. D.; Millar, A. W.; Lynch, K. P. Br. J. Cancer **1999**, *79*, 509.
- (383) Rosemurgy, A.; Harris, J.; Langleben, A.; Casper, E.; Goode, S.; Rasmussen, H. S. Am. J. Clin. Oncol. Cancer Clinical Trials **1999**, *22*, 247.
- (384)Wojtowicz-Praga, S.; Torri, J.; Johnson, M.; Steen, V.; Marshall, J.; Ness, E.; Dickson, R.; Sale, M.; Rasmussen, H. S.; Chiodo, T. A.; Hawkins, M. J. J. Clin. Oncol. 1998, 16, 2150.
- (385) Drummond, A. H.; Beckett, P.; Brown, P. D.; Bone, E. A.; Davidson, A. H.; Galloway, W. A.; Gearing, A. J. H.; Huxley, P.; Laber, D.; McCourt, M.; Whittaker, M.; Wood, L. M.; Wright, A. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1999, 878, in press.
- (386) Tierney, G. M.; Steele, R. J. C.; Griffin, N. R.; Stuart, R. C.; Kasem, H.; Lynch, K. P.; Lury, J. T.; Brown, P. D.; Millar, A. W.; Parsons, S. *Eur. J. Cancer* **1999**, *35*, 563.
- (387) Adams, M.; Thomas, H. Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 1998, 17, 217a
- (388)Carmichael, J.; Ledermann, J.; Woll, P. J.; Gulliford, T.; Russell, R. C. Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 1998, 17, 232a.
- Erlichman, C.; Adjei, A.; Alberts, S.; Sloan, J.; Goldberg, R.; Pitot, (389)H.; Rubin, J. Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 1998, 17, 217a.

CR9804543